South Cambridgeshire Hall
Cambourne Business Park
Cambourne
Cambridge
CB23 6EA
t: 03450 450 500
f: 01954 713149
www.scambs.gov.uk

12 March 2021
To:

Quorum:

The Leader – Councillor Bridget Smith
Deputy Leader (Statutory) – Councillor Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer
Members of the Cabinet – Councillors Bridget Smith,
Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer, Neil Gough, Bill Handley, Dr. Tumi Hawkins,
Peter McDonald, Brian Milnes, Hazel Smith and John Williams
Majority of the Cabinet including the Leader or Deputy Leader (Statutory)

Dear Councillor
You are invited to attend the next meeting of Cabinet, which will be held as a Virtual
meeting - Online on Monday, 22 March 2021 at 10.00 a.m.
Yours faithfully
Liz Watts
Chief Executive
The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community,
access to its agendas and minutes. We try to take all circumstances into
account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and we will do
what we can to help you.

Agenda
Pages
1.

Announcements

2.

Apologies for Absence
To receive Apologies for Absence from Cabinet members.

3.

Declarations of Interest

4.

Minutes of Previous Meeting

1-8

To authorise the Leader to sign the Minutes of the meeting held on
Wednesday, 3 February 2021 as a correct record.
5.

Public Questions
The deadline for receipt of public questions is noon on Monday, 15
March.
The Council’s scheme for public speaking at remote meetings may
be inspected here:
Public Questions at Remote Meetings

6.

Issues Arising from the Scrutiny and Overview Committee

9 - 10

Democratic Services Contact Officer: Jonathan Malton 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk

7.

Scrutiny and Overview Committee Anti-Racism Task and
Finish Group Recommendations

11 - 18

8.

Scrutiny and Overview Committee Covid-19 Response Task
and Finish Group

19 - 30

9.

Actions Taken under the Chief Executive's Delegated
Powers

31 - 32

10.

Quarter 3 Performance

33 - 58

11.

Review of the Business Plan

59 - 80

12.

Waterbeach New Town Naming

81 - 102

13.

2020/2021 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring

103 - 126

14.

Home-Link Allocations Policy

127 - 174

15.

Exclusion of Press and Public

While the report at Item 16 (Ermine Street Housing Business
Plan) is public, members of the press and public might be
excluded from the meeting during consideration of matters
referred to in the Appendix to the reports. Members of the
press and public are likely to be excluded from the meeting
during consideration of item 17 and item 18. In each case,
exclusion will be in accordance with the provisions of Section
100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (exempt
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A (as
amended) of the Act). Paragraph 3 relates to information
about the financial or business affairs of any person,
including the Authority holding that information.

16.

Ermine Street Housing Business Plan

175 - 250

17.

Provision of 12 Affordable Homes at Boxworth End,
Swavesey (Key)

251 - 266

As it was impracticable to comply with the 28 day notice requirements
for this agenda item to be considered in private, as set out in Rule 13
(Procedure Prior to Private Meetings of the Cabinet) of the Council’s
Constitution, agreement has been obtained from the Chair of the
Scrutiny and Overview Committee that consideration of this item is
urgent and cannot be reasonably deferred, for the reason that
departure from the timescale agreed with the developer would
potentially jeopardise the agreement. This is in accordance with
provision 16.2 of Part 4 (Rules of Procedure: Access to Information)
of the Council’s Constitution.
18.

Potential Property Investment Decision (Key)
Report to Follow

Guidance Notes for Membership of the Public for Remote Meetings
Members of the public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting, except during the
consideration of exempt or confidential items, by following the link to be published on the Council’s
website. Any person who participates in the meeting in accordance with the Council’s procedure rules, is
deemed to have consented to being recorded and to the use of those images (where participating via
video conference) and/or sound recordings for webcast purposes. When speaking, members of the public
should not disclose any personal information of any individual as this might infringe on the rights of that
individual and breach the Data Protection Act.
If you would like to turn on live captions and subtitles, please select the Captions/Subtitles On button [CC],
in your video controls. This can be found in the bottom right hand corner of the video.
For more information about this meeting please contact democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 4
South Cambridgeshire District Council
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on
Wednesday, 3 February 2021 at 10.00 a.m.
Present:

Councillor Bridget Smith (Leader of Council)
Councillor Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer (Deputy Leader of Council (Statutory) Strategic Planning and Transport)

Councillors:

Neil Gough
Bill Handley
Dr. Tumi Hawkins
Peter McDonald
Brian Milnes
Hazel Smith

Deputy Leader (non-statutory) - Transformation
and Projects
Lead Cabinet Member for Community Resilience
Lead Cabinet member for Planning Policy and
Delivery
Lead Cabinet Member for Business Recovery
Lead Cabinet Member for Environmental
Services and Licensing
Lead Cabinet member for Housing

Officers in attendance for all or part of the meeting:
Farzana Ahmed
Chief Accountant
Peter Campbell
Head of Housing
Dobson
Democratic Services Manager
Julie Fletcher
Head of Housing Strategy
Peter Maddock
Head of Finance
Jonathan Malton
Cabinet Support Officer
Liam Martin
AV Support Officer
Rory McKenna
Deputy Head of Legal Practice/Monitoring Officer
Trevor Nicoll
Head of Environment and Waste
Liz Watts
Chief Executive
Councillors Anna Bradnam, Nigel Cathcart, Grenville Chamberlain, Dr. Claire Daunton,
Dr. Douglas de Lacey, Sue Ellington, Geoff Harvey, Bunty Waters, Heather Williams and
Dr. Richard Williams were in attendance, by invitation.

1.

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for Absence were received from Councillor John Williams, Lead
Cabinet Member for Finance, and Councillor Judith Rippeth, Vice Chair of the
Scrutiny and Overview Committee.

2.

Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3.

Announcements
Councillor Bridget Smith, Leader of the Council, announced the flag outside
South Cambridgeshire Hall would be flown at half-mast to honour the passing of

Page 1

Cabinet

Wednesday, 3 February 2021

Captain Sir Tom Moore.
4.

Minutes of Previous Meeting
Cabinet authorised the Leader to sign, as a correct record, the public version of
the Minutes of the meeting held on Monday, 18 January 2021.

5.

Public Questions
There were no public questions received ahead of the meeting.

6.

Issues arising from the Scrutiny and Overview Committee
Cabinet received and noted a report from Councillor Grenville Chamberlain,
Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee, and Councillor Judith Rippeth,
Vice-Chair of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee, informing it about the
discussions at, and recommendations from the Committee’s meeting held on 19
January 2021.
The report related to:





7.

General Fund Budget 2021/2022
Housing Revenue Account Budget 2021/2022
Treasuring Management Strategy
Capital Strategy

Actions Taken under the Chief Executive's Delegated Powers
Cabinet received and noted a report relating to the actions taken under the
Chief Executive’s Delegated Powers:


8.

National Lockdown Business Support Policy Addendum, decision taken
on Wednesday, 20th January 2021.

Doubling Nature Strategy
The Leader of the Council introduced the Doubling Nature Strategy, which set
out in high-level terms the Council’s approach to doubling nature in South
Cambridgeshire; a vision initially agreed by the Council in July 2019. The Leader
outlined how the Council would use its widening spheres of influence, on its own
estate, through policies and through wider influence in partnerships and
communities to achieve more wildlife-rich habitats, increased tree canopy cover
and better accessibility to green spaces.
Councillor Dr. Tumi Hawkins, Lead Cabinet Member for Planning and Policy, was
pleased to support the strategy, noting how it complemented the work of the
Greater Cambridge Planning Service in mapping out opportunities for increasing
and enhancing nature, including through the call for green sites as part of the
Local Plan process. Councillor Dr. Aidan Van de Weyer, the Deputy Leader of
the Council supported the strategy, welcoming the coordination of the various

Page 2

Cabinet

Wednesday, 3 February 2021

ways in which the Council could improve nature across the district. Councillor
Brian Milnes, Lead Cabinet Member for Environment and Licencing, thanked
Officers for their work, and noted how the Three Free Trees scheme had helped
encourage tree-planting across the district.
Councillor Hazel Smith, Lead Cabinet member for Housing, noted the Tenant
Participation Group was being replaced with the Housing Engagement Board
and requested that the strategy be updated to reflect this change. The Leader of
the Council agreed the strategy would be amended.
Councillor Heather Williams supported the wider project. The Chair of the
Council welcomed the strategy. He made suggestions regarding the amount of
colour, and the images used within the report. The Leader of the Council
clarified there was no intention to print copies of the strategy. Councillor Dr.
Claire Daunton hoped there would be a wide readership, especially among
Parish Councils. The Leader confirmed the report would be widely distributed
after publication.
After a further short discussion, the Leader closed the debate and thanked
Officers for their work, and Cabinet:
Adopted the draft Doubling Nature Strategy at Appendix A, subject to minor
amendments by the Lead Officer in consultation with the Leader of the Council.
9.

Greater Cambridge Housing Strategy Annexes
Councillor Hazel Smith, Lead Cabinet Member for Housing, introduced the
Greater Cambridge Housing Strategy Annexes, informing the Members this
report could ensure the Council could provide policy direction in terms of
applications coming forward for Build to Rent schemes and the clustering and
distribution of affordable housing. She requested an amendment to the
decisions, to delegate authority to the Lead Cabinet Member for Housing for
minor amendments.
Councillor Claire Daunton and Councillor Heather Williams asked if this proposal
would affect the clustering of properties. The Head of Housing responded that
this would avoid the concentration of certain tenures but would provide further
clarity within the policy to make it clearer that clusters would be dispersed
appropriately across the whole development. The Chair of the Council requested
amendments to the graph below paragraph 18 of the report, along with a missing
sentence at the end of paragraph 24 in appendix A. The Head of Housing
confirmed the graph would be updated and ensured the missing sentence would
be amended as required.
After a further short debate, Cabinet:
a) Approved the draft policies relating to Build to Rent, Clustering and
Distribution of Affordable Housing and Affordable Rents as an annexe to
the Greater Cambridge Housing Strategy.
b) Following approval, to delegate authority to the Lead Member for Housing

Page 3

Cabinet

Wednesday, 3 February 2021

to approve the final policies subject to minor amendments, if any, arising
from public consultation
10.

General Fund Budget 2021/2022
Cabinet considered the General Fund Revenue Budget for 2021-2022. The
Leader of the Council introduced the report, noting the amendment from the
previous Scrutiny and Overview meeting, budgeting a two-year post for a
Welfare and Visiting Advisor to support and enhance the work of the Housing
Benefits team and ensuring the Council Tax bill for residents would continue to
be in the lowest 25 per cent of all district council taxes.
After further discussion, the Cabinet:
Recommended that Council:
a) Take into account the detailed budgets presented at Appendix B

b)

c)

d)

e)
f)

g)

h)

i)

(white pages), and summarised at Appendix A (blue page), with an
estimated General Fund Gross Operating Expenditure for
2021/2022 of £71.633 million, estimated Gross Operating Income
of £49.145 million and estimated General Fund Net Operating
Expenditure of £22.488 million;
Acknowledge the key factors which have led to the proposed
General Fund Revenue Budget, with service pressures
summarised at Appendix C and offsetting efficiency savings/policy
options summarised at Appendix D;
Acknowledge that the 2021/2022 General Fund Revenue Budget
gross expenditure is covered by forecast income sources
(assuming no change in Government grant) and, therefore, any
addition(s) to expenditure that are made by the Cabinet or Council
will need to be met from the General Fund Balance;
Approve the 2021/2022 General Fund Revenue Budget taking into
account the statement by the Chief Finance Officer on the risks
and robustness of the estimates as required under Section 25 of
the Local Government Act 2003 (reproduced at Appendix F);
Set the Council Tax Requirement for 2021/2022 at £9,994,789;
Approve an increase in the District element of the Council Tax of £5
per annum, giving an average Band D Council Tax of £155.31,
plus the relevant amounts required by the precepts of the Parish
Councils, Cambridgeshire County Council, Cambridgeshire Police
& Crime Commissioner and the Cambridgeshire Fire Authority;
Authorise the Head of Finance, on the basis of the proposals set
out in the report, to prepare the formal Council Tax Resolution for
presentation to Council at its scheduled meeting on 23 February
2021;
Approve the estimates of the amounts required to be made under
the Non-domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 2013 as
set out in paragraphs 34 to 37;
Approve the acceptance of any grants made during 2021/2022 by
the Government under Section 31 of the Local Government Act

Page 4

Cabinet

Wednesday, 3 February 2021

2003 in respect of Business Rates;
j) Approve the use of the additional income from the Business Rate

Pool, estimated at £1,100,000 in 2021/2022, for transfer to the
established Renewables Reserve for priority projects;
k) Subject to any changes to the recommendations above,
recommend to Full Council:
(i) The 2021/2022 General Fund Revenue Budget based on

known commitments at this time and planned levels of
Service/functions resulting in a Budget Requirement of
£21.719 million;
(ii) The District Council Precept on the Collection Fund (Council
Tax Requirement) of £9.995 million in 2021/2022 (based on
the Provisional Government Settlement) and a Band D
Council Tax of £155.31.
11.

Housing Revenue Account Budget 2021/2022
Cabinet considered the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget for 2021-2022.
The Leader of the Council introduced the report, and noted the budget was
initially set in the context of the 30-year business plan, with a continued drive to
improve the customer service to the Council’s tenants and grow its social
housing stock.
Councillor Hazel Smith, the Lead Cabinet Member for Housing, noted the service
charges in Appendix D were not discussed at the Scrutiny and Overview
Committee meeting on 19 January 2021. She thanked the officers of the Housing
Team for their work in drafting the budget.
After a short debate, Cabinet recommended to Council to:
a) Approve the HRA revenue budget for 2021/2022 as shown in the HRA
Budget Summary as presented at Appendix A;
b) Approve that council dwelling rents for all social rented properties be
increased by the Consumer Prices Index plus 1% (1.5%), in line with
legislative requirements introduced as part of the Welfare Reform and
Work Act, with effect from 1st April 2021;
c) Approve that affordable rents are reviewed in line with rent legislation, to
ensure that rents charged are no more than 80% of market rent for
2021/2022. Local policy is to cap affordable rents at the lower level of
Local Housing Allowance, which will result in rent variations in line with
any changes notified to the authority in this level, effective from 1st April
2021;
d) Approve inflationary increases of 0.6% in garage rents for 2021/2022.
e) Approve the proposed service charges for HRA services and facilities
provided to both tenants and leaseholders, as shown in Appendix D.
f) Approve the required level of funding for new build investment between
2021/2022 and 2025/2026 to ensure that commitments can be met in
respect of the investment of all right to buy receipts currently retained or
anticipated to be received by the authority for this period. This expenditure

Page 5

Cabinet

Wednesday, 3 February 2021

will take the form of HRA new build, with the 70% top up met by other
HRA resources;
g) Approve the HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy forecasts as shown in
Appendix B;
h) Approve the Housing Capital Programme as shown in Appendix C.
12.

Capital Investment Programme
Cabinet considered the Capital Investment Programme for financial years 20212022 to 2025-2026. The Leader of the Council introduced the report, observing
the revision of the programme due to the impact of the Covid 19 pandemic and
the changes to the rules of the Public Works Loan Board.
After further discussion, Cabinet:
Recommended to Council the revised Capital Programme outlined at Appendix
A.

13.

Treasury Management Strategy
Cabinet considered the annual review of the Treasury Management Strategy.
The Leader of the Council introduced the report and recommended the refreshed
Strategy for adoption by the Council, considering the changes around the
borrowing rules for the Public Works Loan Board which came into effect from 26
November 2020.
Councillor Brian Milnes, Lead Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and
Licensing commented the Council was adding environmental, social and
governance considerations to all future investments.
After further discussion, Cabinet:
Recommended to Council the updated Treasury Management Strategy attached
at Appendix A to the report which sets the policy framework for the Council’s
treasury management activity, including the Treasury Management Policy
Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and Treasury Indicators.

14.

Capital Strategy
Cabinet considered the Capital Strategy. The Leader of the Council introduced
the report, reflecting the update to the guidelines of the Public Works Loan
Board. Councillor Hazel Smith, Lead Cabinet Member for Housing,
recommended a minor amendment to the strategy, stating there was no longer
any reduction in energy conservation in existing Council properties.
After further discussion, Cabinet:
Recommended to Full Council the updated Capital Strategy attached at
Appendix A to the report which sets the policy framework for the development,
management and monitoring of capital investment, and Prudential Indicators,

Page 6

Cabinet

Wednesday, 3 February 2021

subject to minor amendments by the Head of Finance in consultation with the
Lead Cabinet Member for Finance.
15.

Local Council Tax Support
Cabinet considered the Localised Council Tax Support (LCTS). The Leader of
the Council introduced the report, proposing the current scheme for 2020-2021 to
be continued for 2021-2022. Cabinet noted that this was an annual review of the
scheme to keep it in line with the Consumer Price Index.
After further discussion, Cabinet:
Recommended to Council, at its meeting on 23 February 2021 the adoption of
Option 1, comprising the LCTS Income Bands scheme currently in operation,
with an uprating of calculation figures in line with the Consumer Price Index.

The Meeting ended at
11.28 a.m.

Page 7

This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 8

Agenda Item 6

REPORT TO:

Cabinet

22 March 2021

LEAD MEMBER:

Councillor Grenville Chamberlain, Chair, Scrutiny and
Overview Committee
Councillor Judith Rippeth, Vice Chair, Scrutiny and
Overview Committee

Update from Scrutiny and Overview Committee

Purpose
1. This report is to inform Cabinet of the discussions and recommendations agreed
by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee at its meeting of 25th February 2021,
which Cabinet may wish to consider in its decision making.

ICT Update
2. The committee considered an update from the Interim Head of ICT and Digital on
the resilience of the ICT data centre services and service interruptions
experienced during Quarter 3 2020/21.
3. Committee members expressed concern about the system’s resilience and that
there were no penalties for the service if agreed downtime was exceeded.
Committee members also raised concern about the downtime of the Planning
Portal, about which some members had received complaints from parish councils
being unable to access the system to view documentation in relation to planning
applications.
4. The committee requested a further ICT update in 3-4 months’ time.
5. The committee recommended that a service level agreement be put in place,
which specifies the maximum service downtime.

Housing Repairs Contract Progress
6. The committee considered an update on progress to date on the contract for
repairs to council housing, which is due for renewal during 2022.

Page 9

7. The committee discussed whether an in-house repairs service should be
considered, with some members suggesting it should. Members also suggested
that a hybrid model should be considered, to provide scope for the council to carry
out some minor repairs itself. Some committee members thought this would offer
a better service to tenants as it would ensure service was maintained and the
relationship between council officers and tenants was not undermined by not
having control of when repairs were undertaken by external contractors.
8. The committee indicated its support for the retendering of the repairs service and
agreed the following suggestions:
 Sustainability should be an integral part of the contract.
 The concerns of tenants should be noted. The committee noted existing
communication channels with tenants would continue and improve.
 Any potential improvement possibility should be integrated into the
contract.
 The contract should include a handyman service for minor repairs.

2020-25 Business Plan
9. The committee considered the 2020-25 Business Plan which members found to
be very clear.

Scrutiny and Overview Committee Covid-19 Response Task and
Finish Group
10. The committee considered a report summarising the work of the Scrutiny Covid19 Response Task and Finish group. The committee approved two
recommendations from the task and finish group and recommends these are
approved by Cabinet.

Scrutiny and Overview Committee Anti-Racism Task and Finish
Group
11. The committee considered a report summarising the work of the Scrutiny AntiRacism Task and Finish Group. The committee approved nine recommendations
from the task and finish group and recommends these are approved by Cabinet.

Report Author:
Victoria Wallace – Scrutiny and Governance Adviser

Page 10

Agenda Item 7

Report to:

Cabinet

Lead Member:

Councillor Sarah Cheung Johnson, Anti-Racism Task
and Finish Group Chair

Lead Officer:

Head of HR and Corporate Services

22 March 2021

Scrutiny and Overview Committee Anti-Racism Task
and Finish Group Recommendations

Executive Summary
1. The purpose of this report is to summarise the work undertaken by the Scrutiny
and Overview Committee’s Anti-Racism Task and Finish Group and to present
the group’s recommendations to Cabinet. These recommendations were agreed
by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee at its meeting on 25th February 2021.

Key Decision
2. No

Recommendations
3. It is recommended that Cabinet approves the following recommendations:


Recommendation 1 - Key performance indictors relating to how the council
responds to BAME employees at South Cambridgeshire District Council
should be reported to the Employment and Staffing Committee on an ongoing
basis.



Recommendation 2 - The Leader of the Council should assign the
responsibility for equalities to an existing Lead Cabinet Member.



Recommendation 3 - The Lead Cabinet Member with responsibility for
equalities should investigate the establishment of an equalities advisory
panel/group.
It is suggested that this panel/group could follow the model of the Council’s
Brexit Advisory Group rather than requiring a formal committee to be set up.
The Lead Cabinet Member should establish the most appropriate reporting
route for the equality in employment report and whether this should be

Page 11

reported to the equalities advisory panel/group or the Employment and
Staffing Committee.


Recommendation 4 - The new equality advisory panel/group should track the
outcomes of the equalities staff forum.



Recommendation 5 - The suitable Lead Cabinet Member should liaise with
relevant officers on street naming in South Cambridgeshire.



Recommendation 6 – The Council should produce an equalities toolkit for
businesses, to help broaden their understanding of race inequality in the
workplace and enable them to undertake Race Equality Impact Assessment
on their employment practices.
This is in line with work that has already been undertaken by Cambridge City
Council. It is suggested that this toolkit should be developed by the Business
Support Team. The group acknowledges that there may not currently be
capacity for the team to undertake this work due to demands supporting
businesses during the Covid-19 pandemic, so this work should be undertaken
when capacity allows.



Recommendation 7 – Provision of training on Gypsy, Roma and Traveller
cultural awareness for all councillors and officers.
As well as requiring all councillors to attend a briefing on equality and
diversity, Cambridge City Council provided training on Gypsy, Roma and
Traveller cultural awareness which was found to be beneficial. The task and
finish group suggests the same training is provided for South Cambridgeshire
district councillors and officers and that all should be required to attend.



Recommendation 8 – The Council should seek to collaborate with
Cambridge City Council in its engagement with BAME community groups.
Cambridge City Council has taken steps to enhance dialogue with BAME
community groups, the Council and other public sector organisations. As there
is overlap between City and South Cambridgeshire community groups, it is
suggested that this Council seeks to collaborate with and support the work
already being done by Cambridge City Council to avoid duplication.



Recommendation 9 – The Council should build links with local BAME
community groups.
The Council should seek to understand the concerns of BAME community
groups and ensure that there is a way for them to engage with the Council on
issues of importance and concern to them. This relationship should be
monitored and maintained through the new equality advisory panel/group.

Page 12

Reasons for Recommendations
4. The recommendations have been developed by the Anti-Racism Task and Finish
Group following an analysis of the information gathered from the research and
evidence gathering the group has undertaken.

Details
5. Following the motion passed by Council in July 2020, the Scrutiny and Overview
Committee agreed at its 16th July 2020 meeting to set up an anti-racism task and
finish group to:
a) Review and examine the SCDC structure to ensure ethnic minorities
are not disadvantaged.
b) Consider BAME access to housing and homelessness welfare support.
c) Provide input into the Council’s equality policy.
d) Conduct an audit of street names and public monuments for which the
Council is responsible and which name individuals or organisations, to
review any with racism links.
6. Members of the task and finish group are:
 Cllr Sarah Cheung Johnson (Chair)
 Cllr Claire Daunton
 Cllr Geoff Harvey
 Cllr Richard Williams
7. The group was supported by the Head of HR and Corporate Services and the
Scrutiny and Governance Adviser.
8. Having agreed its terms of reference, the group undertook the following work:


The group met with relevant South Cambridgeshire District Council officers
to discuss and provide input to the development of the Council’s new
Equality and Diversity Policy.



The group met with the Head of HR and Corporate Services and a HR
Business Partner to discuss the Council’s recruitment processes, the
recruitment of BAME staff and unconscious bias training for staff. Further
training to complement the mandatory unconscious bias staff training, is
being investigated by HR. At the request of the task and finish group, the
Head of HR and Corporate Services reviewed the Council’s online jobs
portal to make it more explicit that job applications were welcomed from
people of all backgrounds.



The group met with the Head of Housing to discuss BAME access to
housing and homelessness welfare support. The task and finish group did
not feel this action could be carried forward meaningfully due to the lack of

Page 13

data available as the Council is dependent on tenants self-identifying and
only a small number do so. This could be monitored going forwards for
future potential solutions.


The group met with Cambridge City Council’s Equality and Anti-Poverty
Officer to discuss the work that has been undertaken at Cambridge City
Council since its Black Lives Matter motion passed in July 2020. The group
was impressed by the extensive work that has been carried out by the City
Council which has an equalities panel and a BAME staff group. The task
and finish group notes that South Cambridgeshire District Council now has
a staff equalities group and discussed with the Head of HR the possibility
of setting up a BAME staff group, however acknowledges that SCDC does
not have the staff numbers to sustain such a group.



The task and finish group worked with the County Archives and Local
Studies Group on an audit of street names in South Cambridgeshire. Work
on this will continue with information being gathered from local history
societies by the Local Studies Group. At the time of writing this report, no
issues regarding street names in South Cambridgeshire had been
identified. When all the information has been collated, the group will share
this with parish councils.



The group reviewed data provided by Cambridgeshire Constabulary in
relation to the number of hate crimes in South Cambridgeshire between
2016-2020.

Options
9. Cabinet could:
 Agree the recommendations.
 Refuse to agree the recommendations.

Implications
10. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk,
equality and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following
implications have been considered:Financial
11. The task and finish group has not costed the following, for which there are
potential cost implications if the recommendations are agreed:
 There are potential cost implications regarding the setup of an Equalities
Advisory Panel/Group. This would relate to any potential Special
Responsibility Allowance payable to members appointed to the
group/panel, and for officer resource associated with supporting this panel
and administering its meetings. Costs would depend on the number of

Page 14





panel members, frequency of meetings and amount of officer resource
required to support the work of the panel and its meetings.
There are potential cost implications in relation to staff resource to produce
a toolkit for businesses.
There are potential cost implications for the provision of training on Gypsy,
Roma and Traveller cultural awareness.
Costs are unknown for any initiatives or engagement activities.

Staffing
12. The Task and Finish Group has not estimated the staffing requirements of the
recommendations should they be agreed.

Alignment with Council Priority Areas
A modern and caring Council
13. The implementation of the recommendations would support the Council’s priority
of being a modern and caring Council.

Background papers
Details of the 14th July 2020 Council meeting and relevant motion on the Council’s
website
Details of the 16th July 2020 Scrutiny and Overview Committee meeting on the
Council’s website

Appendices
Appendix A: Anti-Racism Task and Finish Group Terms of Reference

Report Author:
Councillor Sarah Cheung Johnson, Anti-Racism Task and Finish Group Chair
Victoria Wallace – Scrutiny and Governance Adviser

Page 15

This page is left blank intentionally.

Appendix A

Scrutiny Anti-Racism Task and Finish Group
Terms of Reference

The purpose of the group is to investigate and make recommendations to the
Scrutiny and Overview Committee on anti-racism matters.
Scope

The task and finish group will:
1. Review and examine SCDC structure to ensure ethnic minorities are not
disadvantaged by understanding:
o how many BAME staff SCDC employs and where they are working,
o what barriers if any exist to BAME staff career progression
o whether a ‘name blind’ recruitment process would aid in the recruitment
of more BAME staff.
2. Consider BAME access to housing and homelessness and welfare support:
o

Review and recommend concrete actions on how the Council adopts
an actively anti-racism outlook within areas where the Council has
influence
o Review the Council’s corporate equalities and diversity policies so that
anti-racism is explicit and not implied;
o Review whether housing statistics can be broken down by ethnicity and
if any other meaningful statistics that can be monitored regularly can be
produced.
3. Provide an input into the Council’s Equality and Diversity policy.
4. Conduct an audit of street names, places and any public monuments for which
the Council is responsible, which name individuals or organisations and review
any that have racism links.
Group membership

The group will consist of five members appointed by the Scrutiny and Overview
Committee. A Chair of the group will be appointed by the Scrutiny and Overview
Committee. Other Scrutiny and Overview Committee members and non-executive
members may input as needed. Executive members may be invited to contribute in
an advisory capacity.

Page 17

Frequency of meetings

The group will meet on a monthly basis.
Reporting

The task and finish group will report its findings to the Scrutiny and Overview
Committee.

Page 18

Agenda Item 8

Report to:

Cabinet

Lead Member:

Councillor Grenville Chamberlain, Covid-19 Response
Task and Finish Group Chair

Lead Officer:

Jay Clarke, Development Officer/Programme
Manager

22 March 2020

Scrutiny and Overview Committee Covid-19
Response Task and Finish Group

Executive Summary
1. The purpose of this report is to summarise the work undertaken by the Scrutiny
and Overview Committee’s Covid-19 Response Task and Finish Group and to
present the group’s recommendations to Cabinet. These recommendations were
agreed by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee at its meeting on 25 th February
2021.

Key Decision
2. No

Recommendations
3. Based on the findings of the work of the group, which is summarised later in this
report, it is recommended that Cabinet approves the following recommendations:
Recommendation 1 – The Council should ensure adequate resource is
allocated for community recovery and to support parishes with further
development of their community response/emergency plans, so they are
as well-equipped as possible for any future crises.
Recommendation 2 – The Council should host appreciation events to
celebrate the success of the community response and to acknowledge the
work of community groups and volunteers during the Covid-19 pandemic.
The task and finish group recognise the huge amount of work community
groups and volunteers have delivered during this crisis. This event would
celebrate and acknowledge the success of communities working together
during the Covid-19 pandemic and the sense of solidarity and community
that has sprung up all over South Cambridgeshire towns and villages.

Page 19

The Task and Finish group also recognise that an in-person event can only
be planned when an event could be safely held.
Reasons for Recommendations
4. The recommendations have been drawn up by the task and finish group following
analysis of the information gathered during a series of discussions. This has
included discussions with representatives from South Cambridgeshire community
groups who coordinated the response to the Covid-19 pandemic in their towns
and villages. The task and finish group acknowledge that future community
resilience and emergency preparation has been a focus of the Lead Cabinet
Member for Community Resilience, the Communities Team, and the Council’s
Leadership Team, and hope this recommendation helps build on the work in
progress. Overall, the recommendations will support communities with their future
recovery following the Covid-19 pandemic and acknowledge the work of South
Cambridgeshire communities during the pandemic.

Details
5. The Scrutiny and Overview Committee agreed to set up a task and finish group
initially to investigate the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on community
facilities. Following the establishment of the group, this initial focus was widened
and the group’s Terms of Reference (Appendix A) were agreed by the Scrutiny
and Overview Committee at its December 2020 meeting. These set out the
group’s scope, which was to:
 Review the community response to the Covid-19 pandemic.
 Review how good practice could be shared with other parishes in South
Cambridgeshire.
 Investigate how residents in South Cambridgeshire could be supported
during the Covid-19 pandemic, to prevent isolation and loneliness, while
adhering to social distancing guidelines.
6. Members of the task and finish group are:
 Cllr Grenville Chamberlain (Chair)
 Cllr Claire Daunton
 Cllr Jose Hales
 Cllr Judith Rippeth
 The Lead Cabinet Member for Community Resilience, Cllr Bill Handley,
has participated in an advisory capacity
7. The task and finish group first met in November 2020 and was supported by
officers from the Sustainable Communities & Wellbeing Team and Democratic
Services.

Page 20

8. The task and finish group undertook the following work:


The group reviewed responses to a joint Planning Policy/Sustainable
Communities survey of community facilities which was sent to all South
Cambridgeshire parishes. On behalf of the task and finish group, officers
included questions in the survey to gather information about how
community facilities had been used in villages and towns as part of the
community Covid-19 response, where these had been able to remain
open. The group noted that the use of community facilities did not reflect
the level of community response as not all community response activities
had been delivered from community facilities.



On behalf of the group, Sustainable Communities officers produced a
newsletter providing advice to residents on how to keep well and tips and
ideas on how to combat isolation and loneliness, particularly during the
winter months with the prospect of further lockdowns. This was produced
as a two-issue newsletter and the first issue was circulated to community
groups and parishes for wider distribution to residents, just before
Christmas 2020.



On 22 January 2021 the task and finish group met with representatives
from community groups in Cambourne, Coton, Fen Ditton, Girton, Histon
and Impington, Melbourn and Papworth to hear about the representatives’
experiences of coordinating the community response to the Covid-19
pandemic in their villages. They explained the initiatives they had put in
place to support their communities. Between the groups, thousands of
people across the district had been helped and supported through the
pandemic. A summary of the different community initiatives and activities
fed back from these six groups, is attached at Appendix B.



The Task and Finish group found its meeting with community
representatives extremely informative and members were extremely
impressed by the considerable amount of work done by all the groups to
support their communities. Community representatives informed the task
and finish group that the community response had led to a sense of
solidarity and community springing up all over South Cambridgeshire
towns and villages and along with the community representatives, the task
and finish group is keen that this is not lost after the pandemic. Looking
ahead, the community representatives informed the task and finish group
of activities they hoped to hold in the recovery period to help bring people
together again, to help rebuild residents’ confidence to get out again and to
acknowledge and build on what had been achieved by the community
response work.

Page 21

Options
9. Cabinet could:
 Agree the recommendations
 Refuse to agree the recommendations.

Implications
10. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk,
equality and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following
implications have been considered:Financial
11. Potential cost implications of allocating resource to support parishes with the
development of community response/emergency plans. Cost implications of
hosting both the online and future in-person appreciation events.

Staffing
12. Potential staffing implications to allocate resource to support parishes with the
development of community response/emergency plans.
Staffing implications relating to officer time to organise an appreciation event.

Health & Wellbeing
13. Community preparedness for the future is vital for the wellbeing of South

Cambridgeshire residents during any future emergency/pandemic.

Alignment with Council Priority Areas
A modern and caring Council
14. The implementation of the recommendations would support the Council’s priority
of being a modern and caring Council by supporting South Cambridgeshire
communities during the recovery period from the Covid-19 pandemic.

Appendices
Appendix A: Task and Finish Group Terms of Reference

Page 22

Appendix B: Summary of community response activities

Report Author:
Jay Clarke – Programme Manager
Telephone: (01954) 713140

Page 23

This page is left blank intentionally.

Appendix A

Covid-19 Response Scrutiny Task and Finish Group
Terms of Reference
The purpose of the group is to investigate the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on
community facilities in South Cambridgeshire, how these have been used in the
response to the Covid-19 pandemic, how SCDC has supported communities and
how good practice could be shared to help other parishes in South Cambridgeshire.
Scope

The task and finish group will:
1. Review the community response to the Covid-19 pandemic.
2. To review how good practice could be shared with other parishes in South
Cambridgeshire.
3. To investigate how residents in South Cambridgeshire could be supported during
the Covid-19 pandemic until June 2021, to prevent isolation and loneliness, while
adhering to Government social distancing guidelines.
Group membership

Members appointed to the group are:
 Cllr Grenville Chamberlain (Chair)


Cllr Claire Daunton



Cllr Jose Hales



Cllr Judith Rippeth

Other Scrutiny and Overview Committee members and non-executive members may
input as needed. Executive members may be invited to contribute in an advisory
capacity.
Frequency of meetings

The group will meet as frequently as is needed to complete the review.
Reporting

The task and finish group will report its findings to the Scrutiny and Overview
Committee.

Page 25

This page is left blank intentionally.

Appendix B
Below is a summary of examples of the many activities undertaken by community
groups to support people in their communities during the Covid-19 pandemic. The
examples listed below are just a snapshot of what community groups across the
district have been involved in, on top of the reactive support roles many communities
have taken on during the pandemic. SCDC Members and staff have helped and
supported communities during this time working closely with each area:

Distribution to
Community groups had distributed leaflets or information cards
residents of leaflets to residents in their villages, providing information of what
and newsletters
support was available and providing contact details to access
this support. This information was also provided in some
community newsletters.
Letters to those on
the ‘at
risk’/vulnerable list

Volunteer drivers

Prescription
delivery and
hearing aid battery
deliveries

Emergency food
reserve/foodbanks

Some groups (Cambourne Town Council and Coton for
example) wrote to all those on the at risk/vulnerable list received
provided by South Cambridgeshire District Council and the
County Council. This had prompted people to ask for help if they
needed it, or just to chat to someone and also ensured that
residents who were not already connected to existing
community groups were not overlooked.
Some community groups (Papworth) used volunteer drivers or a
village minibus (Histon) to transport residents to their Covid
vaccinations. Some volunteer driver schemes had been
supported by Care Network. Other villages were using Panther
Taxis who were offering to transport people to their
vaccinations. They had offered to journeys of up to £10 free of
charge and a small mileage charge for longer journeys to cover
the driver’s costs.
Volunteer drivers had also been used to deliver prescriptions to
vulnerable residents.
Community groups had delivered prescriptions and hearing aid
batteries to vulnerable/elderly residents. Melbourn explained
their prescription delivery service, which had helped people who
could not go to the small village pharmacy that serves 6,000
residents. The group carried out about 50 prescription deliveries
per day during the first lockdown and had three volunteers on
the phones at the Melbourn Hub taking prescription calls. By the
end of first lockdown, Melbourn had delivered 1,800
prescriptions and 1,000 hearing aid batteries.
Some community groups had set up foodbanks or emergency
food reserves.
Papworth had set up the ‘Papworth Pantry’, which was an
emergency food resource rather than a food bank so people
could quickly access supplies if needed. A store of dry food was

Page 27

kept in the village hall which was topped up with fresh produce
from the local shop when needed. This had received funding
from Papworth Parish Council.
Residents, Morrisons and the Co-Op had donated to the food
bank in Cambourne. The foodbank was coordinated by
Cambourne Crescent out of the Blue School every week.
Community meal
Community meals had been delivered out of the Melbourn Hub;
delivery
this had supported 1,300 people.
Cambourne Town Council staff had also helped to collect meals
offered from the SCDC funded schemes at Duxford and Over
and delivered them to the Cambourne Hub for storage. These
were then distributed by volunteers.
Buddy scheme
Papworth had set up a village buddy scheme which buddied up
vulnerable people with others in the village. This provided
people who needed additional support with someone to go for a
walk with, to do their shopping or do other jobs for them as
needed. This was set up to comply with all government
guidelines, including social distancing.
Rainbow signs
These were displayed outside properties of over 80’s/vulnerable
people in Histon and Impington. ‘Ok’ was displayed under the
rainbow if all was well and volunteers could see from outside the
property whether support may be needed.
Shopping
Community volunteers had delivered shopping to residents in
deliveries
need; elderly/vulnerable and those self-isolating.
Donations of
Cambourne Town Council had been made aware of families in
clothing and other
need of help with winter clothing, duvets and blankets.
items
Donations were sought and provided by the community.
Email/social media/ All villages had set up either email groups and/or social media
websites/helplines groups and websites. Some community groups had set up
Whatsapp groups which they had found very helpful to stay
connected and be responsive. Some community groups had
found that Whatsapp groups had later evolved into more social
groups.
Coton had set up the Coton Network which was an email group
to which anyone could write to ask for help. Google Groups was
used for this so anyone could unsubscribe from the group
whenever they wanted. Anyone in the group could respond to a
request for help. Response times were very quick. If people
wanted to send a request confidentially, they could still do so
and contact details were provided for this.
Girton set up a page on its website along with a dedicated email
address. Anyone could volunteer through the website to help
with shopping, prescription delivery and providing social contact.
Volunteer street
Some groups had split their villages into streets and volunteer
coordinators
coordinators were assigned to support each street.
Keep in touch
Some of the groups provided keep in touch phone calls for
phone calls
residents suffering from loneliness. Some groups found this
resource was very well used and people had made friends over
the phone. People who said they were lonely had felt a
confidence boost by being able to contact other people who

Page 28

Village events and
other initiatives

were felt in a similar situation. Age UK’s Elderly People’s
Coordinator had supported some groups with this.
Fen Ditton ran a monthly village bake off with cakes delivered to
the elderly and vulnerable by volunteers in a Covid secure way.
This enabled volunteers to check up on each vulnerable
resident and have a socially distanced chat on the doorstep.
Any concerns were reported back to the community coordinator.
In Fen Ditton, Father Christmas had delivered sweets to all
children in the village and cake to the elderly.
Coton ran an internet club which continued to meet weekly on
Zoom. The first village wide coffee morning on Zoom was about
to take place.
The Wilbrahams and Six Mile Bottom had held a series of ‘know
your neighbour’ talks. These were Zoom talks given by people
in the villages on any subject they chose. This had started as an
experiment but had been so well received that it continued with
more people volunteering to speak.
With the local choir and musicians, Papworth had provided
doorstep music to some of the elderly residents which had been
well received.
At Christmas, Coton had asked any residents already cooking a
Christmas meal, to cook an extra portion which was matched
with someone in need of a meal in the village. There was also a
Christmas hamper scheme where people committed to put
together a hamper for a resident or a family. This was done
anonymously like a Secret Santa. This shared happiness and a
created the feeling of community.

Page 29

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 9

REPORT TO:

Cabinet

LEAD OFFICER:

Liz Watts, Chief Executive

22 March 2021

Actions taken under Chief Executive’s delegated
powers
Executive Summary
1. As required by the Council’s Constitution, this report informs Cabinet of actions
taken under the Chief Executive’s delegated powers.

Key Decision
2. No

Recommendations
3. To note the actions taken under the Chief Executive delegation (delegation 4.4,
Table 7, Part 3 of the Constitution). Details of these actions are set out in
appendix A.

Reasons for Recommendations
4. Advise the Cabinet of the decisions taken under the Chief Executive’s emergency
delegated powers as required by Delegation No 4.4, Table 7, Part 3 of the
Constitution.

Report Author:
Jonathan Malton – Cabinet Support Officer
Telephone: 07716 959184

Page 31

Appendix A

Page 32

Date of
Decision

Subject

Background

Friday, 5
February 2021

Update to the National Lockdown
Business Support Policy Addendum (Tier
4 and National Lockdown Business
Support) which details additional support
for businesses impacted by Tier 4
introduced from 26 December 2020, and
national lockdown measures introduced
from 5 January 2021.

To approve the update to the National Lockdown Business Support Policy
Addendum (Tier 4 and National Lockdown Business Support) as detailed within
the ‘Subject Matter’ box above.

The update details that the Additional
Restrictions Grant (ARG) will be used as a
one-off top up to those who already
received ARG funding in November,
mirroring the process for the provision of
top ups that are being provided to closed
ratepayers which was already detailed in
the policy. It also confirms that the Council
reserves the right to close applications for
any government business support grant
schemes once funding allocations from
Central Government are exhausted.

This policy has been developed following guidance from Government and in
consultation with the Lead Cabinet Officer for Business Recovery and Skills.

Agenda Item 10

REPORT TO:

Cabinet

LEAD CABINET MEMBER:

Cllr Neil Gough

LEAD OFFICER:

Head of Transformation

22 March 2021

2020-21 Quarter Three Performance Report
Executive Summary
1.

This report presents Cabinet with the Council’s Quarter Three (Q3) position regarding
its operational Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and 2020-21 Business Plan
actions, for consideration, comment and identification of actions.

2.

These performance reporting arrangements allow performance monitoring and
management to take place by providing opportunity to examine quality of service
provision and progress against Business Plan actions and timescales, to identify any
areas of concern and decide on the appropriate action.

3.

This is not a key decision.

Recommendations
4.

Cabinet is invited to:
a) Review the KPI results and comments at Appendix A and progress against
Business Plan actions at Appendix B, recommending, where appropriate, any
actions required to address any issues identified.

Reasons for Recommendations
5.

These recommendations are required to enable senior management and members to
understand the organisation’s performance. The information included within
performance reports contributes to the evidence base for the ongoing review of
priorities and enables, where appropriate, redirection of resources to reflect emerging
priorities and address areas of concern.

Page 33

Details
Operational Key Performance Indicator (KPI) report
6.

This report presents operational Key Performance Indicator (KPI) results that are
aligned to high-level, business-as-usual activities that underpin the successful
delivery of the Council’s services.

7.

The data in Appendix A shows actual performance against target and intervention
levels and accompanying comments, as provided by performance indicator owners.
The Council uses a ‘traffic light’ system to denote performance, whereby:





Green signifies performance targets which have been met or surpassed;
Amber denotes performance below target but above intervention level. It is
the responsibility of service managers to monitor such performance closely,
putting in place remedial actions at the operational level to raise standards as
required.
Red denotes performance below the intervention level. This represents
underperformance of concern, and should prompt interventions at the
strategic level, which are likely to involve the reallocation of resources and
proposals to redesign how services are provided.

Business Plan Action Update Report
8.

Appendix B provides updates in relation to the 2020-21 Business Plan actions.
Updates have been provided by Heads of Service and Service Managers, and have
been the subject of discussions at Corporate Management Team.

Implications
9.

In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk, equality
and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following implications
have been considered:There are no significant implications beyond those raised by performance indicator
owners within the comments section of the Operational Key Performance Indicator
report.

Consultation responses
10.

All performance indicator results, and commentaries are provided by or at the
instruction of performance indicator owners. Business Plan updates have been
provided by Heads of Service, following initial discussions at Leadership Team.

Effect on Council Priority Areas
11.

The KPI report (Appendix A) allows business-as-usual performance to be monitored
and managed across the Council’s range of activities, whilst the Business Plan

Page 34

Update report (Appendix B) provides a view of progress towards each of the actions
and timelines outlined within the within the 2020-25 Business Plan priority areas, as
detailed below:


Growing local businesses and economies



Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in



Being green to our core



A modern and caring Council

Background Papers
South Cambridgeshire District Council Business Plan 2020-25

Appendices
Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report
Appendix B – Business Plan Update Report

Report Author:
Kevin Ledger – Senior Policy and Performance Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713018
Phil Bird – Corporate Programme Manager
Telephone – (01954) 713309

Page 35

This page is left blank intentionally.

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

Finance

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area
Benefits
FS112 Average number of days to process new HB/CTS claims
Dawn Graham
Oct
Nov
Dec

Actual

Interventi
on
Comments

Target

9
7
8

15
15
15

20
20
20

Oct
Nov
Dec

7
5
6

10
10
10

15
15
15

Oct
Nov
Dec

99.6
99.1
97.9

98.5
98.5
98.5

96.5
96.5
96.5

Oct
Nov
Dec

96.39

97.2
97.3
97.7

Oct
Nov
Dec

66.9
76.8
86.1

68.7
77.9
86.3

FS113 Average number of days to process HB/CTS change events
Dawn Graham

Page 37

Finance
FS109 % undisputed invoices paid in 30 days
Peter Maddock
Late invoice payments are investigated by the Accountancy Team. December's result
was impacted by staff leave over the Christmas period. Departments and individuals are
reminded of the importance of processing invoices promptly, however December's
reduction is expected to be temporary, with up-coming results anticipated to return to the
consistently high levels of performance achieved in the months preceding December.

Revenues
FS102 % Housing Rent collected
Katie Kelly
Line chart not included for this PI as scale means that actual is
indistinguishable from target.
FS104 % NNDR collected (year to date)
Katie Kelly
Line chart not included for this PI as scale means that actual is
indistinguishable from target.

95.26 Rents data is currently being migrated to a new system, and is currently unavailable for
95.35 Nov and Dec. These will be reported once available.
95.75

The impact of Covid continues to present collection challenges. When compared to the
67.3 same period of the previous year, collection is down by aproximately 1.2%, or around
76.3 £950k, which is less than in previous month comparisons. This continues to be monitored
84.6 closely.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

Finance

FS105 % Council Tax collected (year to date)
Katie Kelly
Line chart not included for this PI as scale means that actuyal is
indistinguishable from target.

Oct
Nov
Dec

69.7
78.8
87.6

69.3
79.0
88.5

67.9 Covid continues to impact on collection. When compared to performance for the same
77.4 period last year, this represents a reduction 0.7%, or approx £950k for current year
86.7 collection. Close monitoring continues.

Report continues on the following page.

Page 38
Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

Housing

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area
Housing Advice
AH212 £s spent on Bed and Breakfast accommodation (year to date)
Sue Carter
Oct
Nov
Dec

Actual

132289
159027
191136

Interventi
on
Comments

Target

65776
76325
87401

B&B expenditure targets were revised for 2020/21 in light of additional responsibilities to
accommodate homeless households during the Covid-19 lockdown. Results have
72354 exceeded these estimates due to the backlog of households accumulating in temporary
83958 accommodation but unable to move-on. The majority of those in B&B are single people
96141 either with complex needs or who would normally be able to stay short term with friends
and family, but this is not available due to Covid related restrictions.
Property allocations through the housing register are now increasing as housing
providers start to return to 'business as usual'. Throughout the lockdown period the
council attempted to minimise B&B pressure by asking all registered housing providers to
offer void accommodation for use as direct lets and/or temporary accommodation when
there were no lettings through Home-Link. In addition, the supply of accommodation for
single people has continued to grow via the HMO pilot managed by Shire Homes.Without
this option the number accommodated in B&B would be higher.
The number in B&B will continue to be dependent on external factors, particularly in
relation to any future lockdown scenario, and it is not possible to provide any guarantee
when a reduction will occur.

Page 39

Housing and Property Services
AH204 % tenants satisfied with responsive repairs
Geoff Clark
Sep
Dec

87.95

97
97

Prior to Covid-19, satisfaction data was collected via handheld devices at the time that
92 repairs were carried out. Covid measures have since prevented this method of collection
and as a result a Q2 result was not reported. Mears have since been trialling collection
92
of satisfaction data via SMS, and this has informed the Q3 result shown. During this
period 664 satisfaction surveys were completed, with 589 expressing satisfaction.
Discussions have taken place with Mears about using a mix of data collected methods
going forwards, including collection at point of completion (once feasible) and feedback
given at a later point using different method. Performance levels will be monitored
closely going forward.

AH211 Average days to re-let all housing stock
Geoff Clark
Sep
Nov
Dec

106
52
58

17
17
17

We have seen a steady improvement in void turn around times this quarter. The figure
for Dec increased slightly compared to Nov as this is a time of year where we have to be
25 sympathetic to the needs of the customer. Some businesses close down over the festive
25 period that would otherwise help customers to move, and we therefore show more
25 leniency with tenancy start dates at this time.
Properties let during quarter 3 included the last remaining few that had extended void
times due to the first lockdown, where government guidance stated that properties
should not be let during this period of time.
The figures for this period continue to be set against the backdrop of the Covid-19
pandemic and restrictions. This means processes that we follow to terminate a tenancy,
complete maintenance work whilst empty, allocate the property and then let to a new
tenant are often done in challenging circumstances and with limited resources. These
factors mean that the period of time between one tenancy ending and another beginning
is longer than we would normally see.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

Housing

SH332 % emergency repairs in 24 hours
Geoff Clark
Oct
Nov
Dec

96.79
97.06
96.40

98
98
98

95
95
95

Contractor staffing levels have been impacted by Covid-19 limiting the number of
operatives working at various times.
Performance remains at a reasonable level, albeit slightly lower than target.
December's result equates to five emergency repairs completed outside of 24 hours.
There has not been a noticeable increase in complaints relating to the completion of
emergency repairs, however performance will continue to be monitored closely in this
area.

Report continues on the following page.

Page 40
Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

HR and Corporate Services

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area
HR
FS117 Staff turnover (non-cumulative)
Susan Gardner Craig
Sep
Dec

Actual

Target

Interventi
on
Comments

2.71
2.03

3.25
3.25

4
4

1.14
1.22

1.75
1.75

2.5
2.5

FS125 Staff sickness days per FTE excluding SSWS (non-cumulative)
Susan Gardner Craig
Sep
Dec

Page 41

Report continues on the following page.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

Greater Cambridge Planning Service

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area
Dev. Management
PN510 % of major applications determined within 13 weeks or agreed timeline
(designation period cumulative)
Sharon Brown
Sep
Dec

PN511 % of non-major applications determined within 8 weeks or agreed timeline
(desig. period cumulative)
Sharon Brown
Sep
Dec

Actual

Interventi
on
Comments

Target

65
65

60
60

78.68
80.32

75
75

70
70

2.44
2.44

5
5

Page 42

77.37
78.71

PN512 % of appeals against major planning permissions refusal allowed
(designation period cumulative)
Sharon Brown
Sep
Dec

10 Dec's result marks the end of the Apr 2018 - Dec 2020 designation assessment period.
10 The next quarterly result will be the first in the Apr 2019 - Dec 2021 assessment period,
in line with MHCLG performance monitoring arrangements.
September results have been updated and verified against the latest data published by
the Planning Inspectorate and remain better than target.

PN513 % of appeals against non-major planning permission refusal allowed
(designation period cumulative)
Sharon Brown
Sep
Dec

1.46
1.54

5
5

10 See previous comment,
10

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

Greater Cambridge Planning Service

Land Charges
SX025 Average Land Charges search response days
Charlene Harper
Oct
Nov
Dec

13.67
17.90
20.28

8
8
8

High numbers of search requests have continued to be received during Q3, driven by the
temporary change in stamp duty rules. In Dec an additional member of staff was
10 allocated to the team, resulting in an increase in the number requests completed (albeit
10 not yet reflected in the average search response days results). A further additional
10 temporary member of staff has also started in order to clear the back log of person
searches, and it is expected that the number of complete searches will increase further in
January.

Report continues on the following page.

Page 43
Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

Shared Waste and Environment

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area
Shared Waste Service
ES408 % of bins collected on schedule (SSWS)
Trevor Nicoll
Oct
Nov
Dec

Actual

99.79
99.75
99.80

ES418 % of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting (cumulative)
Trevor Nicoll
Oct
Nov
Dec

Interventi
on
Comments

Target

99.5
99.5
99.5

50
50
50

Page 44

SF786a Staff sickness days per FTE - SSWS
Trevor Nicoll
Sep
Dec

3.71
4.54

3
3

99.25
99.25
99.25

48 A new reporting system is currently being implemented leading to a delay in the Q3
48 recycling data. Q3 results will be reported once available.
48

3.5 During Q3, the HR team have been working alongside managers, introducing a new way
of working and new tools to try to assist managers in proactively managing long term
3.5
absence. Virtual welfare visits are carried out with all long-term sickness cases. The HR
team have also been carrying out weekly checks on absence rates and highlighting
where an absence is due to stress, depression and mental health to ensure the
necessary support has been put in place.
A training session was held at the Waterbeach depot in December on the use of stress
identification tools and best practise. A session on mental wellbeing tools available to
managers at the Council is being designed for delivery. We have also been supporting
employees during the Covid-19 outbreak and have been especially focussing on
supporting our employee’s mental health through offering weekly wellbeing sessions,
circulating useful information, and promoting access to support services such as
counselling or the Mental Health First Aid team.

Report continues on the following page.

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

Transformation

Key Performance Indicator and Owner, organised by Directorate and Service Area
Complaints
CC305 % of formal complaints resolved within timescale (all SCDC)
Jeff Membery
Sep
Dec

Actual

67.8
63.9

Interventi
on
Comments

Target

80
80

70
70

39 of the 61 complaints responses sent in Q3 were within target timescale (10 working
days for stage 1 and 20 working days for stage 2 complaints).
22 of 26 (84.6%) responses were sent within timescale in the Housing Service, 4 of 6
(66.7%) in Corporate Services and Finance, 10 of 15 (66.7%) within Shared Waste and
Environment, and 3 of 14 (21.4%) in the Greater Cambridge Planning Service.
In Housing three late complaints were delayed partly as a result of to contractor replies
and updates. In these cases we are working to ensure complainants are fully informed
of progress on their complaints.
In Corporate Services and Finance one complaint was one day beyond timescale, and
another was responded to within 20 working days rather than 10 due to increased
workload as a result of the Covid response.
The five late responses from Shared Waste and Environment were caused mainly by
workload pressures, again including those resulting from Covid response.

Page 45

Complaints leads from the Planning Department are working to review lessons from
complaints handling (including late responses) and create an action plan to ensure that
the current backlog in complaints is resolved.

Contact Centre
CC302 % calls to the Contact Centre resolved first time
Jeff Membery
Oct
Nov
Dec

87.10
75.95
72.45

80
80
80

70
70
70

Oct
Nov
Dec

83.64
85.75
88.38

90
90
90

80 Please see previous comment.
80
80

Q3 saw a further increase in call volumes combined with a requirement for the call
centre to release staff to support Covid mitigation work such as contacting the clinically
vulnerable.

CC303 % of calls to the Contact Centre that are handled (answered)
Jeff Membery

Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix A - Key Performance Indicator Report - Q3 2020 - 2021

Transformation

CC307 Average call answer time (seconds)
Jeff Membery
Oct
Nov
Dec

218
194
133

100
100
100

180
180
180

Please see previous comment.

Page 46
Note: Whilst some KPIs are reported monthly, others are reported quarterly. For quarterly KPIs the results are labelled based on the month at the end of the quarter (e.g. Q1 = Jun, Q2 = Sep)

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

Notes:
Measures include a completion date by quarter of the financial year (Quarter 1 – April to June; Quarter 2 – July to
September; Quarter 3 – October to December; Quarter 4 – January to March.
* RAG Ratings are applied on the following basis:
Green = Delivered or expected by end Q4; Amber = Delayed but on track for delivery in 2021/22; Red = Not going to be
delivered or delivery plan needed

A) Growing local businesses and economies
Page 47

Action

Measure

Position at end of Quarter 3

RAG
Rating*

A1) Create a business team
with a single point of contact
for business enquiries when
they involve more than one
team
A2) Help start-ups and homebased businesses to find
workspace



Establish of a Business Team
(quarter 2)



The team of 4 is now fully in place and acting as a
central conduit for all business-related queries.



Complete a feasibility study
looking at how South Cambs
Hall can be used to provide
workspace for businesses,
including start-ups (quarter 2)



Feasibility study is underway, however there are
delays due to Covid-19 related issues. Significant
building works are due to commence in relation to
Greening South Cambs Hall project (action C3) will
also affect the assessment.

A2) Help start-ups and homebased businesses to find
workspace



Provide a new space for up to
5 growing small business
(quarter 4)



Feasibility study is underway, however there are
delays due to Covid-19 related issues. Significant
building works are due to commence in relation to
Greening South Cambs Hall project (action C3) will
also affect the assessment.
1

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

Page 48

A3) Deliver support to startups and small businesses that
is not available elsewhere to
help them grow, create new
local jobs and deal with the
impacts of Brexit
A3) Deliver support to startups and small businesses that
is not available elsewhere to
help them grow, create new
local jobs and deal with the
impacts of Brexit
A4) Promote the area and
Enterprise Zones to retain
businesses and attract new
ones which will protect and
create local jobs



Hold 8 business support
workshops (quarter 4)



7 business webinars have been held covering a
range of subjects, and another 7 are planned for the
upcoming months.



Provide business support
advice to 100 businesses
(quarter 4)



Target exceeded, with contact and advice provided to
well over 2,000 businesses throughout the Covid-19
pandemic.



Complete strategy and begin
actively promoting Enterprise
Zones to secure new
businesses locating there
(quarter 3)



The new business support team will assist with
marketing requirements and business engagement
relating to Cambourne and Northstowe Enterprise
Zones in particular.

A4) Promote the area and
Enterprise Zones to retain
businesses and attract new
ones which will protect and
create local jobs
A5) Identify gaps in the land
and premises available for
businesses as an input to our
new Local Plan



500 additional jobs created on 
Enterprise Zones by end of
2024/25 financial year



Complete employment land
and premises study (quarter
2)





Longer
term
target

Longer term target.

Report and stakeholder sessions have been
completed as an input to the Housing and
Employment Land Availability Assessment (HELAA)
part of the emerging Greater Cambridge Local Plan.
A further study is being scoped taking a wider view
on the future of land use, growth, and recovery
(including the impacts of Covid-19).
2

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

B) Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in

Page 49

Action

Measure

Position at end of Quarter 3

B1) Increase the number of
Council homes built each
year to support people on
lower incomes. These will
include high energy
standards and renewable
energy.





B2) Work with local people to
set out where and how new
homes and communities will
be built across the Greater
Cambridge area



Produce a report assessing
feedback provided by local
people from the first Local
Plan consultation. This will
inform the next steps in the
Local Plan process (quarter 1)



Target exceeded - 66 new Council homes completed
(10 at Great Abington, 9 at Foxton, 4 at West
Wickham, 5 at Teversham, 6 at Toft and 32 at
Hardwick).
Homes at Teversham incorporated solar panels and
West Wickham has air source heat pumps for
heating.
Completed.

B2) Work with local people to
set out where and how new
homes and communities will
be built across the Greater
Cambridge area



Complete and publish a North
East Cambridge draft Area
Action Plan for consultation
(quarter 2)



Completed

Complete 50 new Council
homes in 2020-21 (quarter 4)
as part of doubling the number
being built by 2024



RAG
Rating*

3

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

Page 50

B3) Create and continue to
run liaison meetings and
forums where significant new
developments are being
planned to minimise
disruption and help new
residents settle in
B3) Create and continue to
run liaison meetings and
forums where significant new
developments are being
planned to minimise
disruption and help new
residents settle in
B3) Create and continue to
run liaison meetings and
forums where significant new
developments are being
planned to minimise
disruption and help new
residents settle in
B3) Create and continue to
run liaison meetings and
forums where significant new
developments are being
planned to minimise
disruption and help new
residents settle in



Establish liaison meetings in
Sawston and Duxford/Hinxton
(and other locations if
required) in 2020/21



Completed



Continue to carry out liaison
meetings in Cottenham



Completed



Continue to carryout
community forums in
Northstowe, Waterbeach,
North-West Cambridge, and
Cambridge East.



Completed



Establish new community
forums covering Bourn and
Cambourne West, and NorthEast Cambridge in 2020/21



Completed

4

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

B4) Improve the energy
efficiency of existing Council
housing to reduce carbon
impact and running costs



B4) Improve the energy
efficiency of existing Council
housing to reduce carbon
impact and running costs



Carry out an audit of energy
efficiency of existing housing
stock relative to zero carbon
target (quarter 1)



Approve a work programme
for insulation measures over
the next four years to narrow
the gap on the zero-carbon
target (quarter 4)







Page 51

Energy audit completed specifying a number of
works to be taken forward to increase energy
efficiency.
A pilot ‘Net-zero’ project is taking place in
collaboration with partners to identify and monitor the
impact of measures installed by the Council, as well
as those to be installed by other landlords.
An asset management will shortly be published
setting out how we will improve the efficiency of our
poorest-performing properties. This will focus on
insulation.
A pilot ‘Net-zero’ project is taking place and will
inform further suitable energy efficiency measures to
take forward over the next four years.
Sports pavilion site investigation completed, preapplication submitted, and comments received.
Presentation made to the Northstowe Community
Forum and application to be followed by submission
of application.

B5) Deliver a new sports
pavilion, community centre
and civic hub (containing
health, library and community
facilities) at Northstowe



Submit planning permission
for the new sports pavilion
(quarter 3)



B5) Deliver a new sports
pavilion, community centre
and civic hub (containing
health, library and community
facilities) at Northstowe



Complete local engagement to
understand what the
community wants in the new
community centre (quarter 4)



Update to be obtained for Q4

B5) Deliver a new sports
pavilion, community centre
and civic hub (containing



Award design contract for a
new Civic Hub (quarter 4)



Delay to award of design contract for Civic Hub due
to Covid-19 and requirement of County Public Health
and CCG/NHS input.

RAG
rating
to be
applied
for Q4

5

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

health, library and community
facilities) at Northstowe

C) Being green to our core
Action

Measure

Position at end of Quarter 3

Page 52

C1) In response to the global 
climate crisis we will continue
to work towards a zerocarbon future by 2050

Complete a zero-carbon
strategy for the district to
inform an action plan (quarter
3)

C1) In response to the global 
climate crisis we will continue
to work towards a zerocarbon future by 2050
C2) Work with partners to

protect and enhance the
environment with the aim of
doubling nature
C3) Retrofit our Cambourne

office with renewable energy
generation and energy
efficiency measures

Agree action plan to reduce the 
Council’s emissions for all our
buildings and operations
(quarter 1)
Hold a local Climate Summit

(quarter 3)

Complete retrofit of
Cambourne office (quarter 4)





RAG
Rating*

Zero Carbon Strategy was adopted by Full Council in
May and an action plan has been now been
developed. A progress update on the action plan
was reported to Climate and Environment Advisory
Committee’s 3 November meeting.
A ‘Doubling Nature’ Strategy is also on track for
delivery in January 2021.

This is taking place through a season of online
Climate & Environment events taking place in
February and March.
Project start was delayed. A new programme has
been approved and work is now underway to deliver
in 2021/22.
6

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

Page 53

C3) Retrofit our Cambourne
office with renewable energy
generation and energy
efficiency measures



Reduce mains gas and
electricity demands from our
Cambourne office by over 50%
per year (from March 2021
onwards compared to baseline
in 2019).
Reduce carbon emissions from
our Cambourne office by 49%
per year (from March 2021
onwards compared to baseline
in 2019.
One electric bin lorry and two
small vans operating to assess
feasibility (quarter 3)



Project start was delayed. A new programme has
been approved and work is now underway to deliver
electricity and gas savings.

C3) Retrofit our Cambourne
office with renewable energy
generation and energy
efficiency measures





Project start was delayed. A new programme has
been approved and work is now underway to deliver
emissions savings.

C4) Trial electric recycling
and waste vehicles, including
the investigation of on-site
solar panel energy
generation
C4) Trial electric recycling
and waste vehicles, including
the investigation of on-site
solar panel energy
generation





The service took delivery of first electric vehicle in
Q3. Performance of the vehicles is being monitored.



Prepare a business case on
further investment in
alternative fuel bin lorries and
power generation for 2021-22
budget setting



Update to be obtained for Q4

C5) Support Parish Council
and community group
projects to reduce reliance
on fossil fuels and move
toward the zero-carbon
target



Provide £100,000 to

community and voluntary
groups through the Zero
Carbon Communities grant and
support programme.

RAG
rating
to be
applied
for Q4

17 awards are processed using £97,300 of the
funding available.

7

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

Page 54

C6) Upgrade our stock of

1,800 streetlights to LED,
which will reduce energy
consumption and save
Parish Councils money
C6) Upgrade our stock of

1,800 streetlights to LED,
which will reduce energy
consumption and save
Parish Councils money
C7) Agree and deliver our

strategy and actions needed
to protect and improve the air
quality of our district

Completion of lighting upgrade
to LED (quarter 4)



Planned completion for all non-ornamental lights due
March 2021.

Achieve 60% reduction in
energy consumption of
streetlighting for Parish
Councils (quarter 4)



On target.

Strategy and action plan
revised (quarter 1)



Update to be obtained for Q4

C7) Agree and deliver our

strategy and actions needed
to protect and improve the air
quality of our district

Air quality monitor in place to
gather data at one new
location (quarter 1)



Update to be obtained for Q4

C7) Agree and deliver our

strategy and actions needed
to protect and improve the air
quality of our district

Complete a review of how and
where we monitor air quality
(quarter 2)



Update to be obtained for Q4

Publish a resource toolkit for
community groups and parish
councils (quarter 1)



We have worked to produce the resource for
community groups and parish councils, but the
release date needs to be reviewed and rescheduled
for post-Covid-19 to ensure greatest impact.

C8) Improve recycling and
reduce waste at community
events



RAG
rating
to be
applied
for Q4
RAG
rating
to be
applied
for Q4
RAG
rating
to be
applied
for Q4

8

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

Page 55

C8) Improve recycling and
reduce waste at community
events



Equipment and information kit
to minimise and separate
recycling at community events
available (quarter 1)



We have worked to produce the resource for
community groups and parish councils, but the
release date needs to be reviewed and rescheduled
for post-Covid-19 to ensure greatest impact.

C9) Run an information
campaign to help reduce the
amount of food waste in the
black bin



Cut the amount of food waste
in the black bin by 200 tonnes
per month (quarter 4)



A communications programme was undertaken to
help residents reduce their food waste and has
continued in Q3 following the ‘love food hate waste’
campaign and National Food waste action week in
March.
Food waste tonnage to be reviewed for Q4.
Street scene and enforcement officers are working
closely to identify locations and develop an
operational plan.

C10) Deter fly-tipping at
locations where it happens
frequently



Agree fly-tipping hotspots and
action plans to address this at
each one (quarter 2)




RAG
rating
to be
applied
for Q4
RAG
rating
to be
applied
for Q4

D) A modern and caring Council
Action

Measure

Position at end of Quarter 3

D1) Make sure that the
Council is structured and
appropriately resourced to






Review all service areas
(quarter 4)

RAG
Rating*

Transformation Team in place to carry out service reviews.
Revenues and Benefits and Planning service reviews
commenced by end of Q4.
9

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

deliver the ambitions of our
communities
D2) Review recruitment
processes to attract and retain
the best talent and ensure that
we are an employer of choice
for people with disabilities

Page 56

D2) Review recruitment
processes to attract and retain
the best talent and ensure that
we are an employer of choice
for people with disabilities
D2) Review recruitment
processes to attract and retain
the best talent and ensure that
we are an employer of choice
for people with disabilities
D3) Generate income through
delivering the Council’s
investment strategy



Reviews to be thorough rather than light touch.



Complete and analyse
an annual staff
satisfaction survey and
review our benefits
package (quarter 4)



Annual staff satisfaction survey completed in Oct/Nov
2020. Results have been analysed and are being
considered by Leadership Team.



Successfully fill at least
70% of jobs advertised
through first round of
recruitment



New employee benefits portal and employee assistance
helpline launched in April 2020.
Target of 70% recruitment has been achieved

Increase the number of
job applications from
people with disabilities
from 2019-20 levels




Plan to achieve Level 2 on Disability Confident scheme
are on target.
Application levels to be reviewed.

25% of our income is
generated from
investments and other
commercial activities by
end of 2023/24 financial
year
Double number of
households registered
for a OneVu account –
9% registered at
December 2019 (quarter
4)



It is expected that this target will be met in 2021/22.



Achieved. 22,764 accounts have been registered, an
increase by approximately 13,000 accounts since the last
update).





D4) Make it easier for

customers to access and carry
out transactions online



10

RAG
rating
to be
applied
for Q4

Appendix B – Business Plan Actions Update Report

D4) Make it easier for

customers to access and carry
out transactions online

Reduce the number of
calls per household by
5% - compared to 201920 levels (quarter 4)




Increased calls during the Covid-19 crisis period as
businesses and residents need to access support.
Additional e-forms added to customer portal

RAG
rating
to be
applied
for Q4

Page 57

D5) Council and committee
meetings will be run paperfree wherever possible



Paper free cabinet
meetings to be held
(quarter 2)



Complete

D5) Council and committee
meetings will be run paperfree wherever possible





Electronic agenda packs in place of paper agenda packs
have been trialled for Cabinet in Q3 for all Cabinet
Members.

D6) Increase the number of
villages covered by mobile
warden schemes to help
people to live in their homes
for longer



Members to be provided
with an option for paperfree Council and
committee meetings
(quarter 4)
At least 3 new mobile
warden schemes set up
(quarter 3)



Target exceeded, with 7 new schemes up and running,
increasing coverage to a further 20 villages.
Investigating options to broaden the reach of existing
schemes.



11

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 11

REPORT TO:

Cabinet

LEAD CABINET MEMBER:

Cllr Neil Gough (Deputy Leader)

LEAD OFFICER:

Anne Ainsworth (Chief Operating Officer)

22 March 2021

2020-25 Business Plan

Executive Summary
1. The Council agreed four key priorities as part of developing the 2019-24 Business Plan.
Beneath this sits an action plan detailing the activities the Council would carry out under
each of the four areas.
2. It was agreed that the Business Plan would be reviewed annually to ensure that priorities
are continuing to deliver the outcomes needed for local people. When developing the
latest update to the 2020-25 Business Plan, the four priority areas have remained
unchanged, but a review has been done on the action plan.
3. The plan has been updated and reflects the activity that has been on-going throughout
2020-21 during the Covid-19 pandemic. It has also been drafted with the recognition that
the implications from the virus and multiple national lockdowns, will continue to be farreaching and will require on-going dedicated resource from the Council throughout 2021.
4. The updated version of the plan for 2021-22 is intended to provide clear priorities and
delivery dates. This will make sure the Council can easily track progress and delivery of
the agreed actions. This document provides the over-arching framework for priorities and
will inform 2021-22 Service Plans.

Key Decision
5. No

Recommendations
6. It is recommended that Cabinet:
(a) Consider the proposed 2020-25 Business Plan at Appendix A (with the Action Plan
primarily focused on delivery 2021-22) and recommend it to Council for approval, with
any amendments as required.

Page 59

(b) Authorise the Chief Executive to make any minor wording changes required to final
drafts, in consultation with the Deputy Leader.

Reasons for Recommendations
7. The Business Plan outlines clear and measurable actions that the Council will carry out
up until 2025 to achieve the overarching priorities, with a focus on activities in 2021-22.
The Business Plan is used to ensure officer and financial resources are allocated
appropriately to achieve the actions and objectives detailed within it.

Details
8. Actions from the 2019-24 Business Plan that have already been completed are listed in
the 2020-25 Business Plan.
9. Some other actions agreed in the 2019-24 Business Plan are being progressed in
partnership with other organisations. Where these actions are now combined into joint
action plans, they are not detailed in the Business Plan. For example, a number of
actions are linked to the activities of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined
Authority and Greater Cambridge Partnership.
10. The actions within the Business Plan at Appendix A have been split between priorities
over the next twelve months of the plan and other longer-term objectives. All priorities
proposed for 2021-22 include measures that make sure we can monitor and evaluate
progress.

Options
11. Do nothing – Cabinet could decide not to update the Business Plan, making it difficult to
provide clarity about priorities for the year 2021-22 and to measure progress.
12. Request a new approach to Business Planning – Cabinet could ask for a completely new
process of Business Planning to be undertaken and reject this report. This would
however: be contrary to the consultation which was undertaken in 2019-20 which
underpinned the 2020-25 Business Planning process; undermine the continuity in the
process which allows for progress to be clearly outlined and issues to be identified;
create delays to the publication of a Business Plan; and stretch resources currently
directed to support those in need during the pandemic.
13. Recommended Option – Approve the Business Plan and the continuity of the process
undertaken in 2019-20.

Implications
14. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk, equality and
diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following implications have been
considered:-

Page 60








The effects of the Covid-19 pandemic – multiple lockdowns have had wide reaching
impacts on our communities, businesses and vulnerable individuals. Resource will
be required throughout 2021 to ensure that as the national vaccination programme is
rolled out, support continues to be provided to those who need it. This may have
implications for some of the timescales within the plan but it is not possible to say at
this time what may be affected. The plan has been written based on the information
we have at this point in time.
The potential impacts of Brexit are still to be fully realised and will need to be carefully
monitored over the next few months.
Throughout the pandemic, the positive implications for the environment and new
ways of working have been documented. Although the Business Plan as a priority to
be ‘Green to our Core’, it also reflects the work of the Council to embed
environmental issues and considerations within all aspects of our activity.
The implications of multiple lockdowns and national restrictions have
disproportionately affected some people in our communities more than others. As
part of our equality and diversity commitment, the Council has within the Plan what
direct action we can take to support those who may have been most impacted.

Financial
15. The Council’s Business Plan is in line with the Council’s agreed budget for 2021-22, to
ensure that actions can be fully resourced and funded.

Legal
16. None.

Staffing
17. As part of the action plan refresh process, resourcing has been considered to ensure
deliverability of Council priorities.
18. There will continue to be demands upon our staffing resources from Covid-19 related
activities throughout 2021.

Risks/Opportunities
19. The process of refreshing the Council’s action plan will improve Business Plan
performance reporting for 2021 onwards and ensure resources are clearly focussed
towards delivering priorities.

Equality and Diversity
20. The action plan reaffirms the Council’s commitment to be an employee of choice for
people with disabilities. Actions within the Business Plan will require the completion of
Equality Impact Assessments for individual projects.

Page 61

Climate Change
21. One of the four key priority areas within the Business Plan is being ‘Green to Our Core’.
This priority makes sure that the environment and environmental impacts are at the
centre of all the work we do.

Health and Wellbeing
22. The Business Plan and day to day work of the Communities team includes a range of
actions aimed at improving the health and wellbeing of the residents and businesses in
the district.

Consultation responses
23. A detailed public consultation was carried out in 2019 to develop the four key themes as
part of the 2019-24 Business Plan. These four areas remain unchanged.

Alignment with Council Priority Areas
18. This process does not change any of the overarching themes but establishes clear
priorities falling within each of these for the next business planning period (2021-22).

Background Papers
None.

Appendices
Appendix A: Draft 2020-25 Business Plan Action Grid

Report Author:
Anne Ainsworth – Chief Operating Officer
Telephone: 01954 712920

Page 62

Business Plan 2020-25
(Revision 2021-22)

What we’re about
Putting the heart into South Cambridgeshire by:

Page 63

 Helping business to grow
 Building homes that are truly affordable to live in
 Being green to our core
 Putting our customers at the centre of everything we do

1

Context
The Business Plan for South Cambridgeshire District Council (SCDC) 2020-25 was agreed and published in 2020, before
the Coronavirus Pandemic reached the UK and the first lockdown was introduced. The Plan identified four priority areas
for the Council to focus on over the next five years, and these priorities remain the same in this annual update.
This plan outlines the actions that will be undertaken during 2021-22 to deliver on the Council’s priorities. It also reflects
on some of the achievements from the last year and the context within which the Council is currently operating. The plan
should be read alongside some other key documents for the Council:

Page 64









The Investment Strategy
The Recovery Plan (to be agreed spring 2021)
The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) Recovery Plan
SCDC Local Plan 2018
Zero Carbon Strategy
Doubling Nature Strategy
Housing Strategy

And alongside some on-going areas of activity:
 Work to develop the Joint Local Plan and North East Cambridge Area Action Plan
 The Ox-Cam Arc Ambitions
Currently, the Council, like the rest of the Country, is working within the context of a global pandemic and the deal agreed
with the EU to leave the Union. These are unprecedented times and so it is likely that some of the timescales for activity
within this plan may be affected over the coming months. The resources of the Council, including large numbers of staff,
are still very much engaged with activity related to our response to Covid-19. It is likely that this will be the case for a
significant part of 2021.
2

The strength of partnerships that have been reinforced throughout the pandemic will be key to the delivery of many of
South Cambridgeshire’s ambitions over the coming year. The need to support our communities, vulnerable individuals,
and businesses in recovering from the impact of the virus will continue to shape delivery over the coming year.
South Cambridgeshire is committed to promoting a Green Recovery, and this is a key theme throughout the Business
Plan, not just in the ‘Green to our Core’ section. The Green Economy offers considerable opportunities to support new and
existing businesses, create jobs and use our natural environment to promote healthy living, reduce social isolation and
support good mental health.
In 2020/21 SCDC established two new Cabinet Posts: Cabinet Member for Community Resilience, Health and Wellbeing
and Cabinet Member for Business Recovery and Skills, ensuring that the Council can respond to, and proactively work
with, our local communities and businesses to survive, recover and grow coming out of the pandemic.

Page 65

Our Priority Areas
A) Growing local businesses and economies – We will support businesses of all sizes, including rural enterprise and
farming, to help create new jobs and opportunities near to where people live and support the local economy to recover
post-pandemic.
B) Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in – We will build vibrant communities in locations where
people have good access to facilities and transport links, so they can genuinely afford to lead a happy and healthy life.
C) Being green to our core – We will create a cleaner, greener and zero-carbon future for our communities.

3

D) A modern and caring Council – We will provide our customers with high-quality services, strive to reduce costs, build
on what we are good at to generate our own income and make decisions in a transparent, open and inclusive way.

Page 66
4

A) Growing local businesses and economies
2021-22 priorities:
Action
A1) Support Businesses through COVID with help, advice and
support for a green recovery that enables them to survive, adapt
and grow, and to respond flexibly as the national and local
situation develops.

Page 67
A2) Help start-ups, home-based businesses and those moving
into South Cambridgeshire to find workspace

Measure
 Increase our Open for Business Newsletter reach to
over 2,000 businesses (Quarter 4 - currently 900). 
 Implement a Customer Relationship Management
system for better management/engagement with local
businesses (Quarter 4).
 Launch a Visit South Cambridgeshire brand
alongside wider collaboration with Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough partners (Quarter 1)
 Continue to support the local hospitality sector
including pubs and restaurants




A3) Deliver support to start-ups and small businesses that is not
available elsewhere to help them grow, create new local jobs and
deal with the impacts of Brexit




Complete a feasibility study looking at how South
Cambs Hall can be used to provide workspace for
businesses, including start-ups (Quarter 3)
Provide a new space for up to 5 growing small
businesses (Quarter 4)
Establish an up-to-date list of Business Premises for
start-ups (Quarter 2)
Hold 8 business support workshops (Quarter 4),
including Retrofit training from ENE project
Working with partners, provide business support
advice to 100 businesses (Quarter 4)
5

A4) Promote the area and Enterprise Zones to retain businesses
and attract new ones which will protect and create local jobs



Develop a fund that supports innovations and startups as we start a green post pandemic recovery
phase (Quarter 3)



500 additional jobs created on Enterprise Zones by
end of 2024/25 financial year
Complete strategy for Northstowe and begin actively
promoting the Enterprise Zone to secure new
businesses locating there (Quarter 3)
Business Team to engage businesses for the
Enterprise Zones (Quarter 4)




Page 68

A5) Identify gaps in the land and premises available for
businesses as an input to our new Local Plan



Development of the Statutory Housing and
employment Land Availability Assessment (HELAA)
as part of the emerging Greater Cambridge Local
Plan (Quarter 2)

Ongoing objectives:







Support major employers to help homes and jobs be closer together or linked through high quality public transport,
walking and cycling routes
Work with parish councils and village-based businesses to support local economies and communities throughout
the pandemic and beyond
Work with the Police through the Community Safety Partnership to tackle crime impacting rural businesses
Encourage local people to use their shops and food outlets so that high streets are retained and expanded
wherever possible and business survive post-pandemic
Provide information and advice to help businesses to understand the benefits of generating their own energy,
improving their energy efficiency, increasing water and waste recycling
Work with major employers to design and support increased housing for Essential and Key Workers
6






Work with the new CPCA Inward Investment (Growth) Service to ensure Inward investment into our region remains
a priority
Continue to be the voice and advocate for South Cambridgeshire businesses with wider partners and networks
(including our Joint Local Plan) and ensure we are adequately represented in key economic policy/decision-making
initiatives
Support Green Council initiatives, ensuring our business community is able, willing and geared up to delivering
2021-2050 net zero objectives. This includes helping with apprenticeship, skills and training support as appropriate.

Actions and achievements completed from the 2020-21 Business Plan

Page 69








Ongoing provision of monthly webinars/training serving the needs and wants of our local business community (e.g.
how to work with the council, mental health for small business owners, diversifying your business model, navigating
planning, becoming a green business etc.)
Providing business support to 100 businesses (+)
Generated almost £2.5 million from investments and agreed an investment strategy to do even more
Distribution of £30 Million in government grants to support businesses through the Pandemic
Over £2 million in grants paid out to support local Public Houses

7

B) Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in
2021-22 priorities:
Action
B1) Increase the number of Council homes each year to support
people on lower incomes. These will include high energy standards
and renewable energy.

Page 70

B2) Work with local people to set out where and how new homes and
communities will be built across the Greater Cambridge area

Measure
 60 New Homes Completed (acquired or built) this
year (part of a plan to double delivery to 350 over a
five-year period).




B3) Create and continue to run liaison meetings and forums where
significant new developments are being planned to minimise disruption
and help new residents settle in





B4) Improve the energy efficiency of existing Council housing to reduce
carbon impact and running costs



Produce a report assessing feedback provided by
local people from the first Local Plan consultation.
This will inform the next steps in the Local Plan
process (Quarter 1)
Complete and publish a North East Cambridge draft
Area Action Plan for consultation (Quarter 2)
Continue to support the liaison meetings in
Cottenham, Sawston, Hardwick, Caldecote,
Swavesey and Barrington and community forums in
Northstowe, Waterbeach, North-West Cambridge,
Cambridge East and North-East Cambridge
(Quarter 4)
Establish new community forums covering Bourn
and Cambourne West (Quarter 2)
Commission a Stock Condition Survey including an
audit of energy efficiency of existing housing stock
relative to zero carbon target (Quarter 2)
8



B5) Deliver a new sports pavilion, community centre and civic hub
(containing health, library and community facilities) at Northstowe





Approve a work programme for insulation measures
over the next four years to narrow the gap on the
zero-carbon target (Quarter 3)
Produce an Asset Management Plan (Quarter 1)
Submit planning permission for the new sports
pavilion (Quarter 1)
Complete local engagement to understand what the
community wants in the new community centre
(Quarter 2)
Submit planning permission for new Civic Hub
(Quarter 4)

Page 71

Ongoing objectives:









Support the delivery of more affordable housing – including through Combined Authority funding
Promote Neighbourhood Plans and encourage our communities to develop them
Support self-builders to build high quality homes
Focus on the health and wellbeing of our communities through everything we do, in line with our Health and
Wellbeing Strategy
Provide advice and support to prevent homelessness and help vulnerable people in line with our Homelessness
Action Plan
Provide dedicated support to people in receipt of Universal Credit and other welfare support
Work with national, regional and local partners to support the needs of refugees and asylum seekers
Support the self-build community to identify and develop sites across the District.

9

Actions and achievements completed from the 2020-21 Business Plan






Page 72







Completed 43 new Council houses and remain on track to double the number of homes we will build each year by
2024
Signed contracts to deliver over 150 new Council houses
Targeted people who are normally underrepresented in consultations to make sure their voice is heard by going to
where they are to talk to them, rather than expect them to come to us
Invested over £1.5 million in our Council houses to make them more energy efficient
Supported around 1,000 people on benefits who moved to Universal Credit, including providing funding for a coach
to help people into work
Identified housing for five refugee families
Agreed a Homeless Strategy to target support to those in the greatest need
Granted outline planning permission for the first phase of a new town north of Waterbeach
Completed detailed planning guidance for how the new town north of Waterbeach and new village at Bourn Airfield
will develop
Ensured vulnerable tenants were given the support they needed, and linked into other services available, to help
them cope during the pandemic

10

C) Being green to our core
2021-22 priorities:
Action
C1) In response to the global climate crisis we will continue to
work towards a zero-carbon future by 2050

Measure
In line with our Zero Carbon Strategy, we will


Page 73





C2) Work with partners to protect and enhance the
environment with the aim of doubling nature

identify and deliver further opportunities to reduce carbon
emissions from our estate and operations
o review community rooms and other small sites to
identify and deliver opportunities for carbon reduction
o investigate options to reduce carbon emissions from
business mileage including salary sacrifice electric
car scheme for staff (end of Quarter 2 for an
assessment of options)
develop planning policies consistent with zero carbon by
2050 for adoption in the Greater Cambridge Local Plan, in
partnership with Cambridge City Council
identify and deliver opportunities to install publicly
accessible electric vehicle charge points in priority locations
in the district, working with partners (Quarter 4)
continue to pursue opportunities to invest in green energy
schemes

As outlined in our Doubling Nature Strategy, we will


identify and deliver new opportunities to plant trees,
establish wildflower strips and in other ways enhance
nature on our own estate, in consultation with residents
11







Page 74

C3) Retrofit our Council Commercial Property including South
Cambs Hall with renewable energy generation and energy
efficiency measures






C4) Continue to transition to Electric recycling and waste
vehicles, including the investigation of on-site solar panel
energy generation



C5) Support Parish Council and community group projects to
reduce reliance on fossil fuels, move toward the zero-carbon
target and help Double Nature through habitat enhancement,






work to ensure that development in South Cambridgeshire
contributes to the goal of doubling nature by developing
planning policies for adoption in the Greater Cambridge
Local Plan, and by adopting a new Biodiversity
Supplementary Planning Document in partnership with
Cambridge City Council (Biodiversity SPD Quarter 3)
work with partners to develop landscape-scale habitat
creation projects
Complete a survey of all trees on council owned open
spaces (Quarter 3)
Deliver ‘6 Free Trees’ initiative (Quarter 3)
Complete retrofit of Cambourne office (Quarter 3)
Reduce mains gas and electricity demands from our
Cambourne office by over 50% per year (from March 2021
onwards compared to baseline in 2019).
Reduce carbon emissions from our Cambourne office by
47% compared to the baseline in 2019 (Quarter 4)
Undertake energy efficiency and generation audits of other
Council owned commercial properties (Quarter 4)
Implement depot changes to prepare for electric refuse
collection vehicle (eRCV) charging (Quarter 4)
Procure 5 eRCVs to replace diesel version (Ongoing)
Develop outline business case for on-site solar panel
energy generation with partners (Quarter 4)
Deliver a third round of funding through our Zero Carbon
Communities grant scheme, awarding grants totalling
£100,000 to community-based projects (Quarter 4)
12

advisory support for community land acquisition, local green
space designation and tree-planting



Continue to strengthen the Zero Carbon Parish and
Community Network through our programme of workshops,
web-based resources and e-bulletins for community-based
zero carbon and nature recovery initiatives (Quarter 4)

C6) Upgrade our stock of 1,800 streetlights to LED, which will
reduce energy consumption and save Parish Councils money
C7) Agree and deliver our strategy and actions needed to
protect and improve the air quality of our district



Install energy saving LED fittings in all council owned
streetlights (Quarter 4)
Strategy and action plan revised (Quarter 1)
Air quality monitor in place to gather data at one new
location (Quarter 1)
Complete a review of how and where we monitor air quality
(Quarter 2)





Page 75

C8) Improve recycling and reduce waste at community events




C9) Run an information campaign to help reduce the amount
of food waste in the black bin






C10) Reduce the amount of non-recyclable household waste
collected



Publish a resource toolkit for community groups and parish
councils (Quarter 1)
Equipment and information kit to minimise and separate
recycling at community events available (Quarter 1)
Continue with extended weekly separate food waste
collection trial (Quarter 3)
Develop feasible plan for wider role out of separate food
waste collection in line with Environment Bill and National
Waste Strategy (Quarter 3)
Undertake waste compositional analysis to identify food
waste in bins (Quarter4)
Waste prevention and reduction campaign

13

Ongoing objectives:






Page 76







Promote walking, cycling and public transport improvements through planning decisions and by working with local
communities and partners
Influence the planning of new major transport routes, such as the proposed East West rail line, to ensure the
environment is fully considered and a net gain to natural capital is delivered
Support home owners to upgrade historic building environmental performance through planning advice and
guidance
Promote effective implementation of supplementary planning guidance supporting low carbon developments
Strengthen the ability for local communities to deliver on local environmental ambitions and priorities included in the
Zero Carbon and Doubling Nature Strategies
Work with communities and partners to combat environmental crimes, such as fly-tipping
Reduce waste and raise awareness by promoting recycling
Deter fly-tipping at locations where it happens frequently
Encourage the expansion of electric vehicle charging points across our sub-contractors and partners
Explore the expansion of electric vehicle charging points in sheltered housing schemes

Actions and achievements completed from the 2020-21 Business Plan








Held a local Climate Summit
Provide £100,000 to community and voluntary groups through the Zero Carbon Communities grant and support
programme.
Completion of all non-HRA street lights upgrade to LED
Achieve 60% reduction in energy consumption of streetlighting for Parish Councils (quarter 4)
Awarded around £300,000 of funding to help local communities – including launching our new zero carbon grant
scheme
Ran an anti-flytipping campaign that reached over 40,000 people
Expanded our commercial waste to deliver an extra £50,000 income
14






Improved the way we plan our street sweeping and introduced a system so residents know when we will be coming to
their area
Created a new planning document that encourages development to be more environmentally friendly
One electric bin lorry and two small vans operating on fleet
We have also installed 4 additional charge points for staff/visitors at Waterbeach depot

D) A modern and caring Council
2021-22 priorities:

Page 77

Action
D1) Make sure that the Council is structured and
appropriately resourced to deliver the ambitions of our
communities

Measure
 Complete 3 service reviews as part of a plan to
complete reviews of all services by 2023
 Review employment policies relating to recruitment and
retention (Quarter 3)

D2) Review recruitment processes to attract and retain the
best talent and ensure that we are an employer of choice






Complete and analyse an annual staff satisfaction
survey and review our benefits package (Quarter 4)
Increase the number of job applications from people
from under-represented groups from 2019-20 levels
(Quarter 4)
Achieve Level 2 of the Disability confident standard
(Quarter 4)
Review Apprenticeship Strategy for existing staff and
new staff to include under-represented groups and care
leavers (Quarter 2)

15

D3) Generate income through delivering the Council’s
investment strategy



D4) Make it easier for customers to access and carry out
transactions online

 Make an additional 10 services available for customers
to self-serve online (Quarter 3)
 Provide a portal for businesses to access SCDC online
services (Quarter 3)

D5) Council and committee meetings will be run paper-free 
wherever possible

Page 78

D6) Work with communities to tackle issues that are
affecting them locally

Income from investments and other commercial activity
to be at least 25% of our Taxation and Central
Government Grant income by 2023/24.

Councillors to be provided with an option for paper-free
Council and committee meetings (Quarter 2)

 Create a resourced Council support package to help
communities identify the issues they want to address
and how they could do it (Quarter 1)
 Co-create and agree flood plans with communities in
the 13 most impacted areas of the district to help
minimise the impact in future (Quarter 2)
 Support 150 new clients through the housing
departments visiting support service (Quarter 4)
 Provide the lifeline service to 100 new users during the
year
 To spend £500,000 in total in the form of disabled
facilities grant and repairs grant to allow people to live
independently and safely in their homes (Quarter 4)
 Prevent homelessness for at least 50% of the people
who approach us who are at risk of becoming homeless
throughout the year
16

 Continue the proactive working relationship with the job
centre in delivering mentoring circles plus upskilling and
cross training initiatives throughout the year
D7) - Ensuring that our homes are safe places for our
tenants and their families.

 100% compliance with landlord safety checks to council
housing including, electrical safety, gas installations
and where appropriate fire risk assessments and water
safety tests

Ongoing objectives:

Page 79







Expand and grow our commercial services
Provide grants to community and voluntary groups to help them carry out projects to benefit local people and the
environment
Develop and support Councillors and officers to ensure that they can best serve our communities
Create an organisational culture to deliver continuous improvement
Recognise the potential implications for those struggling with ‘Long Covid’ in our communities, and offer support
working with our parish councils and community groups, wherever required

Actions and achievements completed from the 2020-21 Business Plan





Worked with public sector partners and a network of parish councils and voluntary groups to support the most
vulnerable people in the district and our businesses throughout the response phases of the Covid-19 pandemic
Successfully filled at least 70% of jobs advertised through first round of recruitment
Completed and analysed an annual staff satisfaction survey and reviewed our benefits package (Updated and
published the council’s Equality Scheme
Achieved Level 1 of the Disability confident standard
17





Paper free cabinet meetings were held in Quarter 4 2020 2021 – Cabinet mtg 18 Jan 2021 and 3 February 2021
7 new Mobile warden schemes delivered
Raised awareness of key events and weeks throughout the year to help promote equality and deliver on our business
plan objectives – these include Holocaust memorial day, LGBTQ+ History Month, Climate fortnight and Black History
Month

Page 80

Note: All Measures include a completion date by quarter of the financial year.
Quarter 1 – April to June
Quarter 2 – July to September
Quarter 3 – October to December
Quarter 4 – January to March

18

Agenda Item 12

Report to:

Cabinet

Lead Cabinet Member:

Cllr Bill Handley – Lead Cabinet Member for
Community Resilience, Health and Wellbeing

Lead Officer:

Jeff Membery – Head of Transformation

22 March 2021

Naming report for the new town at Waterbeach
Key Decision
1.

No

Recommendations
2. It is recommended that Cabinet note the contents of this report and agree the
engagement process that the two master developers will follow - at paragraphs 11
and 12 - to gather feedback and opinion on the name of the new town north of
Waterbeach. Cabinet is asked to agree the final step in the process, whereby
Cabinet are required to take the final decision on the name of the new town
following the period of engagement.
Reasons for Recommendations
3. Based on the precedent set at Northstowe, it is believed that a final decision

made by the District Council will ensure the name of the new town has been fully
tested and based on the findings of robust local engagement.
4. To ensure the District Council can confidently take the decision, it is suggested

that Cabinet first validate the process by which the developers will execute the
period of engagement.

Details
Cambourne and Northstowe
5. Cambourne was named by the developers following their own period of
engagement. They had promoted the village, which is now formally a town, under
the name of Cambourne. The engagement carried out did not show Cambourne
as the favoured name for the new village, but it was chosen by the developers.
6. Northstowe was named by the District Council following a period of engagement.
Northstowe was the clear favourite. The final recommendation was taken to
Cabinet for resolution.

Page 81

A collaborative approach
7. The engagement activity defined in paragraph 11 and 12 sets out the process by

which the developers will engage with the local community and key stakeholders
to arrive at the most appropriate name.
8. This is not a statutory process but, through conversations with legal, it was

suggested we use the phases of engagement used in a Community Governance
Review to give a clear and well-developed structure to the period of engagement.
This process has been designed and supported by all key stakeholders:
Urban&Civic (U&C), RLW Estates, Waterbeach Parish Council, local elected
District and County Councillors with support from South Cambridgeshire District
Council Communities Team.
9. It is felt that the timing of pursuing the name, and indeed the identity, for the new
town is appropriate due to the western half of the new town now having outline
planning permission and the eastern half having recently received a resolution to
grant outline planning permission, subject to the signing of the Section 106
agreement.
10. Urban&Civic received outline planning permission, for their half of the town, in
September 2019. They are currently approaching the submission of their first
residential planning application and it is integral to their promotion and delivery of
the site that there is a strong name that is supported locally.
11. The process and timescales are described in the table below Stage of
process
Stage 1
Review
Stage 2

Final
review &
submission

Dates

Detail

1 April – 12 May
(6 weeks)
13 May – 26 May
(2 weeks)

Consultation on name of town and on U&C wider
naming strategy
Review of submissions and formulation of preferred
options
Consultation on preferred options including a number
of targeted workshops with 3 key stakeholder groups:
27 May – 7 July
 Parish, County and District Councillors
(6 weeks)
 Heritage Groups
 Youth Representatives
Review of feedback and recommendations put
July Cabinet TBC forward to Cabinet for final decision

12. Due to government guidelines surrounding the coronavirus pandemic, methods
used for engagement will be mostly virtual and will include virtual workshops, a
dedicated webpage, newsletters / e-news and social media / public relations. At
the request of the Waterbeach Parish Council they have agreed to include a mail
drop to the village.
13. Due to the planned schedule of meetings for Cabinet over the summer period, it
will be necessary to hold an additional meeting of Cabinet in late July to agree the

Page 82

name for the new town. To allow U&C to begin to promote their first residential
development it is not possible to wait until the planned Cabinet meeting on 1
September.

Options
1. To accept, with no alterations, the recommendation set out in paragraph 2 of this
report, thereby affirming the process and accepting that the final decision will be
taken by Cabinet.
2. To accept, with alterations, the recommendation set out in paragraph 2 of this
report, thereby affirming the process and accepting that the final decision will be
taken by Cabinet.
3. To dismiss the recommendations set out in paragraph 2 of this report.

Implications
14. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk,
equality and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following
implications have been considered: Legal
15. There are no statutes that govern the naming of new towns or villages.
Precedents have been set by Northstowe and Cambourne in the past and it has
been agreed by the master developers and local stakeholders that this is the most
appropriate course of action for the new town at Waterbeach.
Risks/Opportunities
16. There is a risk that either of the partners reject the final decision made by
Cabinet. This risk is extremely low as all key stakeholders have confirmed their
support for this process.
17. There is an opportunity to establish the vision and identity of the new town at
Waterbeach by meaningful collaboration between key stakeholders.

Background Papers
Naming the New Town, June 2003 http://moderngov/documents/s2170/New%20Town%20Name.pdf
Naming the New Town, Sept 2003 http://moderngov/documents/s1497/Naming%20of%20New%20Town.pdf

Appendices
Appendix A: Waterbeach New Town Naming Consultation

Page 83

Report Author:
Ryan Coetsee - Development Officer, Sustainable Communities and Wellbeing
Email: ryan.coetsee@scambs.gov.uk
Telephone: 07395 283 217

Page 84

March 2021
Revision B

D

A
R

T
F

Waterbeach

Settlement Name and
Place Naming Consultation
Page 85

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

1

Contents
Introduction

3

Place and Street Naming Strategy 		 Development and Consultation Process

		
5

Section 1 Naming the Settlement

6

Historical Overview

6

Origins and Connections

9

Naming New Communities
		 Case Study: Milton Keynes
Page 86

Section 2 Place Naming Within
the New Development

2

Introduction

12

14

References and Influences

14

References and Potential Names: Historical

18

References and Potential Names: Biodiversity

24

Part 1: Naming the Settlement (QA)

25

Part 2: Local Place Naming (QB)

25

Questionnaire A

27

Questionnaire B

29

With the development of Waterbeach New
Town moving forward as an allocated and
consented part of South Cambridgeshire
District Council’s Local Plan, we are now
undertaking consultation on the name of the
new town and seeking input to a ‘repository’
of useful references and potential names
for places within the new town, which will be
designed and built over the years ahead.

It has been prepared by the developers,
with the agreement of South
Cambridgeshire District Council, and will
enable a final recommendation of the
approach to be agreed by the District
Council later this year, and a framework to
then be in place by which naming can be
guided as the development rolls out over
the next few years.

This document provides guidance and
information to assist consultees and
stakeholders in responding to the two
separate parts of the consultation exercise.

Opportunities also exist, going forward,
to explore the heritage of the place and
consider naming approaches for other
aspects of infrastructure which impact
on the development and local area.
This includes roundabouts on the A10,
which support the broader place making
approach. The feedback on the principles
and approaches set out here, will support
the approach partners take with this going
forward.

This consultation document is also in two
sections and asks for comments in two
separate sections on:
1. The naming of the New Town as a
whole, and in combination with the
existing settlement of Waterbeach.
2. Names for streets and public spaces,
walking loops and play areas within the
new development. This section focusses
on the Barracks and Airfield part of the
development, which is more advanced
than the details for Waterbeach New
Town East. It proposes an approach
based on the heritage and ecology
of specific character areas within the
development, and suggests a series
of names which could be used under
this framework. Views are asked to
shape the approach and the specific
details of names coming forward. This
will also support RLW in developing
the approaches they take as they move
forward the Resolution to Grant outline
planning permission in February 2021.

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

3

Place and Street Naming StrategyDevelopment and Consultation Process
1. Process and Timing
The process will have 2 key stages and last 14 weeks, starting 1st April and completing
7th July. Timings and details of these are set out below:

Stage of
process

Dates

Detail

Stage 1

1 April – 12 May
(6 weeks)

Consultation on name of town and on wider
naming strategy for streets and places within
the Barracks part of the development.

Review

13 May – 26 May
(2 week)

Review of submissions and formulation of
preferred options

Page 87

Stage 2

Final
review &
submission

27 May – 7 July
(6 weeks)

July Cabinet Date
TBC

Consultation on preferred options including
a number of targeted workshops with 3 key
stakeholder groups:
•

Parish, County and District Councillors

•

Heritage Groups

•

Youth Representatives

Review of feedback and recommendations
put forward to South Cambridgeshire District
Council Cabinet for final decision

2. Promotion and engagement
There will be a number of key approaches to ensure an inclusive and proactive approach
to engaging people in this consultation, over the 2 stages, as set out on the next page:

4

Stage 1: Wider Community
Consultation
Wider stakeholders and the communities
around the development will be consulted
through the following means to inform the
stages set out above.
Door drop of the consultation document
to residents of Waterbeach and
Chittering to mark the first stage of the
consultation. These will include “cut off”
return questionnaires with return boxes
at locations in the village and a freepost
return envelope.
• An online consultation portal will
provide a digital space for feedback with
the same information from the document
and questions set out on web pages. This
will also offer hard copies on request.
The consultation will be promoted through:
• Newsletter / e-news: The Urban&Civic
newsletter is door dropped to
Waterbeach, Chittering, Landbeach
and Horningsea residents, and U&C’s
e-newsletter goes to subscribers signed
up for information updates through
previous consultation events or through
the website.
• Social media and PR: Press
releases to local media and use of
social media by both developers and
South Cambridgeshire District Council
will promote the consultation and
opportunities to engage with and access
it.
• Face-to-face / Webinars: Two webinars
will be hosted by the developers to
answer questions and promote the
consultation. Comments given during
these sessions will be recorded as
feedback.
The review stage will include an opportunity
to check if any issues occurred in Stage 1,
and factor in any additional targeted work
needed. This will be agreed by the developers
and South Cambridgeshire District Council.
•

Stage 2: Workshops
The reviewed options will be shared on the
online portal and anyone who took part in
Stage 1 will be contacted to comment on the
preferred options being progressed.
Alongside that, workshops will be held
with the themes and groups set out below.
These represent 3 core strands: democratic
representation of the current residents of the
village and the wider area; the long view of
history, which is vital in establishing places with
historical integrity for the future; and the voice
of young people who represent that future. The
workshops will therefore include:
Elected and community representatives:
Waterbeach Parish Councillors, District
and County Councillors, and nominated
representatives from Landbeach and
Horningsea;
• Heritage representatives: Members of
the existing Waterbeach Heritage Group1
and representatives from Cambridge Past,
Present and Future;
• The Youth Voice: a workshop with
Waterbeach Action for Youth, with input
from local schools, which will be supported
and facilitated by Form the Future.
Write-ups from each stage of the consultation,
including the workshops, will be shared on
the website along with the final submission
recommendation report. These documents will
form the submission to SCDC Cabinet.
•

Members include The Waterbeach Military
Heritage Museum Trust, Denny Abbey
Farmland Museum, Historic England and
English Heritage, National Trust (Wicken Fen
team), Waterbeach Parish Council, South
Cambridgeshire District Council Heritage
and planning representation, County Council
Heritage and Culture representation,
Landbeach Parish Council and Tithe Barn
Trust.
1

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

5

Section 1 Naming the Settlement
Historical Overview
Waterbeach as a name
Waterbeach appears in the 1086 Domesday
Book as Utbech and the connection and
differences between Landbeach and
Waterbeach have been a fundamental
defining factor throughout the centuries.
The area defined by the name has been
consistent due to natural and historic
features: stretching to the River Cam to the
east, Car Dyke and Akeman Street to the
west. The northern boundary with Denny
Abbey and Chittering to the north links to
drainage ditch divisions with their roots in
the 12th to 13th Century.

Page 88

The boundaries remained consistent
throughout the drainage of the fens,
enclosure and the hundreds of years
of farming, living and working that has
occurred across this area. The only
subdivision of this land came with the
Second World War and the subsequent
use of part of the allocated area as first an
Airfield for the RAF ‘(as RAF Waterbeach)’
and then in the 1960s the Royal Engineers,
updating the name to Waterbeach Barracks.

The military legacy is important here:
wartime and postwar activities leave behind
barracks buildings and the airfield but more
significantly more deep rooted connections
in the form of the Memorial Garden by the
lake, graves in the Village Cemetery, and
the Waterbeach Military Heritage Museum.
These bind the link between the Barracks
and village. Alongside that the nature of
the Barracks meant that many village
residents were regular visitors and users of
the facilities, notably the Swimming Pool,
the Sports Hall, Golf Course and Lake.
The Royal Engineers were in turn actively
involved in supporting the village, with
events like the Feast, and many veterans
remain in touch and share memories which
is helping inform recording of the heritage of
the site and influencing future approaches
set out in this strategy.
This interaction has been a key theme
recounted in residents’ stories of when the
Barracks was operational.
Similarly the land to the East that makes
up Waterbeach New Town East, has been
farmed continuously through this period,
almost exclusively by local families.

Waterbeach New Town in the planning
context
Unusually, the new town has not been
subject to the same processes as the
aborted “Mereham”, or the delivery of
Cambourne or Northstowe – where a new
name and identity was established at an
early stage and carried through to provide
the moniker for the new community on the
ground. The early promotion of Northstowe
was linked to several existing places, not
one - Longstanton and RAF Oakington,
both abutting, and close to Oakington
village and Westwick. It always had its own
identity, hence a new name was adopted.
Cambourne had no close association with
an existing settlement
One reflection on this, is that there has
always been an understanding that the
roots of Waterbeach New Town are in the
existing village, and the ambition from the
initial stages of vision-making, was to “grow
a place, from the existing village”, protecting
and enhancing the village’s historic setting.

•

A quick summary of key planning history
includes:
•

6

•

The development of a new town at
Waterbeach emerged over a long period
as a feature of the planning strategy for
accommodating growth in and around
Cambridge, focused upon a series of
new satellite settlements around the
•
historic city. The nomenclature of ‘new
town’ is important in spatial and planning
policy terms, as it distinguishes the scale
and type of development from other
forms of planned development, such
as extensions to existing settlements.
Very occasionally places adopt ‘new

town’ as a name but the relevance to
identity, rather than planning is limited
– it is generic and new towns become
old towns in short time as experienced
by the post-War New Towns of Welwyn,
Letchworth and Stevenage and indeed
Milton Keynes.
A new town at Waterbeach is allocated
in South Cambridgeshire District
Council’s Local Plan, adopted in 2018.
This allocation is supplemented by the
Waterbeach New Town Supplementary
Planning Document. Throughout the
Local Plan preparation period (from
2011 to 2018) the proposition has been
referred to as ‘Waterbeach New Town’ or
‘a new town at Waterbeach’. In planning
documentation, the allocation of the
new town is consistently distinguished
from Waterbeach village and identified
as encompassing Waterbeach Barracks
and Airfield, and agricultural land to the
east, extending to the railway line.
Through the early stages of the Local
Plan preparation, promoters acting for
the landowners adopted a ‘‘promotional’
identity for their master plan: Denny St
Francis. The name was not adopted in
the Local Plan and is no longer used by
either of the promoters bringing forward
the proposed development – both the
principal promoters now refer to the new
town as Waterbeach.
In shaping detailed planning proposals
for the Waterbeach Barracks and
Airfield and Waterbeach New Town East
(see plan overleaf), the development
promoters have maintained consistent
reference to Waterbeach but also given
names to features of the proposed
development, primarily to assist in

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

7

Origins and Connections

Waterbeach Barracks & Airfield
Waterbeach New Town East
Relocated Waterbeach Railway Station
Waterbeach Village
Waterbeach Parish /Boundary
Other Parish Boundaries

The origin and evolution of place names is
more often than not rooted in physical and
natural features and/or strong associations
with human activity; names invariably relay
a sense of place and history. There is also
a linguistic dimension with names being
shortened/adapted to suit contemporary
language and ease of reference. This tends
to favour simple names that roll off the
tongue, have positive connotations and are
easily spelt/pronounced. The anomalies and
the exceptions are of course notable and
valued where they do not conform to these
conventions.

Page 89

Fanciful names (marketing hyperbole) rarely
sit comfortably upon real places, especially
in circumstances where a new community
is to be created. A sense of belonging is
far more readily achieved by looking to the
existing nomenclature of the location.
Large settlements usually carry the names
of the earliest habitation, the first kernels
of the place, which might have been a
crossing/meeting point, farmstead or small
hamlet. Often there is a pride in a long
history of organic growth and change from a
modest beginning.

description and orientation in the planning
•
application documents. These named places
mostly relate to existing and historic features
which are readily identifiable. There is no
commitment to these names going forward,
but some may be worthy of consideration
where they align with the principles of the
naming strategy, now to be agreed.

8

In naming planned settlements there is
similar comfort and pride in starting with
the existing. There is benefit in terms of
familiarity and identity in adopting the name
of an existing place that will become part of
a larger whole.
This not only resonates with the growth of
organic settlements, grounded in historical
association, but respects the fact that it is
inappropriate and difficult to impose a new
identity on a place that is already known
and familiar. It is important, nevertheless, to
consider the identity of existing places which
become enlarged or incorporated; especially
where those places offer richness, diversity,
and historical touchstones. It is likely
that these places will remain distinct and
identifiable, in their own right.
There is very good precedent for this
approach in planning/naming new
communities.

Within the local community, the active
engagement and participation of villagers
and Waterbeach Parish Council as well
as inclusion of the new town within
the Neighbourhood Plan area, at the
Neighbourhood Plan Body’s request,
reflects the historic Parish boundary
and suggests that the village strongly
associates with and feels ownership of the
new town area.
Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

9

There are a range of other factors that
influence naming which are important to
consider. These are set out below:

a) Who should be deciding upon a
name?

Similarly, care is to be taken not to duplicate
services and facilities available in the
village so mutual benefit and patronage is
maximised.

Page 90

The prospective new development is
very distinct in terms of character from
It is difficult for developers and promoters to
the village, but functional connection and
seek to impose names, especially as they
human interaction will inevitably be very
are often influenced by marketing priorities.
much intertwined, and likely to become
The process must be taken forward with
more so over time. Throughout the scheme
local communities and their representatives,
development and consultation there
and key stakeholders, to agree an approach
was a fine balance which all were keen
which is appropriate. Where places already
to maintain, indeed celebrate, between
have a strong association with a name it
preserving the identity and character of the
is also extremely difficult to effect change;
historic heart of the village, providing new
familiar, regularly used names tend to
facilities and amenities which serve the
persist and attempts to impose change are
village and incoming residents. Good and
resisted or cause division. Names matter
early connections to new facilities and those
beyond the notation on a map because they
in the village has been key. It is important to
are the most obvious signal of identity and
try to think ahead to how the community will
association.
in time relate to the place and each other.

b) A Shared Sense of Ownership 		
and Shared Facilities
The linkage between the village and the
Barracks is a long standing and important
one. The connections between the village
and the proposed development is to be
further reinforced through provision of a
range of new shared facilities which will be
based in or serve the new development, but
will also serve the wider population. These
include:
•
•
•
•

10

The proposed Secondary Schools and
6th Form
The proposed Health Centre
The proposed Rail Station, Park&Ride,
Greenway, bus provision and CAM route
The proposed sports and recreation
facilities

The arc of development which has come to
define the first phase of development on the
Barracks and Airfield site north of the lake,
was part of working through a challenge
from a number of local stakeholders
that first development should happen
directly to the north of the village in the
Barracks, to enable that sense of a growing
village expanding to the north. There are
many reasons why early development
is progressing first around the lake, but
connecting the two areas physically
by connection and culturally with the
Waterbeach community identity has been
important to the village and is key to the
broader shared vision.

c) Transport and Access

Roundabout naming

We know one of the key concerns around
naming comes from traffic management
and control, and therefore while this is not
a clear strand of culture and identity, this
is a key concern around routing people
appropriately to the key locations from
outside the area. This will require a signage
strategy which reflects the broader naming
strategy, when agreed, and avoids harmful
impacts from traffic mistakenly diverting
through the village.

The approach to naming also provides an
opportunity to review key connections to
the wider infrastructure, for example looking
at naming roundabouts on the A10 at key
entrance points. This would not only enable
clarity but also create a sense of place,
which will introduce a fine grained distinction
between different parts of the settlement.
For example, what has become known as
Cambridge Research Park Roundabout
by default, could become Templars or
St Clare’s, and the planned Southern
Roundabout connection on the A10 should
come forward with a name which grounds it
in its location and the places it connects.

The opportunity to sign and put in place
gateway features on Denny End Road,
Cambridge Road and Clayhithe Road
which clearly mark the historic village can
come forward as part of the public realm
enhancements project, being funded by the
S106 agreements.
Signage
New entrances being installed on the A10
have limited vehicle access to the village
in the first instance. Furthermore both
developments have committed to traffic
control measures being in place which
prioritise cycle, walking and public transport
connections to the village, and inhibit
vehicular access.
These new entrances will also be heavily
signed as construction entrances and then
with signs, branding and flags to support
the first house sales as the new homes
move into sales and then are occupied. At
that stage the more permanent signage
approach will need to be in place.
This will also relate to signing access to
Waterbeach New Town East - which will be
through the Barracks and Airfield site.

d)

Governance

The existing governance implies that the
whole area is Waterbeach, given that this
entire area is covered by Waterbeach Parish
Council. This will continue in the short and
medium term with a community governance
review likely to come forward once the first
residents are in place. The potential remains
for a Community Association or Trust
to be taken forward with early residents
to support their active engagement in
community events, activities and spaces
on the new development, while discussions
continue to ensure appropriate future
robust governance which can support the
shared facilities across the new and existing
communities.

The questionnaire for this first section of
the consultation is available on p27.

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

11

Naming New Communities

Case Study: Milton Keynes
Naming a planned settlement is an
interesting challenge, but an important
one to get right. It helps to reinforce
character and ground a new community.
Experience in Milton Keynes offers
some useful and direct parallels with
circumstances around the new town
at Waterbeach. Although it was a
designated new town of significant
scale (substantially bigger than the
Waterbeach new town) and is now a selfproclaimed city, the approach to naming is
transferable.

Page 91

The designated area of Milton Keynes
incorporated great swathes of countryside
but also infilled between four existing
towns and incorporated many characterful
Buckinghamshire villages. The historic
villages each became the focus of a new
grid square with sensitive and varied
approach to integration.
The city was named after one of these
villages. Historically, the village was known
as Middeltone (11th century). After the
Norman invasion, the de Cahaines family
held the manor within the village until the
13th century.

‘Milton Keynes’ existed as a village long
before the new town, and became part of
the greater whole. With its own signposts
and gateway features, the village has
maintained a sense of sense of distinct
from the larger new development, without
creating a divided place. The example
there has ensured the older village has
developed a positive reputation as a
premium location, with historic properties
and character, but good access to
facilities and amenities of the new town.

12

The village became known as Middleton
de Keynes, eventually being shortened
to Milton Keynes. The city grid square in
which the village is now located was named
Middleton, with reference back to this time.

In deciding upon the name for the new city
Labour Minister Dick Crossman apparently
alighted on the village when looking at the
map and noted the parallel with John Milton,
the poet, and John Maynard Keynes, the
economist. This provided a firm connection
with the existing place combined with an
expression of ambition in terms of “planning
with economic sense and idealism”. It suited
very well.
The village has retained a distinct identity
within the city. It is known as Milton Keynes
Village within Middleton grid square. It
is a very desirable and popular place to
live (reflected in elevated property values)
combining a quaint village character with city
amenities on the doorstep.

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

13

Section 2 Place Naming Within
the New Development
References and Influences
Beyond naming the settlement itself, there is
a great deal of further work to do to design,
deliver and name places within the new
development. This will be a collaborative
process and an ongoing task over the years
ahead. It is helpful to begin to assemble
useful references, sources and think about
appropriate influences.

Page 92

Delivery of the Barracks and Airfield is
more advanced than on Waterbeach New
Town East. The Urban&Civic team (U&C)
- who are bringing forward the Barracks
and Airfield development on behalf of the
Defence Infrastructure Organisation - is
engaged in detailed design and the first
parcel developers are now working on
reserved matters applications. Place naming
is therefore an imminent consideration.
Over the following pages the U&C team
present the work undertaken so far to
gather relevant references and influences.
Sharing these tangible examples
should help to both test the principles
and approach taken to date with wider
stakeholders and communities; and enable
an ongoing discussion, with stakeholders,
promoters and the community contributing
ideas and information.

14

Input and ideas for the whole new town
are very welcome now or over the months
ahead, and can be forwarded at any time to
the following address:
waterbeach@urbanandcivic.com
Consultees are also to be invited now to
respond to Questionnaire B, just in relation
to the Barracks and Airfield site.
In time, RLW will undertake a similar
exercise, to inform their first detailed
proposals. The reference material can then
be brought together into one resource.
The reference resource which is presented
here will expand with consultee responses
and RLW input over time and will become
an important source of information to draw
on as the development moves forward. The
District Council and stakeholders will also
now consider a protocol for proposing and
approving place names. This process will
be set out in an update to this document, in
due course.

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

15

Capturing the history and ecology of
Waterbeach in the naming strategy
The land of Waterbeach has a rich history
which straddles centuries of uses, families
and stories: through Saxon and Roman,
to medieval farming, the draining of the
Fens, and up to twentieth century military
history. All of this is present in the historic
and future layout of the development, and
in the uniquely rich landscape which is
the legacy of those historic influences.
Opposite is a map of the suggested themes
and approaches which start to define the
character of new areas coming forward
within the plans for Waterbeach Barracks
and Airfield.

Page 93

The map uses the character areas defined
in the Design Access Statement (of the
Outline) to set out some core themes,
within which we would seek to martial a list
of appropriate names and test these with
key stakeholders and the wider community.
The potential list of names that could sit
within each of these areas is attached below
grouped into 4 key areas, which reflect the
military, agricultural heritage and ecological
connections highlighted below in more
detail.
These names have the potential to cover
street names, names for civic squares and
areas, parks and play areas, woodland
areas and glades. They also include specific
options which could be applied to buildings
or civic uses, but it is suggested this is
explored through further consultation as
detailed designs move forward.

52.2656º N, 0.12910º E

Waterbeach Barracks and Airfield
Outline Planning Application

1 Barracks: Royal Engineers

Some features have already been given
“working titles” through inclusion in the
Design Code, or other planning documents
including:

The area already has a strong character
name. The streets could further be
named after the high ranking officers of
the regiment. The name given to the
Royal Engineers - ‘Sappers’ - could
further be used to rename the Parade
Ground, as part of the naming strategy
for the civic centre or alternatively for the
water tower.

The Causeway - An inherited feature that
historically provided a movement route
from Waterbeach Village to Denny Abbey:
the current “working title” for this is Denny
Causeway.
Runway Parklands - two large landscape
elements of the site and low-density
housing, which could evolve into named
areas.
“Rye Gardens” - a proposed community
open space with a vista of Denny Abbey.
‘Rye’ denotes the grass crop previously
grown at Denny Abbey gardens.

2 Runway Parklands: 514 and
99 Squadron

5
Historical
connections

2
514 and 99
Squadron

6
Historic
Farms

4

The street names of this area could
pick up on the RAF based surnames
from both the 514 and 99 Squadrons;
the names could also incorporate the
roles of Officers (e.g. ‘Thomson
Signals’). The park features could also
reflect the aircraft; either the primary
planes flown from the runway or the
designers.

Natural Features

3 Middle Field: Bomber
Command + Missions
1
Royal
Engineers

3
Bomber Command
+ Missions

Winfold or Winfold Common- a proposed
wetland area, the name relating to the
existing woodland of Winfold Green and the
former Winfold Farm. Winfold Common was
a former pasture in the 1800s.

The southern runway links strongly to
the RAF. This could potentially be named
after Stafford-Clark who was bomber
command during WWII. Alternatively the
Control Tower could incorporate his
surname. Street names in the area could
reflect veterans linked to raids, in
particular those who did not return or
grouped into further areas based upon
their final raid.

4 Lakeside: Natural Features
The lake itself could have a military
based name, however the other areas
could juxtapose the man-made lake
with natural connections. Denny Waters
and
Car-Dyke
are
appropriate
inspiration whilst the other named
features could relate to species located
at the lakeside or wider landscape
features.

5 Denny/Lakeside North:
Historical connections

Character areas/ neighbourhood diagram

* New names for the Character Areas could also be formed from the naming lists

Waterbeach Naming Strategy - Draft Proposals
We propose to use the Character Areas to provide a focus and
framework for street and place names, which have historic or
ecological integrity and relevance.

The area’s relationship with Denny
Abbey indicates that the street naming
for the151area should relate to the Abbey
itself or make links to its monastic
heritage and pilgrimage connections.

6 Winfold: Historic Farms
The character areas association with
Winfold Farm and proposed uses as a
wetland
area
lends
itself
to
incorporating former historic farm
names.

Lists of example names which reflect these areas are set out
over the following pages.

16

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

17

References and Potential Names: Historical
Potential names set out
below for:
1) Barracks, Runway
Parklands and Middle
Field
2) Lakeside
3) Lakeside North / Denny
Parklands
4) Winfold

•

•
•
•

1) Naming lists for the
Barracks, Runway
Parklands and
Middle Field: Military
Associations

Page 94

RAF
Commanding officers (all
Sqns): (Sourced from
military records/ dedicated
web page to 514 Sqn)
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

18

Park
Bell
Saye
Sharpe
Heard
Lea-Cox
Stringer
Hyde
Jones
Mount
Donaldson
Chacksfield
Dutton
Topham
Clerke
Earnshaw

•
•

Stafford-Clark –
Bomber Command at
Waterbeach during
WWII
Dixon-Wright DFC
(Sqn 99)
Heath (Sqn 99)
Samson (Sqn 514) –
Battle of Berlin and
build up to D-Day;
Samson survived
the war itself, only
to be killed on 8th
September 1945
when flying a Dakota
carrying sick POWs
recently released from
Japanese captivity.
The aircraft exploded
just off the coast of
Burma with the loss
of all 4 crew and 24
passengers.
Best (Sqn 59)
Cochrane (Sqn 220)

Other Senior Officers
and their speciality
(November 1943, 514
Sqn)
•
•
•
•
•
•

Croston (Electrical
Officer)
Angus (Bombing
Leader)
Wand (Engineer)
Hall (Engineering
Leader)
Thomson (Signals
Leader)
Trick (Specialist/
Instruments)

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bowen (Specialist/
Instruments)
Beckett (Navigation
Officer)
Stevens (Adjutant)
Reid (A Flight
Commander)
Roberts (B Flight
Commander)
Lemerle (Medical
Officer)
Pollock (Gunnery
Officer)

Aircraft
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Vickers Wellington
(Primary plane for 99
Sqn; made by VickersArmstrongs; designed
by Barnes Wallis)
Short S29 Stirling
Avro Lancaster
(Primary plane for 514
Sqn; made by Avro,
formerly Handley Page
Halifax; designed by
Roy Chadwick)
Consolidated Liberator
B24 (59 Sqn post-war)
Avro 685 York (postwar)
Douglas Dakota C47
(220 Sqn post-war)
Avro 691 Lancastrian
Gloster Meteor
Vickers Supermarine
Swift
Hawker Hunter
De Havilland DH112
Venom
Gloster Javelin

Mottos

High ranking Officers

•

Commanders, 39 Regt and
52 Field Squadron:

•
•

RAF station - In courage
I aim the highest – flores
virtute capesso
514 Squadron - Nothing
can withstand -Nil
Obstare Potest
99 Squadron - Each
tenacious - Quisque
tenax

Army (Royal Engineers –
25 & 39 Regiment)
RE’s are widely known
as ‘Sappers’ or ‘Miners’;
Sappers or Miners Barracks
is potential character area
name.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Clifford
Drake
Carlier
Noble
Brent
Adamson
Bowen
Daly
Day
Greenall
Elgood
Cowtan MBE
Hart
Berry
Noble – opened the
Memorial Gardens in
2009
Phillips
Adamson
McGill
Girling
McKay
Macdonald-Smith
Homan
Lee
Palmer
Boyne
Shaw
Heath
Corp
Besgrove
Croucher
Tetlow
Willams
McCall
Boswell

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

Operations (39 Regiment):
•
•
•
•
•
•

Resonite – South Oman
Telic – Iraq
Herrick – Afghanistan
Gritrock – West Africa
(post 2012)
Trenton – West Africa
(post 2012)
Newcombe – Mali (post
2012)

19

2. Naming list for the
Lakeside: landscape
heritage
Military deaths, sourced
from Waterbeach Roll of
Honour
Surnames from 99
Squadron and final raid
location (from WW2; did not
return home and no known
graves):

Page 95

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

20

Allport – Antwerp
Bennett – Rotterdam
Bennetts – Berlin
Colpitts – Portland
Dance – Antwerp
Harding - Berlin
Hewitson – Rotterdam
Holt – Rotterdam
Jackson – Berlin
James -Rotterdam
Kay – Mannheim
Kay – Antwerp
Lewis – Mannheim
Mahon – Mannheim
Mc Donough – Antwerp
Mercer – Berlin
Parry – Genoa
Partridge – Mannheim
Pinkerton – Antwerp
Shattock – Portland
Smith – Portland
Smith – Berlin
Soden – Mannheim
Stevens – Rotterdam
Talbot – Berlin
Thomas – Portland
Thomas – Rotterdam
Westbrook – Mannheim

RAF personnel buried at
Waterbeach (Surnames)
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Adams
Baldwin
Benfield
Benigan
Caris
Darbyshire
Eccles
Eva
Fordham
Hewitt
Jones
Kerr
Kyte
O’Brien
O’Hare
Pavey
Prior
Rumbo
Savoy
Street
Svehla
Yeats – 56 Squadron
Leader (most senior
officer buried in
Waterbeach Cemetery)

Surnames of victims of
Waterbeach explosion
1944
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bichard
Bolton
Brewer
Davies
Haydn
Leach
Smales
Watson
Westgarth

Surnames of losses from
514 squadron

*sourced RAAF archives/514
web page
• Lucas - MU Gunner
Evaded – Mannheim
raid (remained hidden in
Brussels till Liberation)
• Fontaine - Bomb Aimer
KIA - Mannheim raid
• Brent - Navigator KIA Mannheim raid
• Stagg - Flight Engineer
KIA - Mannheim raid
• Haines RAAF - Rear
Gunner POW Mannheim raid
• Cantin, RCAF, Pilot KIA Berlin raid
• Saddler, Navigator KIA Berlin raid
• Eyre, MU Gunner KIA Berlin raid
• Walne, Rear Gunner KIA
- Berlin raid
• King, Flight Engineer
KIA - Berlin raid
• /O PJK Hood (Pilot)
POW – Nuremburg raid
• Cosgrove (Navigator)
POW - Nuremburg raid
• Wilton (Air Bomber)
POW¬- Nuremburg raid
• Rollings (WOP/Air) POW
- Nuremburg raid
• Lanthier USAAF
(Rear Gunner) POW Nuremburg raid
• Wickson (Flight
Engineer) POW ¬Nuremburg raid

Landscape features/
names from surrounding
area

*where the name denotes
a pre-existing place, the
name could be split or
varied to make reference to
the feature.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Elmney Closes (c.1810)
Challis Frith (c.1810)
Oxpen Meadow
(c.1810)
Stone Hills (c.1810)
High Meadow (c.1810)
Bannold – Little, Great
(c.1810)
Sheep Ley (c.1810)
Wulfholes (Winfold
Field) (c.1810)
Haverstock (c.1810)
Great Hollow (c.1810)
Joist Fen (c.1810)
Fear Fen (c.1810)
Chittering Fen (c.1810)
Wicken Fen
Peat Fen
Western Claylands
Tythe (Barn) – Medieval
feature
Cam Washes – (‘The
Washes’ could form an
area name)
Woburn Sands –
geological formation
Gault – geological
formation
Alder – tree
Ouse Valley

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

21

3. Naming list for Denny/
Lakeside North

4. Naming List for
Winfold

Priors of Ely – the
Benedictines who moved to
Denny Abbey from Ely in the
1100s

Abbesses of Denny –
surnames of the women at
the head of the Abbey of
Nuns (1300s)

Historic Farm names,
from families who
owned and/worked the
land

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Vincent
Henry
William
Tombert
Alexander
Salomon

* Beyond were post 1169 when the
Transferred to the Knights Templar*

Page 96

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
22

Richard
Longchmap
de Stateshete
Hugh
De Brigham
Ralph
Walter
Leverington
de Bancis
de Hemmington
de Shepreth
de Orford
de Clare
de Fresingfield
de Crauden
de Walsingham
Hathfield
Bucton
Walpole
Powcher
Walsingham
Ely
Wells
Peterborough
Westminster
Colvyle
Wittlesey
Foliott
Cottenham

de Bolewyk (1st)
Colcestre
Kendale
Massingham
Bernard
Milley
Sybyle
Keteryche
Assheby
Throckmorton

Monastic Houses of
Cambridgeshire (selection
of):
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Anglesey Priory
Barham Friary
Barnwell Priory
Austin Friars
Blackfriars
Greyfriars
Pied Friars
White Friars
Friars of the Sack
Chatteris Abbey
Chesterton Whitefriars
Duxford Preceptory
Eltisley Priory
Fordham Priory
Great Wilbraham
Preceptory
Honringsea Monastery
Ickleton Priory

Blacwine
Picot
Osmund
Aubrey
Glanville
Amice*
Munchensy
Aymer*
Elmney
Bohun
Hasell
Spurling
Yaxley
Downing
Robson
Chester
Cokenach
Hobson
Knight
Sclater
Standley
Persis*
Peach
Foster
Toller
Angier
Holbeach
Frohocks
Yorke

Biodiversity
Alongside the heritage uses and names,
a critical element of the development is
the biodiversity approaches and priorities.
Part of the approach here will be to engage
residents and visitors in the landscape
around them and in understanding,
supporting and exploring it, to benefit
nature and their own health and wellbeing.
We are agreeing a number of hero
species within our wider place making and
community strategy which we will feature
in walks, wayfinding and welcome packs
which help define the role of nature in this
nature-led development. We would like to
use these names to engage people with
the play spaces and walking/running routes
around the development, for example:

Kingfisher Walk - the route around the lake
will enable glimpses of the kingfishers which
live on the island but also keep people away
from the more sensitive habitats there. They
may include observation points to see them
safely.
The play strategy has a number of natural
and heritage themes which would explore the
woodland glades and paths they sit within to
reflect willow, poplar, cherry and birch, acer
and alder, with grassland areas celebrating
the species of stonecrops, bedstraws and
orchids.
The lists overleaf include details of the key
species, which we are continuing to refine,
but we intrinsically feel these relate best
to walks and play areas, rather than street
names.

*these relate to women’s first
names, where they were left
land which passed to their
husbands.

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

23

References and Potential Names: Biodiversity
Planting species (sourced
from biodiversity strategy)
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bergamot
California lilac
Catmint
Escallonia
Firethorn
Oxeye daisy
Yarrow
Lord Lambourne
Arrowhead
Brooklime

Breeding Birds
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Page 97

Wintering Birds
• Short-eared owl (Asio
flammeus)
• Pochard (Aythya farina)
• Lesser redpoll (Carduelis
cabaret)
• Peregrine (Falco
peregrinus)
• Snipe (Gallinago
gallinago)
• Black-headed gull (Larus
ridibundus)
• Grey wagtail (Motacilla
cinerea)
• Woodcock (Scolopax
rusticola)
• Green sandpiper (Tringa
ochropus)
• Redwing (Turdus iliacus)
• Mistle thrush (Turdus
viscivorus)
• Fieldfare (Turdus pilaris)

24

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Skylark (Alauda
arvensis),
Kingfisher (Alcedo
atthis),
Teal (Anas crecca),
Meadow pipit (Anthus
pratensis),
Swift (Apus apus),
Linnet (Carduelis
cannabina),
Cuckoo (Cuculus
canorus),
Yellowhammer
(Emberiza citronella),
Hobby (Falco Subbuteo),
Kestrel (Falco
tinnunculus),
Herring gull (Larus
argentatus),
Willow tit (Parus
montanus),
Marsh tit (Parus
palustris),
House sparrow (Passer
domesticus),
Willow warbler
(Phylloscopus trochilus),
Bullfinch (Pyrrhula
pyrrhula),
Common tern (Sterna
hirundo),
Starling (Sturnus
vulgaris),
Song thrush (Turdus
philomelos)
Barn owl (Tyto alba)

Part 1: Naming the Settlement
(Questionnaire A)

The first part of this consultation considers the name of the
new town.
There is a need to resolve whether the new development
coming forward at Waterbeach, is part of and named
Waterbeach, reflecting the common position and
understanding at present, or becomes something different.
The corollary is how the village is distinguished as a
place from which a larger settlement will grow, but with
its own distinct character. This priority for naming arises
as construction is now underway and signage/identity will
reinforce identity as marketing begins and prospective
residents come to site.
The promoters are seeking to respect and manage impacts
on existing residents and signage is a vital part of the
commitment (for example, deterring unnecessary vehicular
movement through the village). Naming needs to be
confirmed for a signage strategy to be brought forward.
Please now consider the questions set out in Questionnaire
A at the back of the document and tell us what you think.

Part 2: Local Place Naming
(Questionnaire B)

We would welcome your ideas and input to a repository of
references for local place naming. Please use Questionnaire
B to give us your thoughts now.
You can continue to offer ideas beyond this consultation
exercise by sending them to

waterbeach@urbanandcivic.com
Thank you for your time reading this, and sharing your views with
us.

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

25

Questionnaire A
Please help us to settle the all-important question of what the
expanded settlement at Waterbeach should be called
Think carefully and think ahead. This is a decision for the long term and for all the
future residents of the village and the new development. It is not just about a name but
what that name signifies. When the new development is finished and new facilities are
open, how will residents, new and long standing, identify and relate to each other. Are
they likely to want to stand together or apart?
Also think practically, will a new name or names stick? What is familiar and popular
is difficult to change. There will need to be good reason and a consensus to achieve
change.

1. The Whole Settlement – is it one or two places?
1a. Do you agree that Waterbeach (the existing village) and incoming community (to
be brought forward on the Waterbeach Barracks, Airfield and New Town East should
be identified together as one place (as a single settlement and destination)?

		

Page 98

		
		
		

		

		
		
		

		

Yes

No

1b. If you answered yes to Question 1a above, should that settlement be called
Waterbeach?
Yes

No

1c. If you answered ‘No’ to questions 1a or 1b above, please indicate what name or
names you would prefer and give your reasons:

2. Waterbeach ‘village’
2a. If the settlement, as a whole, is identified as one place, do you agree that it is
important to distinguish the existing Waterbeach Village as a defined part of the
settlement (i.e. an identifiable area within the settlement).

		
		
		
		
		
		

Yes

No

2b. If you answered ‘Yes’ to questions 2a, is adopting ‘Waterbeach Village’ as the
name the best approach?

			
Yes
No
		
		 2c. If you answered ‘No’ to questions 2a please indicate or can you offer a better
alternative:

26

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

27

Questionnaire B

Waterbeach Barracks and Airfield - Local Place Naming
1.

Do you agree that introducing themes to help character areas
is the right approach?
Yes

No

Are there any themes you can suggest?
Please list suggestions below:

3.

Are there names you would add to the lists for consideration?
Please list.

4.

Any other additional ideas or approaches you would like to share?

5.

Do you have any issues or concerns with the approach set out,
for example are there names you would rather not see used?

Page 99

2.

28

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

29

Page 100
30

Waterbeach Settlement Name and Place Naming Consultation

31

32

Page 101

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 13

Report To:

Cabinet

Lead Cabinet Member(s):

Councillor John Williams,
Lead Cabinet Member for Finance

Lead Officer:

Peter Maddock, Head of Finance

22 March 2021

2020/2021 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring (Quarter 3)
Executive Summary
1.

To consider the latest monitoring data and trends in respect of the 2020/2021
General Fund revenue and capital budgets and emerging budget issues.

2.

This is not a key decision as there are no resource implications directly arising from
the report at this stage and the report provides monitoring information to ensure
awareness of budget trends and emerging budget issues.

Recommendations
3.

That Cabinet is requested to consider the report and, if satisfied, to:
(a)

Acknowledge the forecast 2020/2021 revenue position against the
approved revenue budget shown in Appendix B, the projected major
variances with reasons for these variances at Appendices C1 and C2
and the action being taken to address the underlying issues.

(b)

Acknowledge the latest Capital Programme 2020/2021 position [and
variances, if any] as shown in Appendix D.

Reason for Recommendations
4.

To advise the Cabinet of the latest monitoring information in respect of the 2020/2021
revenue and capital budgets and emerging budget issues, for the third quarter period
to 31 December 2020. The comparison in the various appendices is against the
revised estimate.

Details
2020/2021 Revenue Budget Monitoring – Overview
5.

Effective budget monitoring is a requirement of the Council’s Financial Regulations
and the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and is critical to sound financial
management. This process enables the Cabinet to monitor the approved budget, to
identify emerging issues and, where appropriate, to put plans in place to address
forecast budget issues.

6.

A framework for budget monitoring has been established and this enables budgetary
performance and agreed efficiency actions to be monitored through the use of
performance flags (Red, Amber and Green – RAG Status) and Direction of Travel

Page 103

indicators. This provides a statement of financial health and an overview of how the
Council is utilising its resources.
7.

An integral part of the monitoring process is the regular meetings with Budget
Holders to proactively monitor compliance with the approved budget. This enables
the identification of potential risks and emerging budget pressures so that appropriate
action can be taken at an early stage.

8.

The monitoring process also needs to recognise the financial challenges as a result
of the Coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) which has had an impact on the Council's
planned income and expenditure. A support package was announced by the
Government in July 2020 to help address spending pressures and in recognition of
lost income; the overall aim is to help Councils respond to Coronavirus as part of a
comprehensive plan to ensure financial sustainability for the future.

9.

As far as 2020/2021 is concerned, the Council has received £1.922 million in support
grant and, based upon returns to Government, anticipates that this should be
adequate to offset the increased costs from the impact of COVID-19. During the
review period all of this was received (see Appendix B) and this is an un-ringfenced
grant so is held centrally rather than allocated to the budgets where the actual
additional expenditure has been incurred. A separate exercise identifying income
loss is also being carried over three periods of four months and is an income
compensation scheme whereby around 70% of lost income due to the pandemic is
reimbursed by central government two claims have so far been submitted, though
only the first claim has been paid to date. The situation will clearly need to be kept
under review having regard to the duration and severity of COVID-19 and the speed
of the UK economic recovery. A longer duration could increase costs and reduce
income to a greater degree; an increased severity in economic terms could increase
demand led spending and suppress the recovery of assumed income levels. The
government have confirmed that further grant and income compensation will be
available for the first quarter of 2021/22.
Revenue Budget Monitoring – 2020/2021 Efficiency Assumptions

10.

The ongoing process also includes the monitoring of compliance with the efficiency
assumptions built into the 2020/2021 revenue budget. The evaluation of the
efficiencies has been made on the basis of a RAG rating using the following criteria:
The proposal has been implemented and is on target to achieve the
budgeted saving.

Green

The implementation of the proposal is in progress, the final saving
to be achieved is estimated but not finalised.

Amber

Action is required to commence the project; savings to be delivered;
proposal did not deliver the required savings.

11.

Red

The budget for 2020/2021 included efficiency proposals totalling £1,739,700. The
range of efficiency proposals are summarised at Appendix A and most of these are
on target to achieve the expected results. There is, however, an estimated net
shortfall of expected savings on General Fund activities (or reduced income) in
2020/2021 totalling £170,700 from the following areas of service:

Page 104

12.

(a)

The savings expected from the environmental health team of £36,000 are
now unachievable in 2020/2021 given the continued work required in relation
to the Coronavirus outbreak. It is difficult to ascertain when or if these savings
will be achieved but the restructure of the service was carried out this year
which achieved some efficiencies but is predicated on additional income
being received from the planning process.

(b)

A reduction of £323,000 due in the main to lower interest from Ermine Street
Housing. Uncertainty caused by the pandemic introduced delays to schemes
particularly during the first quarter and although things have recovered since
some interest expected to be generated in 2020/21 will not happen until
2021/22.

(c)

The saving of £55,000 in the delivery of housing services is dependent on the
implementation of the Orchard System project that will enable processes to
be streamlined. The project has been delayed and, as a consequence, the
savings are expected to be realised in 2021/2022. It is estimated that £25,000
value of savings will be attributable to General Fund activities.

(d)

Additional income of £60,000 was expected from licensing and related
training activities but again the Pandemic has impacted on the level of saving
that can be achieved. Half of this is expected to be achieved in 2020/2021
with the remainder now profiled in 2021/2022, assuming that a degree of
normality is restored by Spring 2021.

(e)

The proposed energy efficiency and green energy measures at South
Cambridgeshire Hall have been delayed due to the impact of COVID-19 and
the projected energy savings, estimated at £79,700, are not now expected to
be fully realised until 2021/2022.

(f)

The Pandemic has at least reduced the amount of mileage and travelling
expenses incurred by the Council and, whilst a modest £6,000 saving was
included due to the roll out of the Council Anywhere initiative, a figure of
£25,000 now looks more likely. Although savings at month six exceeded this
total, it is unclear how much of this travel will be avoided long term.

All of these variances have been included in the revised estimate.
Revenue Budget Monitoring

13.

This report represents the revenue monitoring information for the period 1 April 2020
to 31 December 2020.

14.

A summary of budget variances is reported at Appendix B, with explanations for
significant items of variance reported at Appendix C1 (General Fund) and Appendix
C2 (Housing Revenue Account). The variances have been assigned a RAG status
(Red, Amber and Green) based on the following:
Under spends and overspends up to 2% of the budget

Green

Overspends between 2% and 10% of the budget

Amber

Overspends greater than 10%

Red

Page 105

Revenue Budget Monitoring –Variances
15.

The ongoing monitoring and assessment of the 2020/2021 revenue budget has
identified a number of issues that require action to avoid budgetary pressures and
issues that need to be kept under review. The key issues that require further
reference are discussed in the following paragraphs:
(a)

Salary Budgets
The table below identifies the variance on salary budgets by service area as
at 31 December 2020:

Budget to date
(31 Dec 2020)

2020/2021
Actual to date
(31 Dec 2020)

Variance

Variance
%

HR & Corporate

1,236,996

1,238,915

1,919

0

Finance

1,765,307

1,745,189

-20,118

-1

Shared Waste &
Environment

5,707,556

5,427,948

-279,608

-5

Housing

4,078,112

4,173,624

95,512

2

Planning

5,048,180

5,351,821

302,641

6

Transformation

1,685,583

1,692,061

6,478

0

Total

19,552,734

19,629,558

106,824

1

The analysis takes account of the cost of agency staff backfilling vacant permanent
posts (with agency costs generally much higher than permanent appointment). The
overall variance stands at 1% with some quite significant variances within the figures.
The area of highest overspend comparative to the revised budget at the end of
quarter 3 is Planning. This relates to additional costs incurred due to COVID-19,
particularly in Land Charges and Development Management and due to the timing
difference in receiving Planning Performance Agreement (PPA) income to offset
some of the expenditure incurred to date. £70,000 of the Housing variance is due to
a profiling issue on the budgets of Ermine Street Housing which has been rectified in
quarter 4. The highest underspend is in Shared Waste & Environment, mainly due to
the timescale of recruitment in filling vacant posts following the restructuring process
in Environmental Health. Several agency staff have been recruited to assist services
that are facing growing pressure of meeting project deadlines before the financial
year end, these costs will transpire in the next quarter.
(b)

The impact of COVID-19

The General Fund, Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and the Collection Fund have
all been impacted as a result of COVID-19 and these are dealt with in turn. The
General Fund, by its nature, will bear the majority of the additional costs incurred by
the Council with Revenues and Benefits, Shared Waste, Environmental Health,
Planning and Homelessness all incurring additional expenditure.
The Council has also needed to make expenditure that it would not normally incur to
support the community and businesses through the crisis and again this has to fall on

Page 106

the General Fund. As stated, it is considered at this time that the £1.922 million of
additional resource from the Government will be adequate to meet the additional
expenditure. There will also be some expenditure from this funding originally planned
in 2020/21 which will now slip into 2021/22.
The Government provided £25.15 million to support small businesses and the retail,
leisure and hospitality sector with two grant schemes in the spring and summer and
£0.661 million for additional Local Council Tax Support to those struggling to meet
their Council Tax liability. The Council administered these schemes which meant
significant additional work for some areas of the Council (particularly Revenues and
Benefits, Accountancy, the Policy and Performance Unit and Business Support
teams).
The Grants schemes were, with Members assistance, very successful in reaching
many local businesses with much needed financial support the schemes closed
during August. Council spending on the grants schemes were £24.02 million on the
main scheme and £1.192 million on the discretionary scheme, so marginally over the
allocation. The Council has now been reimbursed by central government for this
additional expenditure.
During quarter 3 further grant money was received from Central Government of
around £5.25 million to distribute to businesses and in the case of self isolation grant,
individuals. Since then a further lockdown has been announced and further money
has been made available bringing the total to around £15 million of which around £9
million has now been paid out. Hard work by officers has ensured that as of MidFebruary the Council were in the top 25% across the country at getting money out to
those businesses in need.
The HRA has also been affected by the pandemic but mostly due to reduced
spending as, for a time, only urgent cyclical and responsive repairs have been
carried out. There has been an increase in housing rent arrears and these may turn
into losses if they prove irrecoverable, however, it is intended to use some of the
aforementioned £0.661 million to support tenants which will help mitigate this risk.
There have been a few additional costs to the HRA mainly PPE related as a result of
the pandemic but an element of other costs will get recharged here.
The Collection Fund is seeing the biggest impact in terms of value. Income from
Business Rates and Council Tax is collected by the Council to distribute to central
government and the major preceptors. Early in the year there was a significant
shortfall in Business Rates income and, whilst this has recovered, the full impact on
the Business Rates Collection Fund will not be known for some time; the fund itself
will inevitably fall into deficit and this could be significant.
Central Government have confirmed that some support will now be provided to the
Fund and also the residual deficit arising in 2020/2021 will be recovered over a threeyear period. We have now also learnt that the first years deficit payment will not be
recoverable from Major Preceptors until the end of 2021/22 rather than during the
year which will lead to a cashflow disadvantage to the Council but this will probably
not now be as significant as first feared. The Council Tax Collection Fund has also
seen some income loss though not as significant. As the furlough scheme unwinds,
however, it is possible that some of these losses will become unrecoverable, with the
most significant impact felt by Cambridgeshire County Council.

Page 107

Revenue Contingency
16.

Cabinet, at its meeting on 7 December 2020, allocated £50,000 of the revenue
contingency to fund a client adviser for the Northstowe project and this reduced the
contingency balance to £200,000. The remainder has been removed from the revised
budget.
Virement Movements

17.

A virement is when a sum of money set aside in the budget for one purpose is then
moved and used for another purpose. There have been no virement movements in
the period 1 October 2020 to 31 December 2020.
Revenue Budget – Summary Position

18.

The table below summarises the budgetary position relevant to each Service Area,
with detailed information included at Appendix B, and further explanation of
significant variances in Appendices C(1) and C(2):
Full
Year
Budget
£'000

Budget
to
date
£'000

Actual
to
date
£'000

Variance

Variance

to date
£'000

to date
%

Finance

854
4,345

568
1,611

477
1,792

(91)
181

-16
11

Human Resources & Corporate
Services

1,239

695

796

101

15

8,416
2,111
5,726
2,371

3,562
(10)
2,731
1,217

2,941
(60)
3,162
1,311

(621)
(50)
431
94

-17
-511
16
8

Net Service Costs

25,062

10,374

10,419

45

0

Overheads

10,365

6,016

6,293

277

5

Directorate
Chief Executives Office

Shared Waste & Environmental
Health
Housing General Fund
Planning
Transformation

19.

The Council has a current overspend position of £0.045 million (0%) on its net cost of
service when compared to the revised budget. This is not significant and does
include additional expenditure due to Covid.
Capital Budget Monitoring

20.

The Cabinet monitors the performance of the capital programme by reviewing on a
regular basis the progress of all schemes. Regular reports on the Capital Programme
to the Cabinet should identify the following changes:


any schemes that are not being progressed as originally envisaged or those
that are no longer required;



the revised phasing of a scheme(s) having regard to the latest information
and any changes in forecast funding;

Page 108

21.



changes in funding requirements of committed schemes and the reasons
relating thereto;



any budget amendments.

The Capital Programme is summarised at Appendix D. It should be noted that the
Capital Programme set out is the most recent estimate based on current
expectations.

Implications
22.

In the writing of this report, taking into account the financial, legal, staffing, risk
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other
key issues, the following implications have been considered:
Legal

23.

The legal position and relevant issues can be summarised as follows:
(a)

Revenue Budget
The Council is required, by law, to set a balanced revenue budget each year
which for 2020/2021 was approved by Council on 20 February 2020. The
pandemic has led to a rather different income and spending profile to that
expected so a full revision of the budget was carried out and the actual
figures are compared to the revised position.

(b)

Capital Programme
Prudential Indicators that underpin the Council’s capital investment
demonstrate that the investment is prudent, sustainable and affordable. The
Council is required, in compliance with the Code, to monitor and report
performance against established Prudential Indicators. The ongoing review of
the capital programme is required to effectively monitor these indicators.

Policy
24.

The position in relation to established Council policies can be summarised as follows:
(a)

Revenue Budget
The MTFS requires that, to ensure a continuously stable financial base for the
provision of services, the Council will ensure that annual ongoing General
Fund revenue expenditure can be covered by annual income sources in each
financial year. The MTFS requires regular reports to be submitted to the
Cabinet in respect of budget performance and the report, therefore, provides
an update on the latest budget position and also identifies a number of
emerging budget issues that will need to be monitored during 2020/2021.

(b)

Capital Programme
The Council has two approved policies relating to its Capital Programme; The
Capital Strategy and the MTFS. The former provides the overarching capital
strategy and linkage to the Corporate Asset Plan. The MTFS provides

Page 109

guidelines for the financing of capital schemes, any variations which may
arise, and Prudential Code requirements.
Finance
25.

The financial implications are outlined in the details section of the report.
Risk

26.

The risk implications can be summarised as follows:
(a)
Revenue Budget
When the Council considers each revenue service and function budget it is
important that endeavours are made to identify potential risks. Inevitably,
during the course of the financial year, some of these risks will occur and
impact on the budget by either requiring further expenditure or by reducing
the Council’s budgeted income.
The budget is monitored on a regular basis to identify risks and take action to
mitigate the risks when they arise. The Council holds a contingency with
regard to budgetary risk in year, together with a range of Reserves to deal
with specific issues.
(b)

Capital Programme
In relation to Capital resources, the following risks should be taken into
account when considering this report:
(i)

Capital schemes can emerge at any time based on newly identified
needs or changes in legislation which require funding to be identified;

(ii)

The forecast cost/timing of
implementation is undertaken;

(iii)

Forecast capital receipts may not be achieved which could result in
some schemes not proceeding until other sources of capital finance
become available or unless further recourse is made to borrowing;

(iv)

Key risks associated with the Capital Programme are that budgets are
not adequate, leading to overspend with consequent financial
implications or that the schemes will not meet the desired objectives.

existing

schemes may vary

as

Environmental
27.

There are no environmental implications arising directly from the report.
Equality Analysis

28.

In preparing this report, due consideration has been given to the Council’s statutory
Equality Duty to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity
and foster good relations, as set out in Section 149(1) of the Equality Act 2010.

29.

A relevance test for equality has determined that the activity has no relevance to
South Cambridgeshire District Council’s statutory equality duty to eliminate unlawful

Page 110

discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relation. An equality
analysis is not needed.
Effect on Council Priority Areas
Timely and robust consideration of the Council’s budget is vital to ensure that
financial performance is in line with expectations, emerging issues are identified and
tackled and that Business Plan priorities are met.

30.

Background Papers
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the
public, they must be available for inspection:
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;
(b) on the Council’s website; and
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on
payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to
inspect the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council.
The following documents are relevant to this report:


General Fund Medium Term Financial Strategy – Report to Cabinet: 4 December
2019



Budget Report – Report to Cabinet: 5 February 2020



Business Plan 2019 - 2014 – Report to Council: 20 February 2020



Medium Term Financial Strategy and General Fund Budget – Report to Council: 20
February 2020

Appendices
A

Service Efficiency/Income Generation Assumptions 2020/2021: Update

B

Budget Monitoring by Service Area – Position as at 31 December 2020

C

Explanation of Significant Budget Variances – Position as at 31 December 2020

D

Capital Programme – Update Position as at 31 December 2020

Report Authors:

Peter Maddock – Head of Finance
e-mail: peter.maddock@scambs.gov.uk
Farzana Ahmed – Chief Accountant
e-mail: farzana.ahmed@scambs.gov.uk
Suzy Brandes – Principal Accountant

Page 111

e-mail: suzy.brandes@scambs.gov.uk

Page 112

Appendix A

Service Efficiencies/Income Generation Assumptions:
2020-2021 Revenue Budget Build
Theme 1: Develop a Workforce Operating Model

1

Review of processes to identify potential changes to workforce
deployment and a revised senior management structure,
targeting a saving of £600,000 per annum by 31 March 2024.
(* proposals approved by Council in May 2019)

2

Creation of business resource capacity to release professional
staff from corporate processes thus optimising professional staff
time on key professional duties in Environmental Health.

3

Rationalise processes and budgets to focus on efficient service
delivery and effective resource deployment, including a review of:

Saving
2020/2021
£
£230,000 *

Revised
Performance
2020/2021
RAG
£
£230,000 *

£36,000

0

(a)

the corporate communications budget to further the
benefits already achieved from the transition from in house
to commissioned design work and to the digital tasks
needed for the Council.

£3,500

£3,500

(b)

the statutory electoral registration service and, in particular,
the scope to optimise canvassing by electronic means.

£5,000

£5,000

(c)

services relating to the health and well-being of residents
to enable the rationalisation of processes and effective
targeted support in a cost effective manner.

£75,000

£75,000

(d)

the shared waste collection service to achieve further
efficiencies in the delivery of the service.

£25,000

£25,000

Savings
2020/2021
£
£20,000

Revised
2020/2021
£
£20,000

Theme 2: Alternative Ways of Working

4

To establish a framework for electronic service delivery,
encouraging “paperless” business processes & reduced printing.

5

Revised Scheme of Members’ Allowances taking into account the
recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel
(October 2019).

£60,000

£60,000

6

Following the introduction of ‘Council Anywhere’, reduce
unnecessary travel to meetings. Target 10% of total General
Fund mileage costs per annum.

£6,000

£25,000

Savings
2020/2021
£
£940,000

Revised
2020/2021
£
£617,000

£10,000

£10,000

Theme 3: Business and Growth

7

Implementation of the Investment Strategy (subject to Council
approval on 28 November 2019) by pursuing, subject to business
case justification, commercial investment opportunities.

8

To review Planning Performance Agreements and processes to
reduce the current subsidy provided to those who undertake
major developments.

9

To consider prevailing fee scales and income generation
opportunities for regulatory services, including:

Page 113

Performance
RAG

Performance
RAG

10

(a)

A review of the current pre-planning advice charging
policy.

£10,000

£10,000

(b)

A review of the charging policy that applies in respect of
the licensing function, targeting additional income from
safeguarding training and DBS checks for Taxi Drivers.

£60,000

£30,000

(c)

The development of a commercial model for the building
control service to generate additional income from
consultancy services.

£2,500

£2,500

To undertake a review of the Ermine Street Housing recharge
model for both housing and support staff.

£6,000

£6,000

Savings
2020/2021
£
£25,000

Revised
2020/2021
£
£25,000

Theme 4: Managing Demand Better

11

Expand and grow the commercial waste collection service.

12

Encourage budget holders, through increased autonomy, to
manage budgets within cash limits thus eliminating inflation uplift
(except for contractual commitments, nationally agreed increases
and utility/fuel costs essential for service delivery).

£50,000

£50,000

13

Review annually the revenue budget outturn position and to
identify areas of budgetary underspend where, in the context of
managing demand and resource better, budgets can be reduced
without significant and noticeable impact on service delivery.

£80,000

£80,000

14

To review the potential for additional discounts on postage
budgets held by service areas by using Royal Mail’s CleanMail
service and/or transferral of universal postal service provider for
‘2nd class’ mail to a competitor of Royal Mail.

£11,000

£11,000

15

To review the way in which housing services are delivered,
particularly developing self-service opportunities and partnership
approaches to the delivery of some services, with realisation of
cost and efficiency savings.

£55,000

0

16

To pursue, in line with the Business Plan Theme “Green to Our
Core”, the following specific investment opportunities:
(a)

Energy efficiency and green energy measures at South
Cambridgeshire Hall, including Ground Source Heat
Pump, solar canopies in the car park, internal LED lighting
upgrades, electric vehicle charging points and chiller
modifications and enhancements.

£79,700

0

(b)

The installation of roof-mounted solar panels at the
Waterbeach Depot (fully operational).

£5,000

£5,000

£1,794,700
£1,739,700
£55,000

£1,290,000
£1,265,000
£25,000 *

Total Estimated Savings
Value Attributable to General Fund
Value Attributable to Housing Revenue Account


Performance

Some initiatives will bring savings to the Housing Revenue Account because they are of a
corporate nature and this is now estimated to amount to £25,000.

Page 114

RAG

Appendix B

Budget 2020/21 Q3- Provisional Variance
Directorate

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Budget
to Date
£'000

Actual
to Date
£'000

Variance
to Date
£'000

Variance
to Date
%

General Fund
Chief Executive's Office
Financial Services
Human Resources and Corporate Services
Housing General Fund
Shared Waste and Environmental Health
Transformation
Planning
Net Service Costs

854
4,345
1,239
2,111
8,416
2,371
5,726

568
1,611
695
(10)
3,562
1,217
2,731

477
1,792
796
(60)
2,941
1,311
3,162

(91)
181
101
(50)
(621)
94
431

-16%
11%
15%
-511%
-17%
8%
16%

25,062

10,374

10,419

45

0%

Overhead Costs (Not included in Full Year Budget Total)

10,365

6,016

6,293

277

5%

Finance Charge Reversals
Greater Cambridge/Combined Authority
Internal Drainage Board Levies
Interest Payable
Investment Income
Revenue Contribution to Capital
Minimum Revenue Provision

(2,840)
511
201
751
(4,214)
7,664
870

0
0
201
45
(2,348)
0
0

0
0
201
11
(1,681)
0
0

0
0
0
(34)
667
0
0

0%
0%
0%
-76%
-28%
0%
0%

Total General Fund Expenditure

28,005

14,288

15,243

955

7%

New Homes Bonus

(2,768)
(1,922)
(131)
(1,100)
(99)
(119)
(9,479)
(9,562)

(2,076)
(1,922)
(65)
(825)
(75)
(89)
(7,109)
(7,171)

(2,076)
(1,922)
(65)
(877)
(75)
(89)
(7,109)
(7,171)

0
0
0
(52)
0
0
0
0

0%
0%
0%
-6%
0%
0%
0%
0%

(25,180)

(19,332)

(19,384)

(52)

0%

(2,275)
(550)

(5,044)
0

(4,141)
0

903
0

18%
0%

Covid Support Grant
Rural Services Grant
Business Rates Pool Gain
(Surplus) / Deficit on Collection Fund re Council Tax
(Surplus) / Deficit on Collection Fund re Business Rates
Retained Business Rates (incl. Section 31 Grant)
Council Tax
Total General Fund Income
General Fund Total
Earmarked Reserves

Directorate

HRA
Housing Repairs - Revenue
Supervision and Management General
Supervision and Management Special
Corporate Management
Interest on Loans
Depreciation
Capital Expenditure funded from Revenue
Other
Total HRA Expenditure

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Budget
to Date
£'000

Actual
to Date
£'000

Variance
to Date
£'000

Variance
to Date
%

3,500
3,825
669
642
7,233
6,666
9,188
158
31,881

2,188
1,824
353
0
3,589
0
0
7
7,961

2,189
1,840
386
0
3,537
0
0
5
7,957

1
16
33
0
(52)
0
0
(2)

0%
1%
9%
0%
-1%
0%
0%
-23%

(4)

0%

Income
Interest Receivable
Finance Charge Reversals

(29,334)
(691)
(173)

(22,051)
0
0

(22,093)
0
0

(42)
0
0

0%
0%
0%

Total HRA

(30,198)

(22,051)

(22,093)

(42)

0%

Total HRA

1,683

(14,090)

(14,136)

(46)

0%

South Cambs District Council Confidential

Page
115
10/03/2021

Page 1

Appendix B

Budget 2020/21 Q3- Provisional Variance

Directorate

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Budget
to Date
£'000

Actual
to Date
£'000

Variance
to Date
£'000

Variance
to Date
%

General Fund Capital
Financial Services
Human Resources and Corporate Services
Housing General Fund
Shared Waste and Environmental Health
Transformation
Planning

44,024
749
1,435
2,218
180
15

30,824
350
952
551
0
0

29,489
19
1,028
492
0
0

(1,335)
(331)
76
(59)
0
0

-4%
-95%
8%
-11%
0%
0%

Total General Fund Capital

48,621

32,677

31,028

(1,649)

-5%

Directorate

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Budget
to Date
£'000

Actual
to Date
£'000

Variance
to Date
£'000

Variance
to Date
%

HRA Capital
Preparation of Self-Build Plots
New Homes Programme
Repurchase of HRA Shared Ownership Homes
Housing Repairs - Capital

100
12,062
150
8,839

0
6,544
150
1,550

0
6,543
387
1,544

0
(1)
237
(6)

0%
0%
158%
0%

Total HRA Capital

21,151

8,244

8,474

230

3%

South Cambs District Council Confidential

Page
116
10/03/2021

Page 2

Appendix C(1)
Significant Items of Variance from Working Budget
Budget 2020/21 Q3 - General Fund revenue

Service Grouping

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Reason for Variance

Budget to
Date
£'000

Actual
(Favourable) /
Actual to Date
Adverse Variance
£'000
to Date
£'000

Variance to
Date
%

Not blank
Financial Services
This is above expectations as the receipt of quarter
4 rent on 140 Cambridge Science Park was paid
early. Year end outturn is expected to be in line with
the revised budget.

(1,266)

(666)

(816)

(150)

-23%

Interest

This relates to interest from Ermine Street, CLIC and
various financial institutions. Income is below
expectations because £699,000 due from Ermine St
in December was dealyed until quarter 4. This was
for cashflow reasons experienced by Ermine Street.

(2,948)

(1,682)

(865)

817

49%

Treasury Management

A small variance due to the timing of the additional
costs associated with the investment strategy.

65

44

46

2

4%

113
(4,036)

0
(2,304)

0
(1,635)

0
669

0%
29%

1,737

1,302

1,216

(86)

-7%

1,737

1,302

1,216

(86)

-7%

27

(663)

(730)

(67)

10%

27

(663)

(730)

(67)

-10%

68

55

55

0

1%

Investment Properties Rent

Page 117

Internal Audit
Explained variances

No variances.
Not blank

Human Resources and Corporate Services
Main item of underspend is the monthly pension
HR Payroll
deficit payment, which is a period behind the profiled
budget.
Explained variances
Not blank
Not blank
Housing General Fund
Unexpected additional grant funding received in
Improvement Grants
December from the County Council Better Care
Fund.
Explained variances
Not blank
Shared Waste and Environmental Health
Environmental Health
No variances.

Budget to
Date
£'000

Actual
(Favourable) /
Actual to Date
Adverse Variance
£'000
to Date
£'000

Variance to
Date
%

Service Grouping

Reason for Variance

Shared Waste Collection Service

Burden has been placed on the waste collection
service during the pandemic with all budget
pressures being shared with Cambridge City Council
partners. Business is continuing to work with
customer-base to establish a best-fit collection
service. However, it is difficult to fully assess the
impact of Covid-19 on the business because of the
ever-changing economic situation. A conservative
estimate was used in the budget revision process
with the current actual showing a more favourable
position against the budget to date. Though, this
cannot be relied upon as to its certainty going into
quarter 4.

(610)

(2,284)

(2,417)

(133)

-6%

Page 118

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Government funding to support surge prevention
and enforcement initiatives has not been fully utilised
as at 31st December. It is envisaged that this will be
partly spent in the last quarter and any residual
balance will be carried forward into 2021/22.

83

77

20

(57)

-75%

(186)

(106)

(99)

7

6%

61

46

18

(28)

-61%

(584)

(2,212)

(2,423)

(211)

-10%

1,988

527

743

216

41%

1,988

527

743

216

-41%

COVID-19 Emergency

Taxi Licensing

Air Quality Monitoring

£13,000 lost income due to COVID-19 was partially
offset by a £6,000 saving on licence plates and
stationery. The remainder of the lost income will be
recovered through government compensatory
support for local authorities.
A £30,000 injection to the budget was made last
year to accelerate the installation of air quality
monitors, collate baseline data and commence
remedial action at sensitive sites. Due to the
pandemic and the restructure of the department this
project has been put on hold.

Explained variances
Transformation

ICT

Explained variances

Not blank
Not blank
This variance is due to the implementation of the
new digital service whereby the invoice for payment
was received earlier than initially expected.
Confirmation to be sought that the service has been
fully delivered.

Service Grouping

Planning
Development Management

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Reason for Variance

Not blank
Not blank
The variance at quarter 3 relates to £134,000
income recovered from the impact of COVID-19 than
the estimated profiled budget.

Budget to
Date
£'000

Actual
(Favourable) /
Actual to Date
Adverse Variance
£'000
to Date
£'000

Variance to
Date
%

(2,877)

(2,012)

(2,154)

(142)

-7%

The large variance is partly due to a number of
PPA’s not materialising or finishing earlier than
initially assumed. The service area is also
somewhat behind in billing for work which has been
carried out, a total of £100,000 is outstanding. The
team have begun extensive work to bring the billing
process up to date before the end of the financial
which will assist in reducing the variance between
the revised budget and actual.

(1,118)

(786)

(432)

354

45%

Operations Management

A number of underspends on budgets relating to
scanning, staff development and training has
resulted in savings against the revised budget at the
end of quarter 3.

72

38

29

(9)

-24%

Land Charges

At the end of quarter 3 there is a favourable variance
arising from underspends on service budgets due to
a delay in receiving and making payment for invoices
related to July, October and November for highway
search fees. These have been processed in
February being the final quarter of the year which
should align the actual to the budget.

(259)

(174)

(223)

(49)

-28%

(4,182)

(2,934)

(2,780)

154

5%

Strategic Sites (& PPA)

Page 119

Explained variances
Not blank

Appendix C (2)

Budget 2020/21 Q3 - Housing Revenue Account Monitoring

Service Grouping

Reason for Variance

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Budget to
Date
£'000

Actual
(Favourable) /
Actual to Date
Adverse Variance
£'000
to Date
£'000

Variance to
Date
%

Housing Revenue Account - Income
Income

At the end of quarter 3 the council received incentive
payments for renewable heat which was not included
in the revised budget.

Explained Variances

Page 120

(29,334)

(22,051)

(22,093)

(42)

0%

(29,334)

(22,051)

(22,093)

(42)

0%

1,787

287

302

15

-5%

(417)

(366)

(349)

17

5%

80

31

5

(26)

84%

Housing Revenue Account - Expenditure
Supervision and Management General

Administration (Net Expenditure)

There is an overspend of around £40,000 from
council tax payments on the void properties, which
are higher than usual due to the longer periods
experienced between tenancy handovers during the
current covid lockdowns. Though there is an
underspend on the consultancy budget on the
repair’s administration which has been netted off to
equate the £15,000 overspend.

Supervision and Management Special
The overspend as at 31st December is as a result of
spike in activity and expenditure at sheltered
schemes on shrub cuts & external repairs. It is
Sheltered Housing
expected that in the final quarter there will be a
decrease in activity for this service with additional
expenditure being recovered through leaseholder
service charges.
Tenant Participation

A variance arising due to the postponement of
elections for tenant representatives have been
delayed by the pandemic. A new proposed date is
yet to be confirmed.

New Homes Programme

Internal fee for the sale of self-build plot in October
to recover staff costs will be received in the final
quarter.

(32)

(117)

(63)

54

46%

Interest on Loans

The variance between the actual and budget to date
is insignificant.

7,233

3,589

3,537

(52)

1%

8,651

3,424

3,432

9

0%

Explained Variances

Page 121

Appendix D
Significant Items of Variance from Working Budget
Capital Budget 2020/21 Q3 - Major Variances from Budget

Service Grouping

Reason for Variance

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Budget to
Date
£'000

Actual
(Favourable) /
Actual to Date
Adverse Variance
£'000
to Date
£'000

Variance to
Date
%

Housing Revenue Account
100

0

0

0

0%

Page 122

HRA Land

Good progress has been made on our new build
sites after incurring delays during the first lockdown
when work was halted. However there have been
ongoing issues between Homes England and the
developer which has resulted in work not
commencing on the Northstowe scheme. It is
anticipated that the work on this site will fall into next
financial year.

12,062

6,544

6,543

(1)

0%

Repurchase of Shared Ownership

This budget is reactive, and spend is dependent
upon the number of homes which are re-presented
to the Council in any year, and the value at which
they are re-acquired.

150

150

387

237

158%

Although work was scheduled and orders raised in
anticipation of completing the capital programme by
year end, the January lockdown has again delayed
our planned works. There have also been issues
sourcing materials. Outdoor works have been
prioritised wherever possible but we are expecting a
significant underspend at the year end with a
number of capital programmes to be rolled over to
the new financial year.

8,839

1,550

1,544

(6)

0%

230

3%

New Homes Programme

Improvement to the Housing Stock

Total HRA Capital Expenditure

No Variances.

21,151

8,244

8,474

Service Grouping

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Reason for Variance

Actual
(Favourable) /
Actual to Date
Adverse Variance
£'000
to Date
£'000

Budget to
Date
£'000

Variance to
Date
%

General Fund
Financial Services

Ermine Street Housing Loans

The number of loans for house purchases have
reduced due to the lockdown temporarily freezing the
housing market. Acquisitions have accelerated in
quarter 3 but the full revised budget will not be spent,
therefore a proportion of this has been reprofiled
into the first quarter of 2021/22.

13,824

10,824

9,205

(1,619)

-15%

30,000

20,000

20,284

284

1%

200

0

0

0

0%

44,024

30,824

29,489

(1,335)

-4%

Cambourne Offices

The budget generally covers the South Cambs Hall
Greening project however much of the current year's
work has been delayed due to COVID. It is
anticipated that some of the projects may commence
in the final quarter but is more than likely they will
slip into 2021/22.

483

150

19

(131)

-87%

Human Resource System

Invoices expected to have been received by the end
of December will now arrive in the final quarter
causing a delay in the project and from actuals
incurring against the budget.

116

87

0

(87)

-100%

Upgrade AV and Delegate System

Several technical issues have resulted in a delay in
the installation of the system with invoices not being
paid until the work has been completed.

150

113

0

(113)

-100%

749

350

19

(331)

-95%

Investment Strategy

Page 123

Contribution towards A14 upgrade
(Inf)
Explained variances

The actual includes the purchase of 296 Cambridge
Science Park and Vitrum Building at Cambridge
Science Park. The full year budget assumes further
acquisitions before the end of March. Other sites are
under consideration but the full budget is not
expected to be spent and a proportion has been reprofiled into 2021/22.
Payment for the A14 infrastructure is scheduled to
incur in the final quarter of 2020/21.
Not blank

Human Resources and Corporate Services

Explained variances
Not blank

Service Grouping

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Reason for Variance

Actual
(Favourable) /
Actual to Date
Adverse Variance
£'000
to Date
£'000

Budget to
Date
£'000

Variance to
Date
%

Housing General Fund
Housing management system

After delays earlier in the year, the rents module
went live in December with the successful migration
from Open Housing.
Allocations set a side for the Northstowe Civic Hub,
Sports Pavilion and Community Centre have not yet
been spent. Majority of this has been rolled forward
into 2021/22 as part of the revised capital
programme.

150

58

59

1

2%

50

0

0

0

0%

This budget is reactive, and spend is dependent
upon the number of homes which are re-presented
to the Council in any year, and the value at which
they are re-acquired.

525

500

516

16

3%

Due to the current Covid lockdown delays have been
experienced in the assessment and awards of
grants. It is anticipated that activity relating to these
grants will increase in the coming months.

710

394

453

59

15%

1,435

952

1,028

76

8%

Waste Collection & Street Cleansing

The variance shown is due to the implementation
process of the waste management IT System. It is
expected that 3c ICT who are project managing the
process will invoice us for any work which has not
been billed so far prior to the end of the financial
year end.

688

476

427

(49)

-10%

Footway Lighting

The replacement programme is on schedule for
completion although no payments have been made
towards the project at the end of quarter 3. However,
the sum of £1,378,168 is committed at the end of
January for the costs incurred to the end of period
10.

1,400

0

0

0

0%

Northstowe Community Projects

Repurchase of GF Sheltered
Properties

Page 124

Improvement Grants
Explained variances

Not blank
Shared Waste and Environmental Health

Revised Full
Year Budget
£'000

Actual
(Favourable) /
Actual to Date
Adverse Variance
£'000
to Date
£'000

Budget to
Date
£'000

Variance to
Date
%

Service Grouping

Reason for Variance

Health and Environmental Services
System

The implementation on the new Health &
Environment IT management system is on target for
April 2021. The actual is slightly behind the revised
budget as at 31st December but will be met when
the final costs of project management are billed in
the final quarter. Thereafter revenue costs will be
incurred relating to the data migration and cleansing
from legacy systems.

100

75

65

(10)

-13%

Air Quality Monitoring Equipment

£10,000 from total budget is scheduled to be spent
on renewing some of our air quality monitoring
equipment within quarter 4. The remaining £20,000
will be carried forward with the intention of spending
it in the first quarter 2021/22.

30

0

0

0

0%

2,218

551

492

(59)

-11%

180
180

0
0

0
0

0
0

0%
0%

15

0

0

0

0%

15

0

0

0

0%

48,621

32,677

31,028

(1,649)

-5%

Explained variances

Page 125

Transformation
ICT Development
Explained variances

Not blank
No Variances.
Not blank

Planning
Aerial Photography Refresh

Costs relating to the Aerial Photography project are
expected to occur prior to the end of the financial
year.

Explained variances
Not blank
Total General Fund Capital Expenditure

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 14

22nd March 2021

REPORT TO:

Cabinet

LEAD CABINET MEMBER:

Cllr Hazel Smith

LEAD OFFICER:

Heather Wood/Peter Campbell

Lettings Policy Review
Executive Summary
1. This council is part of the Cambridgeshire and West Suffolk Home-Link

partnership; a partnership of six local authorities and 34 Registered Providers with
a shared framework for prioritising and allocating social housing across the area.
2. The last major review of the allocations process took place in 2012. Minor policy
amendments were subsequently approved in 2018 to incorporate changes in
legislation. The allocations process and associated Lettings Policy were therefore
due for full review.
3. The 2020 review involved a detailed, line by line review of the policy but resulted
in a recommendation for only minor amendments. A public consultation ran for
eight weeks from 23rd October – 18th December 2020 and demonstrated broad
agreement with the proposals.
4. The Home-Link Management Board (comprising representatives across the
partnership), agreed a final draft of the policy at an Extra Ordinary Meeting held
on 14th January 2021. Although the board have agreed the allocations framework
and policy for the partnership, each local authority must also now seek formal
approval to accept the updated Lettings Policy via Cabinet. The updated policy
will be implemented once all local authorities have received formal approval
(estimated June 2021).

Key Decision
5. No. This is not a key decision.

Page 127

Recommendations
6. Cabinet are asked to note the outcome of the allocations review, including the
consultation feedback and agree the subsequent revisions to the Lettings Policy.

Details
7. As at 1st March 2021 there were 10,288* households with live applications waiting
for social housing in the Cambridgeshire and West Suffolk Sub-Region. 1,667* of
these applicants were registered with this council. (*Please note these figures are
fluid as applicants join and leave the register daily).
8. Between 1st April 2020 and 1st March 2021, 2666 households were
accommodated across the partnership via the Home-Link system. This includes
466 households in South Cambridgeshire; 344 of which were in the top two
priority bands and 136 which were newly registered after 1 April 2020.
9. A comparable 2,963 households were housed via the Home-Link system in
2019/20 which includes 442 households in South Cambridgeshire, demonstrating
that the system of prioritising and allocating social housing has continued to
function despite the challenges of Covid-19.

10. The Lettings Policy sets out the process for allocating social housing and explains
who can apply, the criteria used to prioritise and assess applications and how
properties are nominated.
11. The policy must comply with the requirements outlined in Part 6 of the 1996
Housing Act. This includes offering ‘reasonable preference’ to certain categories
of people when allocating properties and these legal requirements therefore
cannot be changed.
12. The majority of the amendments to the policy relate to wording changes and were
introduced to aid clarity and to help partners interpret and apply the policy
consistently. However, more significant changes include the following:
13.
i)

Ensuring ex-partners/spouses of armed forces personnel have the same
priority given to their former partners where they move out of a Ministry of
Defence property due to a relationship breakdown. This change is to
ensure the partnership is compliant with the requirements of the Military
Covenant.

Page 128

ii)

Changes to the work element of the local connection criteria, to clarify the
work requirement including the type and nature of qualifying work. (These
changes are detailed in Section 3.4.2).

iii)

Greater clarity in circumstances where an applicant has sufficient financial
capital or other means to find a housing solution outside of the register.

Implications
14. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk,
equality and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following
implications have been considered:-

Legal
15. Prior to the start of the formal consultation, legal advice was sought from Bevan
Brittain (in conjunction 3C Legal services who procured the advice on behalf of
the partnership). Several small recommendations were made which have been
incorporated into the final draft of the policy. These changes all involved tweaks
to wording to ensure partners had not inadvertently fettered their discretion.
16. However, of particular note is the headline feedback from the lead solicitor which
was communicated by email on 23rd September 2020 and which read ‘In my view
this is a good and detailed allocation policy. It is clear and comprehensive and, in
my view, will enable applicants to understand how their application has been
assessed.’

Equality and Diversity
17. A detailed Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed and agreed with
the Equalities Officer.
Consultation responses
18. A public consultation ran from 23rd October 2020 – 18th December 2020. In total
623 responses were received from across the partnership area. The majority of
responses (305) were from existing applicants, although a range of people replied
including Home-Link partners and representatives from interested organisations
such as the Probation Service and Domestic Abuse support services.
19. The following three aspects of feedback are particularly worthy of note:

Page 129

i)

Respondents were asked whether they agreed with each of the stated
policy objectives. Overall, 79.9% of respondents agreed with the
objectives and so no further changes were made in this respect.

ii)

74.8% of respondents indicated that they either somewhat agreed or
strongly agreed with the policy changes relating to local connection and
working hours. Based on this, Home-Link Management Board decided
that the proposed changes to this aspect of the policy should be confirmed.

iii)

60.5% of respondents either somewhat agreed or strongly agreed that
those with sufficient financial resources should be awarded a lower priority
band. 20.5% of respondents neither agreed nor disagreed and Home-Link
Management Board agreed that this represented strong enough levels of
agreement to retain the principle of awarding people with significant
financial resources a lower priority. However, additional feedback was
received in relation to people experiencing domestic abuse and the impact
this could have on a person’s finance. (For example, in cases of coercive
control and/or economic abuse). Consequently, some minor wording
changes were agreed to ensure that those experiencing abuse or
harassment were not negatively impacted.

Alignment with Council Priority Areas
Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in

iv)

The policy is central to the fair and transparent allocation of social housing
across the district.

Background Papers
Consultation Feedback – Report to Home-Link Management Board on 14th January 2021.

Appendices
Appendix A: Lettings Policy

Report Author:
Heather Wood, Head of Housing Advice and Options
Telephone: (01954) 713001

Page 130

Lettings Policy
This document sets out how the Council, in partnership with
Registered Providers with properties in the district, will allocate their
properties through the “Home-Link scheme”

Lettings Policy February 2021

Page 131
1

Contents Page
Chapter 1 ............................................................................................................................... 5
1.1

Introduction ............................................................................................................... 5

1.2

Objectives of the lettings policy ................................................................................. 5

1.3

Statement on choice ................................................................................................. 6

1.4

Legal context ............................................................................................................. 6

1.5

Equal opportunities and diversity .............................................................................. 7

1.6

The welfare of children .............................................................................................. 7

1.7

The welfare of adults ................................................................................................. 7

1.8

Monitoring and reviewing the lettings policy .............................................................. 8

Chapter 2 ............................................................................................................................... 9
2.1

How to apply for housing ........................................................................................... 9

2.2

Date of registration .................................................................................................... 9

2.3

Date in band ............................................................................................................ 10

2.4

Armed Forces personnel – date in band ................................................................. 10

2.5

Multiple applications ................................................................................................ 11

2.6

Change of circumstances ........................................................................................ 11

2.7

Applicant’s consent and declaration ........................................................................ 11

2.8

Data protection ........................................................................................................ 12

2.9

Application review ................................................................................................... 12

2.10 Cancelling an application ........................................................................................ 12
Chapter 3 ............................................................................................................................. 13
3.1

Who can be accepted onto the housing register? ................................................... 13

3.2

Eligible applicants ................................................................................................... 13

3.3

Qualifying categories of applicants .......................................................................... 13

3.4

Connection to the local area criteria ........................................................................ 13

3.5

Applicants with a history of unacceptable behaviour ............................................... 15

3.6

16 and 17 year olds ................................................................................................. 16

Chapter 4 ............................................................................................................................. 17
Assessment of housing need ............................................................................................ 17
4.1

Legal background .................................................................................................... 17

4.2

Advice and information ............................................................................................ 17

4.3

Assessment of housing need .................................................................................. 17

4.4

Local lettings criteria ............................................................................................... 17

4.5

Housing needs bands.............................................................................................. 18

4.6

Band A: Urgent need ............................................................................................... 18

4.7

Band B: High need .................................................................................................. 20

4.8

Band C: Medium need............................................................................................. 22

4.9

132
Band D: Low housing needPage
.....................................................................................
23
2

4.10 Low priority .............................................................................................................. 24
4.11 Intentionally worsening housing circumstances ...................................................... 24
4.12 Homeowners ........................................................................................................... 25
4.13 Financial resources ................................................................................................. 25
4.14 Officer review for Band A applicants ....................................................................... 26
Chapter 5 ............................................................................................................................. 27
Assessment information and criteria ................................................................................. 27
5.1

Transfer applicants .................................................................................................. 27

5.2

Homeless applications ............................................................................................ 27

5.3

Split families ............................................................................................................ 28

5.4

Bedroom requirement guidelines ............................................................................ 28

5.5

Staying contact with children ................................................................................... 28

5.6

Medical assessments .............................................................................................. 29

5.7

Harassment and domestic abuse ............................................................................ 29

5.8

Applicant subject to Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements, (MAPPA) ........ 29

5.9

Emergency housing status ...................................................................................... 29

5.10 Direct Lets ............................................................................................................... 29
5.11 Direct lets to homeless applicants ........................................................................... 30
5.12 Applicants who require a specific size, type or adapted property. ........................... 31
5.13 Housing for older people (also known as sheltered housing) .................................. 31
5.14 Extra care properties ............................................................................................... 31
5.15 Refusals of direct let ................................................................................................ 31
5.16 Local lettings plans .................................................................................................. 32
Chapter 6 ............................................................................................................................. 33
6.1

Reviews of decisions ............................................................................................... 33

6.2

Statutory reviews ..................................................................................................... 33

6.3

Homeless reviews ................................................................................................... 34

6.4

The Local Government Ombudsman ...................................................................... 34

Chapter 7 ............................................................................................................................. 36
7.1

Letting of accommodation ....................................................................................... 36

7.2

Labelling property adverts ....................................................................................... 36

7.3

Bedroom requirements ............................................................................................ 36

7.4

Shortlisting .............................................................................................................. 36

7.5

Formal offer of the property ..................................................................................... 37

7.6

Withdrawal of offers ................................................................................................ 37

7.7

Refusing an offer of accommodation ....................................................................... 38

7.8

Allocations to staff, council members or their family members ................................ 38

7.9

Tenancy management outside the scope of the lettings policy ............................... 38

Chapter 8 ............................................................................................................................. 39

Page 133

Confidentiality and access to information .......................................................................... 39
3

8.1

Applicants’ rights to information .............................................................................. 39

8.2

Data protection ........................................................................................................ 39

8.3

Requesting information ........................................................................................... 39

Appendix 1 .......................................................................................................................... 40
Home-Link Partner Organisation List ................................................................................ 40
Appendix 2 .......................................................................................................................... 42
Glossary of Terms ............................................................................................................. 42

Page 134
4

Chapter 1
1.1

Introduction

1.1.1 This is the Lettings Policy for the Council, which is a member of the HomeLink choice based lettings scheme, which covers the Cambridgeshire and
West Suffolk area. The partner organisations to the Home-Link scheme are:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

Cambridge City Council
East Cambridgeshire District Council
Fenland District Council
Huntingdonshire District Council
South Cambridgeshire District Council
West Suffolk Council

1.1.2 The Home-Link scheme and this lettings policy were designed through
collaboration between the partner organisations listed above, with the aim of
having as much consistency in the letting of social housing as is possible in a
very diverse area. The lettings policy aims to ensure that all people seeking
social housing in the Council area can exercise choice in deciding where they
wish to live and in the type of property they would prefer.
1.1.3 The policy enables the Council to consider the individual needs of its
applicants whilst making best use of the scarce resource of housing stock.
The policy sets out:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

How to apply for housing.
Who will qualify to be accepted onto the housing register.
How priority for housing applicants will be given.
What the decision-making processes are.
How homes will be let.

1.1.4 You may view this lettings policy, at the Council’s website, or request a
copy from any of the partner organisation’s offices. (See Appendix 1 on
p.34)
1.2

Objectives of the lettings policy
a) To meet the legal requirements for the allocation of social housing as
set out in the Housing Act 1996 (as amended)
b) To assist applicants in the highest assessed need
c) To let properties in a fair and transparent way and provide a
consistent lettings process
d) To make best use of housing stock
e) To ensure that applicants are not unlawfully discriminated against,
whether directly or indirectly
f) To support vulnerable applicants
g) To provide increased choice and information to applicants
h) To provide information and feedback on homes that are let
through the Home-Link scheme
i) To improve mobility across the Cambridgeshire and West Suffolk
j) To promote social inclusion and help achieve sustainable communities
k) To meet the legal requirements set out under the legislation and guidance
Page 135
referred to in Section 1.4
5

1.3

Statement on choice

1.3.1 The Council is fully committed to enabling applicants to play a more active
role in choosing where they live, whilst continuing to house those in the
greatest need in the Council.
1.3.2 The Home-Link scheme enables applicants from the Council’s area to have
access to a percentage of available homes from all the partner organisations
across Cambridgeshire and West Suffolk.
1.4

Legal context

1.4.1 All applicants for housing will be assessed to determine their eligibility to be
placed on the housing register. This is to ensure homes are let to those in
the highest assessed need and ensures that the council meets its legal
obligations as set out in the Housing Act 1996 (as amended).
This policy has also had regard to:
a) Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing
authorities in England, and
b) The Public Sector Equality Duty, and
c) Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act, and
d) The Council’s Homelessness Strategy, and
e) The Council’s Tenancy Strategy (containing details of the types of
social rented tenancies that may be offered by housing association
landlords).
f) Any future legislative obligations which partners share. If there are
future changes, the partnership will review the legal context of this
Policy.
1.4.2 The law states that there are five groups of applicants where reasonable
preference must be considered:
a) People who are homeless (within the meaning of Part VII (7) of the
Housing Act 1996 (as amended))
b) People who are owed a duty by any local housing authority under
section 190(2), 193(2), or 195(2) of the 1996 Act (or under section
65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985) or who are occupying
accommodation secured by any such authority under section 192(3)
c) People occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise
living in unsatisfactory housing conditions
d) People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including
grounds relating to a disability); and
e) People who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the
authority, where failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to
themselves or to others)
1.4.3 The lettings policy has been designed to ensure applicants who fall into
the above reasonable preference categories will be awarded reasonable
preference.
Page 136
6

1.4.4 Every application received by the Council will be considered according to
the facts unique to that application as the Council recognises that every
applicant’s situation is different. Applications will be considered on an
individual basis and individual circumstances will be taken into account.
However, all lettings will be made in accordance with this lettings policy.
Where individual circumstances are not covered by the on-line
application form, applicants should contact the partner to whom they are
applying to discuss their application so that all relevant facts can be
considered fully.
1.5

Equal opportunities and diversity

1.5.1 The lettings policy will be responsive, accessible and sensitive to the needs
of all by having regard to the protected characteristics in the Equality Act
2010.
The Council is committed to promoting equality of opportunity and will ensure
that all applicants are treated fairly and without unlawful discrimination on the
grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual
orientation.
In addition, the Council is committed to the aims of the Public Sector Equality
Duty (2011):
a) Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their
protected characteristics
b) Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where
these are different from the needs of other people
c) Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life
or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low.
The Council also has due regard to the commitments made in Article 14 of
the Human Rights Act (1998) as it relates to the service provided.
1.6

The welfare of children

1.6.1 The Council will ensure that decisions made under this lettings policy have
regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children taking into
account Section 11 of The Children’s Act and the Public Sector Equality Duty.
1.6.2 The Council will also have regard to the Children and Social Work Act 2017 as
relates to the local arrangements for safeguarding and promoting welfare of
children.
1.7

The welfare of adults

1.7.1 The Council will also have regard to the Care Act 2014, which includes
provisions for adults at risk of abuse or neglect.

Page 137
7

1.8

Monitoring and reviewing the lettings policy

1.8.1 The Council will monitor the operation of the lettings policy by regularly
reviewing the policy to ensure that it meets its stated objectives and complies
with legislative changes.

Page 138
8

Chapter 2
2.1

How to apply for housing

2.1.1 The on-line form can be completed at www.home-link.org.uk. A paper form, if
required, can be requested from the Council and they can also offer
assistance to complete the form if needed.
2.1.2 An applicant may include anyone on their application who may
reasonably be expected to live with them as part of their household.
The Council reserves the right to decide who can reasonably be
expected to reside in an applicant’s household.
2.1.3 Where two applicants wish to have a shared application they will be known as
joint applicants. Although adults who are not partners and need more than
one bedroom may jointly apply to the register, due to the level of demand for
family sized accommodation from family households (by “family” we mean
households that have children (under 18) who are dependent on the adult(s))
they will not normally be prioritised for an offer of this size of accommodation
ahead of families.
2.1.4 On receipt of the application the Council will assess this and will request
additional information and supporting evidence so that the applicant’s
eligibility and housing need can be confirmed. The Council will verify the
information provided which may include inviting the applicant for an interview
or visiting them at home.
2.1.5 Applications will only be accepted onto the register where:
a) The applicant is eligible for an allocation of social housing (see
Chapter 3); and
b) The applicant qualifies for an allocation of social housing. (See sections
3.2 to 3.4).
2.1.6 After assessment the Council will write to applicants to inform them whether
they have been accepted onto the housing register, or give reasons if they
have not. Where accepted they will be informed of:
a) Their unique reference number, which allows them to bid for homes
through the Home-Link Scheme
b) The housing needs band in which the application has been placed
c) The date that the application was placed in the band (the “date in band”)
d) The size of property for which the applicant is likely to be able to bid
If they have not been accepted onto the housing register the Council will set
out the reasons for this decision and will provide information about the review
process (see Chapter 6).
.
2.2

Date of registration

2.2.1 The registration date of an application will be the date the on-line housing
application form is received electronically,
or if a paper application is
Page 139
9

submitted, the date it is received at the office of the Council, or any of the
partner organisations.
2.3

Date in band

2.3.1 The principle of the policy is that normally no applicant should overtake
existing applicants in a band. Therefore, applicants will be placed within a
band in date order.
a) New applications: the date in band will be the same as the applicant’s
date of registration.
b) Change of circumstances which results in a higher band
assessment: the date in band will be the date the applicant provides
evidence of the change of circumstances leading to the award of a
higher priority band.
2.3.2 When applicants move down bands due to a change in their
circumstances the following applies:
a) Returning to a band in which they were previously placed: the date
in band reverts to the date that applied when the applicant was
previously in that band.
b) Moving into a lower band in which they have not previously been
placed: the date in band will be the date that the application was first
placed into a higher band. In most circumstances, this is likely to be
their date of registration.
2.4

Armed Forces personnel – date in band

2.4.1 Additional priority will be awarded to the following categories of people:
a) serving members of the regular forces who are suffering from a serious

injury, illness or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their
service
b) former members of the regular forces
c) bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the regular forces
where (i) the bereaved spouse or civil partner has recently ceased, or
will cease to be entitled, to reside in Ministry of Defence
accommodation following the death of their service spouse or civil
partner, and
(ii) the death was wholly or partly attributable to their service
d) existing or former members of the reserve forces who are suffering
from a serious injury, illness, or disability which is wholly or partly
attributable to their service.
2.4.2 Additional priority will be awarded to the above categories of people by
awarding their application the appropriate priority band, as set out in this
lettings policy, and backdating their date in band by the total cumulative
period of their length of military service (including where they have made a
homeless application). This will have the effect of raising their priority above
applicants in similar circumstances
who have not undertaken military service.
Page 140
10

This additional priority is awarded to meet the expectations set out in the
Armed Forces Covenant and national guidance.
2.4.3 Current members of the Armed Forces may also request that this additional
priority be applied to their housing application six months prior to the date
when they are due to leave military service. Appropriate evidence of the end to
military service will be required.
2.5

Multiple applications

2.5.1 An applicant can have only one active application on the housing register at any time
where they are either the applicant or joint applicant. They may however be considered on
other applications where they are eligible to be considered as part of another applicant’s
household, for example where living with a parent and included as part of their application.
In exceptional cases, such as those involving violence or abuse, the council can decide to
permit a second application.
2.6

Change of circumstances

2.6.1 Where an applicant registered with the Council has a change in their
circumstances they must promptly inform the Council. Applicants can complete
a change of circumstances on-line at www.home-link.org.uk or obtain a change
of circumstances form from any partner organisation, but this must then be
sent to the partner organisation who is managing their application. Change of
circumstances received by the Council will be assessed based on the new
circumstances. Examples of change of circumstances where a form must be
completed are detailed below, although this list is not exhaustive:
a)
b)
c)
d)

Change of address
People joining or leaving the household
Relationship breakdown
Change to the medical circumstances of anyone included on the application

For the examples detailed below, applicants may not need to complete a change of
circumstances form, but must contact the Council, who will advise what
documentation/evidence is required:
a)
b)
c)
d)
2.7

Pregnancy/birth of a child
Death of a household member
Death of a joint applicant
Change of income and/or capital

Applicant’s consent and declaration

2.7.1 When an applicant applies for housing, they will be required to confirm
their understanding of, or sign a declaration to confirm that:
a) The information they have provided is true, accurate and complete.
b) They will promptly inform the Council of any change in
circumstances.
c) They understand that information will be shared with all the
partner organisations.
d) They consent to the Council making enquiries of any relevant persons
to confirm the information on the application form is correct.

Page 141

11

e) They consent to the release of any relevant information either to the
Council held by third parties, or by the Council to third parties.
f) The information provided may be used to help in the detection and
prevention of fraud.
2.7.2 The Council may take legal action against applicants who withhold or provide
false information regarding their housing application. Where an applicant
has been let a property as a result of providing false information, their landlord
may take court action to obtain possession of the property.
2.8

Data protection

2.8.1 The Council’s policy on General Data Protection Regulations is available on
request and can also be found online at the Council’s website.
2.9

Application review

2.9.1 Every year on the anniversary of an application being received, we will write to
the applicant to see if they still wish to be on the housing register and ask
them to update their application if there have been any changes to their
circumstances. If there is no response within the required time limit, (28 days
from the letter/email being sent) the application will be cancelled. We will write
to the applicant to notify them of this. If an applicant contacts the Council
within 28 days of their application being cancelled and indicates that they still
want to be considered for housing, the application will be reinstated from their
last applicable date in band (see s.2.3 above).
2.10

Cancelling an application

2.10.1 An application will be cancelled from the housing register in the
following circumstances:
At the applicant’s request.
If the applicant becomes ineligible for housing (see s.3.2).
If the applicant no longer falls within a qualifying class of applicant (see s.3.3).
When the applicant has been housed through the lettings policy.
When a tenant completes a mutual exchange.
Where an applicant does not maintain their application through the
review process, or where they move and do not provide a contact
address.
g) Where the applicant has died.
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

2.10.2 When an application is cancelled, we will write to the applicant or their
representative to notify them. Where an applicant has been highlighted as
vulnerable, the Council will contact the applicant to check their circumstances
before cancelling the application. Any applicant whose application has been
cancelled has the right to ask for a review of the decision, (see Chapter 6).
2.10.3 Where an applicant wishes to re-join the housing register at a later date
their new date of registration will be the date they re-apply.

Page 142
12

Chapter 3
3.1

Who can be accepted onto the housing register?

3.1.1 The Council can allocate housing to anyone who qualifies for an allocation if
they are not ineligible under the Housing Act 1996 section 160ZA.
3.1.2 The Council cannot allocate housing to two or more persons jointly if one of
them is ineligible.
3.2

Eligible applicants

3.2.1 The Council is required, by law, to decide that certain applicants are
ineligible for an allocation of social housing. Eligibility can change with a
change of immigration status and therefore the Council will keep an
applicant’s eligibility for housing under review. Applicants are responsible for
informing the Council of any change in their immigration status.
3.2.2 Applicants whose immigration status makes them ineligible to be considered
on the register will be notified in writing of the decision and the reason for the
decision. If an applicant is accepted onto the register, but subsequently
becomes ineligible, their housing application will be cancelled and the
applicant notified. Applicants found to be ineligible have a right to ask for a
review of the decision (see Chapter 6).
3.2.3 Where an eligible applicant includes people who are ineligible as part of his
or her household the council can, in deciding who forms part of the
applicant’s household for the purposes of housing allocation:
a) Have regard to the fact that members of a person’s household would
not be eligible for accommodation in their own right.
b) Have regard to the fact that an ineligible person is not permitted to have
recourse to public funds.
c) Conclude that an ineligible person does not form part of the household when
assessing priority.
3.3

Qualifying categories of applicants

3.3.1 Cambridgeshire and West Suffolk are areas where the demand for social
housing far exceeds the supply. For this reason only those applicants who
meet the local connection criteria will qualify to join the housing register (see
s.3.4).
3.3.2 Applicants will not qualify to join the housing register if they are considered to
be unsuitable to be a tenant because of unacceptable behaviour (see s.3.5).
3.4

Connection to the local area criteria

3.4.1 An applicant will be considered to have a connection with the Council
area and accepted onto the housing register if they meet one of the
following criteria:

Page 143
13

a. The applicant is in full time or part time employment in the Council
district for sixteen hours or more per week. See Section 3.4.2 below
for further details; or
b. The applicant has lived in the local authority area for at least 6 of the
last 12 months, or 3 of the last 5 years; or
c. The applicant has family members who have been resident in the
local authority area for a period of 5 years or longer and are currently
resident in the local authority area. Family members are defined as
parents, adult sons and adult daughters or brothers or sisters. Other
family associations will be considered on a case by case basis; or
d. The applicant is owed a main housing duty under the s.193 (2) or
193C (4) of the relevant homelessness legislation by the Council; or
e. The applicant is serving in the regular forces or who has served in
the regular forces within five years of the date of their application
for an allocation of housing under Part 6 of the 1996 Act; or
f. The applicant will cease to be entitled to reside in accommodation
provided by the Ministry of Defence following:
i.

ii.

the death of that person’s spouse or civil partner where the spouse or
civil partner has served in the regular forces; and their death was
attributable (wholly or partly) to that service; or
divorce or separation from a spouse or civil partner where the spouse or
civil partner is a member of the regular forces; or

g. The applicant is serving or has served in the reserve forces and
who is suffering from a serious injury, illness or disability which is
attributable (wholly or partly) to that service; or
h. The applicant is a “relevant person” as defined by Regulation 4 of the
Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move)
(England) Regulations 2015; or
i.

The applicant or a member of the applicant’s household needs to
move away from another area to escape violence or harm; or

j.

The applicant is a care leaver from the County who has been placed
(by Children’s Services) outside the Council area; or

k. There are special circumstances that the Council considers give rise
to a local connection.
3.4.2

Applicants will be considered to have employment in the Council district
and therefore may meet the local connection criteria if:
a) They are in paid full or part time permanent employment for 16 hours or more
per week and their actual working location is within the district; or
b) They are working within the district on a temporary or zero-hour employment
contract that has been in place for at least 6 months and can demonstrate they
have worked at least 16 hours per week since starting the employment
Page 144
contract; or
14

c) Self-employed applicants are required to demonstrate that their permanent
base of operations is within the District, even if their work requires them from
time to time to work outside of the district; or
d) The employment must be the actual place of work in the district and not
employment based on a head office or regional office situated in the district but
from which they do not work.
The Council reserves the right to waive the 16 hour requirement if necessary
to avoid discrimination.
3.4.3 Applicants who are in one of the reasonable preference groups, but with none
of the connection to the local area criteria above, may be eligible to join the
register. Anyone who believes this applies to them should contact the Council
directly to discuss their circumstances.
3.5

Applicants with a history of unacceptable behaviour

3.5.1 Where an applicant or a member of their household has a history of behaviour
which in the opinion of the Council is unacceptable and makes the applicant
unsuitable to be a tenant the Council may decide that the applicant does not
qualify to be accepted onto the housing register. Unacceptable behaviour can
include (but is not limited to) domestic or other abuse, harassment, anti-social
behaviour, drug dealing or other criminal activity, failing to maintain or repair
their home or associated garden or garage, noise nuisance or tenancy related
debt.
3.5.2 When considering whether an applicant with a history of unacceptable
behaviour qualifies to be accepted on the housing register, the Council will
consider the nature of the behaviour, when it took place, the length of time
that has elapsed since and whether there has been any change in
circumstances which would show that the applicant or member of the
applicant’s household had amended their behaviour so that they are
considered suitable to become a tenant. In addition, any extenuating
circumstances, such as coercion or harassment, will be taken into account
as well as any possible risks to others arising from a register exclusion.
3.5.3 If the Council decides that an applicant does not qualify to be accepted on the
housing register because the applicant or a member of their household has a
history of unacceptable behaviour that makes them unsuitable to be a tenant,
the applicant will be informed in writing of this decision and the reasons for
the decision. They will also be informed how they can become a qualifying
person, for example, by agreeing an arrangement to make payments towards
rent arrears and adhering to this, or by the applicant showing that the
circumstances or behaviour that made them unsuitable to be a tenant, has
changed.
3.5.4 If an applicant is accepted onto the register but a change in their behaviour
means that they are no longer a qualifying person, their housing application
will be removed and the applicant will be notified in writing of this decision
and the reasons for the decision.
3.5.5 Applicants considered as not qualifying due to unacceptable behaviour have
a right to ask for a review of the decision (see Chapter 6).

Page 145
15

3.6

16 and 17 year olds

3.6.1 Anyone aged 16 or over can apply for housing. However, until the applicant
reaches 18 years old any offer of accommodation will be subject to
appropriate guarantor or trustee arrangements being in place. The guarantor
could be a family member, adult friend, or a professional body. Applicants
under 18 years old will be referred to a housing officer for advice regarding
their housing rights and options.

Page 146
16

Chapter 4
Assessment of housing need
4.1

Legal background

4.1.1 All eligible and qualifying applicants will be placed in a housing needs band
following an assessment of their household’s needs. This is to ensure that
the Council meet their legal obligations as set out in the Housing Act 1996
(as amended).
4.2

Advice and information

4.2.1 The Council will ensure that advice and information on how to apply for
housing in the Council area is available free of charge to everyone. If
applicants are likely to have difficulty in making an application without
assistance, then the council will make any necessary assistance they
require available.
4.3

Assessment of housing need

4.3.1 Assessments of housing needs are based on an applicant’s current
housing circumstances. Assessments will be completed by housing
officers of the Council. Medical assessments will be made by a medical
professional or appropriately trained officer.
Where an adverse decision about an application is made by any of the HomeLink partners, any duplicate applications to another partner’s housing register
will have due regard to that original decision. Because the Home-Link
partners use the same assessment criteria for housing applications, original
decisions will only be overturned in exceptional circumstances following an
assessment. The original partner applied to will be contacted to discuss the
decision and the decision will generally apply to any new application when
sufficient information has been received.
Any new or additional information not available for the original decision
will be considered by the Home-Link partner to assess any impact on
the decision.
4.4

Local lettings criteria

4.4.1 To ensure local housing needs are met, 90% of properties advertised
through the Home-Link scheme will be labelled as available to applicants
with a connection to the Council. 10% of advertised properties will be open
to bidding from applicants with a connection to any of the Home-Link
partner organisations. 25% of new growth homes will be made available
for cross boundary moves. The relevant local area connection requirement
will be clearly labelled on the property advert.
4.4.2 Where a property has local area connection criteria attached to it through a
local lettings plan or s.106 agreement, then these properties will be let in
line with the criteria within the lettings
or the s.106 agreement. This
Pageplan
147
17

may differ from the connection to the local area criteria contained within
this lettings policy and will be mentioned in the property advert.
4.5

Housing needs bands

4.5.1 Eligible and qualifying applicants will be placed in one of the following four
bands in date order. Applicants placed in Band A will have the highest
assessed need, Band D the lowest. When an applicant is placed in a
housing needs band the same level of priority will apply with all partner
organisations in the Home-Link scheme.
4.5.2 Any applicants accepted on to the housing register under section 3.4.3 of this
policy (in a reasonable preference group but not meeting the connection to
the local area criteria), will be placed in band C. However, they will only be
considered for a property after any applicants in that band who have a
proven connection with the local area.
4.6

Band A: Urgent need
Applicants with the following circumstances will be placed into Band A:
a) Urgent transfer
Where an existing council or housing association tenant needs to move
urgently because of circumstances that could include:
a) Major repairs are required on the property in which they live and which
cannot be undertaken with the tenant living in the property.
b) The property is being demolished.
c) Urgent social need to move.
b) Current supported housing resident
Applicants leaving Social Services care or other supported accommodation,
and are ready to move to a permanent home of their own. This will be subject
to the Council, Social Services (where applicable) and the landlord of the
supported accommodation agreeing that the applicant is ready to move to
their own home. If the applicant needs an on-going support package to allow
them to live independently, confirmation that this will be put in place will also
be required from the proposed support provider. The date that this priority is
awarded (date in Band A) will be the date that the resident is ready to move to
independent living, as recommended by their support worker.
The decision to apply this priority will be made by the relevant decisionmaking process in the district where the supported housing is based.
c) Urgent health and safety risk
The condition of the applicant’s current accommodation has been assessed
by the Council or a partner organisation as posing an urgent health and
safety risk. This will apply where the assessment has classified the
accommodation as unsafe, or where there is a risk of imminent harm as
identified in the assessment, which cannot be remedied in a reasonable time
and where the health and safety
has not been caused intentionally by the
Pagerisk
148
18

applicant or a member of the applicant’s household who will continue to live
with them.
d) Urgent medical need
An urgent medical priority will be awarded where the assessment concludes
that the applicant or household member has a severe medical condition or
disability that is made substantially worse by their current housing. This
would include people whose life is at risk due to their current housing
conditions or who are completely housebound because of the type of
accommodation in which they live..
Priority will be given depending on how unsuitable the current
accommodation is in relation to their medical or disability needs. The
assessment is not purely based on the applicant’s health conditions.
The following are only examples of circumstances that may qualify (but
not in all circumstances) for an urgent medical need award:
•
•

•
•
•

Those who, on leaving hospital, either have nowhere to live or have
somewhere to live but it is unsuitable for their medical needs and cannot be
made suitable through adaptations
Those who have somewhere to live but it is unsuitable for their medical needs
and cannot be made suitable through adaptations because of cost
effectiveness, structural difficulties or the property cannot be adapted within a
reasonable amount of time. Applicants will be individually assessed
Where an applicant’s condition is life threatening and the existing
accommodation is a major contributory factor
Where an applicant’s health is so severely affected by the accommodation that
it is likely to become life threatening
Disabled persons (as defined under the Equality Act 2010) who have restricted
or limited mobility and are limited by their accommodation and unable to carry
out day to day activities or have difficulties accessing facilities e.g. bathroom,
kitchen, toilet, inside and outside of their accommodation safely and the
current accommodation cannot be reasonably adapted

e) Lacking two or more bedrooms
The household is assessed as lacking two or more bedrooms (see s.5.4).
f) Under-occupancy by two or more bedrooms or release of adapted property
Where an existing council or housing association tenant:
a) Is assessed as having two or more bedrooms that are not required
by the household (see s.5.4).
b) Where a property has been adapted and the adaptations are no
longer required. For example, if the person requiring the adaptations
has moved or died.
g) Homeless households (Main homelessness duty owed under s.193
(2) of the Housing Act 1996 as amended)
Where the Council has acceptedPage
a duty 149
under s193 (2) of the Housing
Act 1996 (as amended) and this duty has not been brought to an end.
19

The date in band will be the date that the applicant approached the
Council for housing assistance and a Prevention or Relief Duty was
triggered.
h) Urgent multiple needs
This priority will be applied where an applicant is assessed as having two or
more Band B needs. This may include an application where two household
members have the same assessed need e.g. two high medical needs.
For multiple needs in Band A please see ‘emergency housing status’ (see Chapter 5)
4.7

Band B: High need
Applicants with the following circumstances will be placed into Band B:
a) High health and safety risk
The condition of the applicant’s current accommodation has been assessed
by the Council or a partner organisation as posing a high health and safety
risk to them or members of their household. This will apply where the
assessment has identified that the applicant is living in a property, the
condition of which places them or members of their household at a high risk
of harm as identified in the assessment, which cannot be remedied in a
reasonable time and where the health and safety risk has not been caused
intentionally by the applicant or a member of the applicant’s household who
will continue to live with them.
b) High medical need
A high medical priority will be awarded where the assessment concludes
that the applicant or household member has a serious medical condition or
disability that is made substantially worse by their current housing, but who
are not housebound or whose life is not at risk due to their current housing.
However, their housing conditions directly contribute to causing serious ill
health and the condition of the property cannot be resolved within a
reasonable period of time.
Documentary evidence will be required. Circumstances will be assessed
and may need to be referred to a relevant health care professional. The
following are only examples of cases that may qualify (but not in all
circumstances) for a high medical need award:
•
•
•
•
•

The applicant’s accommodation is directly contributing to the deterioration of
the applicant’s health, such as severe chest condition, requiring intermittent
hospitalisation because of chronic dampness in the accommodation
Children with severe conditions such as autism, or cerebral palsy, where their
long-term needs cannot be met without suitable accommodation
A member of the household seeking accommodation is disabled and rehousing will enable that person to overcome physical barriers created by
current accommodation e.g. steps and stairs
A person with a severe disability requiring substantial adaptations to a property
which is not, and cannot be provided for in their current accommodation
A person with a terminal illness or long-term debilitating condition whose
Page
150
current accommodation
is not
having a significant impact on their condition but
20

•

where their quality of life would be significantly improved by moving to
alternative suitable accommodation
A person suffering with a diagnosed mental illness where the medical condition
would be significantly improved by a move to alternative accommodation.

c) Lacking one bedroom
This priority will be applied where the household is assessed as lacking one
bedroom based on the bedroom calculation in (see s.5.4).
d) Under-occupancy by one bedroom.
This priority will be applied where an existing council or housing association
tenant is assessed as having one bedroom more than required by the
household (see s.5.4).
e) Victims of harassment, violence or abuse
Where the Council or a partner organisation has identified that the applicant
or a member of their household is being subjected to harassment or other
conduct causing alarm and distress that will be improved by a move to
alternative accommodation. Harassment might be, but is not limited to,
harassment due to, race, sex, gender reassignment, sexual orientation,
mental health, physical disability, learning disability, religion, domestic abuse
or harassment by a former partner or associated persons.
The Council will offer advice and support to assist the applicant in
identifying possible ways to resolve the situation.
f) Applicants owed a Prevention or Relief duty (under s, 189a or 189B
of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended))
Where an applicant is threatened with homelessness within 56 days, the
Council will work with the applicant to try and prevent their homelessness.
Those applicants who the authority has reason to believe may be in priority
need in the event of a main duty assessment and have a local connection,
will be placed in Band B whilst the prevention measures are being pursued
and the applicants are actively co-operating with the prevention work being
done.
Where homelessness prevention has not been possible and an applicant
becomes homeless, they will be owed a relief duty. Those applicants who
the authority has reason to believe may be in priority need in the event of a
main duty assessment and have a local connection, will remain in Band B
during this time. Where placed in temporary accommodation by the local
authority, applicants will not be awarded additional priority on any other
accommodation related factors.
This priority will no longer apply once the prevention and relief duties have
ended and applicants will be re-assessed on their circumstances.

Page 151
21

g) Sleeping rough
This priority will be applied where it has been confirmed that an applicant is
sleeping rough and has no other accommodation available to them. The
council will verify that an applicant is sleeping rough before awarding this
priority. Rough sleeping priority will not be awarded when accommodation is
available to the applicant, including a placement at a direct access hostel, but
the applicant chooses not to take up this offer of accommodation. Applicants
assessed as ‘Sleeping rough’ will not be awarded additional priority on any
other accommodation related factors. This will apply even when duties have
ended as described under Section 4.8 (d).
h) Multiple needs
This priority will be applied where an applicant is assessed as having three
or more Band C needs. This may include an application where more than
two household members have the same assessed need e.g. three medical
needs.
4.8

Band C: Medium need
Applicants with the following circumstances will be placed into Band C:
a) Medium medical need
Medium medical need will be awarded where an applicant has a medical
condition or disability that is affected significantly by their housing
circumstances, not at a critical or serious impact level but a move would be
likely to improve their quality of life.
b) Need to move for social reasons
Where the Council or a partner organisation has assessed the applicant’s
need to move for social reasons. An applicant will only be awarded this
factor once irrespective of the number of social needs that may apply to
their situation.
Examples where a social need to move may apply may include where an applicant:
a) Needs to move to or within an area of the sub-region to give or
receive support, and a proven level of support is required and
can be given
b) Has found employment in the Council area and needs to move closer
to work, or will otherwise lose their employment, or suffer hardship
c) Has staying contact with a child/children and is living in
accommodation where the child/children are not allowed to stay
overnight.
d) Is living in a first floor or above property and has children less than
10 years of age as part of their household, or is more than 24 weeks
pregnant.
c) Housing conditions
This priority will be applied where the applicant/s either lack or share one or
more of these facilities with persons, who are not members of their
household. Facilities may include:

Page 152

22

a) A living room
b) Kitchen
c) Bathroom
d) Other homelessness
Applicants:
a) Who are owed a Prevention Duty by the council but have been assessed as
not having a local connection as set out in this policy.
b) Who are owed a Prevention or Relief Duty but where the council believe the
applicant would be unlikely to have priority need in the event of a Main Duty
assessment if the relief duty were to come to an end unsuccessfully, although
see 5.2.4.
c) Where the Relief Duty has come to an end unsuccessfully and the applicant
has been determined to be intentionally homeless.
d) Where the Relief Duty has ended unsuccessfully and it has been determined
that the applicant is not owed the main duty as they are not in priority need.
e) Who are owed the s193C (4) duty where the Relief Duty has been ended due
to the applicants deliberate non-cooperation.
f) Who are owed a main homelessness duty by a local authority that is not a
partner organisation in Home-Link scheme but has a local connection as
defined in this policy.
g) Where the Relief or Main Duty has ended due to the applicant’s unreasonable
refusal of an offer.
h) Where the Relief Duty has ended following the expiry of 56 days.
Applicants assessed as ‘Other homelessness’ will not be awarded additional
priority on any other accommodation related factors.
Applicants given this priority will have their application reviewed on the
anniversary of the decision, unless there is a change in their circumstances in
the meantime.
e) Reasonable preference but no connection to the local area
This priority will apply to any applicant in one of the reasonable preference
groups but who do not meet any of the criteria for connection to the local
area in section 3.4.1 of this policy.
4.9

Band D: Low housing need

4.9.1 Any applicant who does not meet any of the criteria in Bands A, B and C will
be assessed as having a low level of housing need and their application will
be placed in Band D.
4.9.2 Anyone assessed as having sufficient financial resources to resolve their
own housing need (see s.4.13) will be placed in band D. These applicants
will only be considered for an offer of a property once all other bidding
applicants who do not have sufficient financial resources to resolve their
own housing need have been considered.

Page 153
23

4.10

Low priority

4.10.1 In certain circumstances, applicants will be accepted onto the housing
register, but their application will be considered as low priority as a result of
unacceptable behaviour or circumstances that affects their suitability to be a
tenant. In these circumstances their application will be placed in a housing
needs band but they will not be actively considered for an offer of a tenancy
or be able to express interest in available properties. Their application will
remain in low priority until the applicant has shown that the circumstances
or behaviour has changed so that they are considered suitable to be a
tenant.
4.10.2 The following categories will be considered as low priority:
a) Applicants with recoverable rent arrears, former rent arrears or other
housing-related charges or debts, where these are not sufficiently high
to class them as not qualifying to join the register (see s.3.5). In most
circumstances, an applicant with outstanding recoverable rent arrears,
former rent arrears or other housing-related debts will not be
considered for an offer of a tenancy or eligible to bid for housing until
they have shown a regular repayment record. In reaching this decision
any extenuating circumstances will be taken into consideration,
including coercion, harassment and abuse.
b) Applicants with a history of unacceptable behaviour where this is
not sufficiently severe to class them as not qualifying to join the
register (see s.3.5).
4.10.3 All applicants who are considered low priority will be informed of this
decision in writing, and how their application could be re-assessed, for
example, by agreeing and keeping to an arrangement to make payments
towards rent arrears, or by the applicant satisfying the council that the
circumstances or unacceptable behaviour that made them unsuitable to
be a tenant have changed.
4.10.4 The Council expects applicants to clear any recoverable housing related
debts owed to any social housing landlord before an offer of a tenancy is
made, where it is clearly within their means to do this (for example where the
debt is relatively low and the applicant has a reasonable disposable income
or has sufficient savings available).
4.10.5 When a financial assessment shows that the debt cannot be cleared
immediately then a realistic and affordable repayment arrangement should
be agreed to clear the debt. The applicant may become eligible to bid for
property as long as they have made regular payments in line with the
agreement they have made.
4.10.6 Applicants found to be low priority have a right to ask for a review of the
decision (see Chapter 6).
4.11

Intentionally worsening housing circumstances

4.11.1 If an applicant is assessed as having intentionally worsened their
circumstances, the effect ofPage
which would
154 be to improve their housing priority
irrespective of whether they had prior knowledge of the lettings policy, their
24

level of housing need will be assessed on the basis of their previous
accommodation, or previous circumstances at their current accommodation.
4.11.2 Applicants found to have intentionally worsened their circumstances have a
right to ask for a review of the decision (see Chapter 6).
4.11.3 All applicants deemed to have intentionally worsened their circumstances
will have their application reviewed on the anniversary of the decision, or
earlier if there is a material change in their circumstances in the meantime.
4.11.4 If the Council has assessed and accepted the applicant is homeless or
threatened with homelessness, has a priority need under the homeless
legislation, but considers that they have become homeless intentionally; the
applicant will be placed in Band C.
4.12

Homeowners

4.12.1 In line with the ‘Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing
authorities in England’, the Council will usually only allocate social housing
to homeowners in exceptional circumstances. However, the council may
allocate housing that is in low demand. Applicants who are homeowners will
usually be allocated a Band D status. In exceptional circumstances the
Council may consider a homeowner’s status. For example, the Council may
allocate housing to applicants who require support and whose age qualifies
them for housing for older people, but who have insufficient financial
resources to access housing for older people in the private sector.
4.13

Financial resources

4.13.1 All qualifying applicants are entitled to apply for housing regardless of
income levels. However, if an applicant is assessed as having income and/or
capital, which will enable them to resolve their own housing need through
other tenures they will not receive any preference for social housing and
when bidding will appear on the shortlist after all other applicants that do not
have the resources to resolve their own need.
This assessment will be based on the following:
a) The total income of the applicant/partner
b) Any capital available to the applicant/partner
c) Average property prices and rents in the area for the type of
accommodation needed by the household
d) The ability of the applicant/partner to rent a property in the private
sector based on a realistic assessment of their financial position and
commitments.
e) The ability of the applicant/partner to acquire a mortgage and maintain
required repayments based on a realistic assessment of their financial
position and commitments.
4.13.2 Excluded from the above financial assessment will be any member of the
Armed Forces who may have received a lump sum as compensation for
an injury or disability sustained on active service.

Page 155
25

4.13.3 An assessment of ‘sufficient financial resources’ will override the
applicant’s household needs assessment (and banding, if other than
Band D). Applicants assessed as having sufficient financial resources will
remain in Band D until such time as those resources are no longer
considered sufficient. Applicants can ask for this to be reviewed if and
when their resources reduce or are rendered inaccessible, for example as
a result of a Court Order, such that they are no longer able to resolve
their own housing need.
4.14

Officer review for Band A applicants

4.14.1 Where an applicant has held Band A status for three months or more from
their applicable date in band or the applicant has refused more than three
reasonable offers of accommodation or has made little or no attempt to bid
for accommodation the Council may carry out a review of their
circumstances. This will result in either:
a) A direct let – usually for statutorily homeless applicants living in
temporary accommodation.
b) Priority being maintained.
c) Moving into a lower priority band if the circumstances under which
they were placed in Band A no longer apply.
d) Making the applicant unable to bid for a specified period, not
exceeding six months

Page 156
26

Chapter 5
Assessment information and criteria
5.1

Transfer applicants

5.1.1 Transfer applicants are those applicants who are tenants of a council or housing
association property in the UK who wish to move to alternative accommodation.
5.2

Homeless applications

5.2.1 Applicants who are already on the housing register will remain in their
existing housing needs band whilst a homeless assessment is carried
out (unless the criterion in s.5.2.3 below applies).
5.2.2 When a decision has been made by the Council that an applicant is owed a
main homelessness duty under s.193 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 (as
amended) their application will be placed and remain in Band A until that
duty is brought to an end (See s.4.6 (g))
5.2.3 A person who is threatened with homelessness may have an existing
housing register application. Applicants already in Band A will retain their
existing Band A status whilst homelessness prevention measures are
pursued.
5.2.4 An applicant who is owed a Prevention or Relief Duty but would be unlikely
to have priority need in the event of a Main Duty assessment will be placed
in Band C (unless other circumstances are such that they are eligible for
placement within a different band).
5.2.5 Applicants where a Main Duty decision has been reached but are intentionally
homeless will be assessed as having Band C status in line with 4.8 (d) (c).
5.2.6 The main homelessness duty will come to an end, and a homeless applicant
loses their priority under this section, when any of the circumstances within
s.193 (6) or (7) of the Housing Act 1996 Act (as amended) are met. This will
include an applicant:
a) Accepting an offer of accommodation made through the Home-Link scheme
b) Accepting an offer made through the direct let process within the
policy (see s.5.10), or
c) Accepting a suitable offer of accommodation in the private rented
sector in line with section 193 of the Housing Act 1996 (as
amended) and the Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation)
(England) Order 2012
d) Having been informed of the possible consequences of refusal and
the right to request a review of the suitability of the accommodation,
refuses a reasonable offer of suitable accommodation made through
the direct let process, or in the private rented sector as outlined in c)
above
S. 193(6) of the Housing Act 1996 Act (as amended) gives the full
circumstances under which the main homelessness duty comes to an
Page 157
end.
27

5.3

Split families

5.3.1 Where an application is made by family members who it would be reasonable
to expect them to live together but they are unable to do so, the Council will
assess their particular circumstances to consider the best way of addressing
their housing needs.
5.4

Bedroom requirement guidelines

5.4.1 Bedroom requirements are generally determined in line with the Local
Housing Allowance (LHA) regulations and these regulations will be applied
when calculating bedroom requirements in overcrowding and underoccupancy assessments. They will also be used when calculating the size of
property (number of bedrooms in the property) that an applicant will be able
to bid on and eligible to be offered through the letting process.
Bedroom requirements are determined by the applicant’s size of household.
Ineligible household members may be included, subject to paragraph 2.1.2.
Generally, the LHA regulations allow one bedroom each for:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

Every adult couple
Any other adult aged 16 or over
Any two children (aged under 16) of the same sex
Any two children, regardless of sex, under the age of 10
Any other child aged under 16
A non-resident carer (claimant/partner or child have disability
and need overnight care)

Applicants requiring help in calculating their bedroom entitlement can
use the Directgov online bedroom entitlement calculator at https://lhadirect.voa.gov.uk/BedRoomCalculator.aspx.
If, in exceptional circumstances, the Council considers that a room
designated by a landlord as a bedroom is not capable of being used as a
bedroom, they may re-assess overcrowding for the household.
5.4.2 Single and joint applicants of pensionable age may be eligible to be
considered for one and two bedroom properties considered to be housing
for older people.
5.4.3 A pregnant woman expecting her first child will be assessed as
requiring two bedrooms from week 24 of her pregnancy.
5.4.4 An applicant may be assessed as requiring an additional bedroom where the
Council considers there are special circumstances.
5.5

Staying contact with children

5.5.1 A child, or children, living between parents at separate addresses will only
be considered as having one main home unless there are exceptional
circumstances that mean that both parents should provide a home. A Court
Order allowing access to children, or confirming residence between
separated parents, does not mean that the Council must consider that the

Page 158

28

child is part of an applicant’s household for the purposes of a housing
register application.
5.5.2 An assessment will be made by the Council as to which parent’s property is
considered as the child’s main home. If the Council considers that an
applicant does not provide the child with his or her main home then the child
will not be considered as part of the housing register application. The child
would then not be considered as part of the bedroom requirements when
assessing overcrowding or under-occupation. They would also not be
considered when assessing the size of property (number of bedrooms) that
the application would be eligible to bid for and offered through the lettings
process.
5.6

Medical assessments

5.6.1 Medical assessments will be carried out for any applicants who believe that
their medical condition or disability is affected by their current
accommodation. The applicant will be required to fill in a self-assessment
medical form, or provide information from a medical professional, detailing
the effect that their current accommodation has on their medical condition or
disability. These forms will be assessed and where appropriate referred to a
medical professional or appropriately trained officer for their opinion of how
the medical condition is affected by the applicant’s housing circumstances.
5.7

Harassment and domestic abuse

5.7.1 Where the applicant is a victim of harassment, domestic abuse or antisocial behaviour, the Council will offer advice and support to assist
applicants in identifying possible ways of resolving their situation.
5.8

Applicant subject to Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements, (MAPPA)

5.8.1 Where an applicant is subject to Multi Agency Public Protection
Arrangements (MAPPA), the Council will liaise with the panel to ensure an
appropriate housing solution to meet the needs of the applicant and the
community.
5.9

Emergency housing status

5.9.1 An emergency housing status may be awarded to applicants in exceptional
circumstances, where remaining in their current accommodation may cause
risk of death or serious injury, where an applicant has been assessed as
having multiple needs that fall within Band A, where an applicant is terminally
ill, is already in Band A and, in the opinion of a qualified medical practitioner,
is likely to have less than 12 months to live, or where the applicant’s home is
to be demolished under one of the council’s or partner organisation’s
redevelopment schemes. An applicant with emergency housing status who
bids for a home will be considered as a priority above all other applicants in
any other band.
5.10

Direct Lets

5.10.1 Most properties will be advertised
through
the Home-Link scheme.
Page
159
However, in certain circumstances some properties may be let directly to
29

applicants and these properties will be let outside of the allocation
scheme. Where an applicant is identified as requiring a direct let the case
will be referred to a senior officer for approval. The list below gives some
examples of where this may happen.
a) Where the Council has accepted a main homelessness duty towards a
household but the household has not found suitable accommodation
during a period of choice through the Home-Link scheme.
b) Where the Council has accepted a s189 (b) relief duty towards a
household but the household has not found suitable accommodation
during a period of choice through the Home-Link scheme.
c) Where an applicant and their household require a specific size,
type or adapted property and the applicant has not been able to
find suitable accommodation through the Home-Link scheme.
d) Where an existing social housing tenant is required to move to make
the best use of stock, including where their home is to be demolished,
and they have not been successful in finding a suitable property
through the Home-Link scheme.
e) Where the applicant has emergency housing status.
f) Use and occupation cases.
g) Where an applicant in Band A has refused 3 reasonable offers or
made little or no effort to bid.
5.10.2 Information as to which properties have been allocated though direct lets
will be made available through the Home-Link feedback information.
5.10.3 Direct lets will be made based on a suitable property becoming available.
Where a property becomes available that is suitable for more than one
applicant with a direct let status, the date applicants were awarded a direct
let status will be used as a deciding factor in deciding to whom the property
will be let.
5.11

Direct lets to homeless applicants

5.11.1 Homeless applicants who are owed a main homelessness duty by the
Council (under s.193 (2) of the Housing Act 1996, as amended) will be
placed in Band A and will be able to bid for properties through the HomeLink scheme. Their date in band will be the date they originally applied to
the Council as homeless.
5.11.2 Where homeless applicants in Band A have not been offered a tenancy
through the bidding process at the point at which the Council has accepted
the main homelessness duty, the council reserves the right to make a direct
let of a property, either in the social or private rented sector.
5.11.4 Where a homeless applicant is to be allocated a property through the direct
let process the Council has responsibility for determining the suitability of
any allocation. They will do this by assessing the household’s particular
needs and circumstances within the context of the general housing
conditions in the area.
5.11.5 Where a homeless applicant is offered accommodation through a direct let,
but does not feel that this offer is suitable; they have the right to request a

Page 160
30

review of the decision that the offer is suitable. For details of the review
process (see Chapter 6).
5.11.6 As the property does not have to remain available during the review of the
suitability and reasonableness of a direct let, homeless applicants are
advised to accept and move to the accommodation pending the decision on
review. If the review outcome is unsuccessful for the applicant they will still
have accommodation to live in whilst they consider their further options.
5.11.7 If a homeless applicant refuses a direct let and it is then deemed suitable at
review, the main homelessness duty will come to an end. They will also have
to vacate any temporary accommodation that is being provided.
5.11.8 If, on reviewing an applicant’s refusal of a direct let, the property offered is
considered to be unreasonable or unsuitable, the duty under s.193 (2) will
continue and the applicant will be made a further offer of suitable
accommodation.
5.12

Applicants who require a specific size, type or adapted property.

5.12.1 Where an applicant requires a specific size, type or adapted property, they
will be placed in the appropriate housing needs band, but may be offered
a direct let if the Council have a shortage of suitable properties. For
example:
a) An applicant requires a very large property to accommodate their household.
b) An applicant requires a property of a specific type in a specific area
of the district.
c) An applicant requires a property with specific adaptations and such a
property becomes available.
d) Where an applicant is willing to move to release a property larger than
required to meet their housing needs.
5.13

Housing for older people (also known as sheltered housing)

5.13.1 Housing for older people will be advertised through the Home-Link scheme.
Housing for older people is generally available to applicants over 60 years of
age but the age limit can be lower on some properties and it will be clearly
shown in the advert. Prior to an offer of a tenancy, applicants will be subject
to an assessment by the landlord of the property to establish their support
needs and suitability to living in housing for older people.
5.14

Extra care properties

5.14.1 Extra care properties are for older people who need the additional support
services that are provided. Extra care properties are not often advertised
through Home-Link. Where they are advertised, applicants who bid will be
assessed based on their care needs by a specialist panel.
5.15

Refusals of direct let

5.15.1 Where an applicant (other than a person owed the main homelessness duty)
refuses a reasonable offer of a direct let a senior officer will review the reasons
for the refusal and the applicant
may 161
lose any housing priority they held,
Page
31

dependent on the reasons for the offer refusal. Applicants have the right to ask
for a review of this decision (see Chapter 6).
5.16

Local lettings plans

5.16.1 There may be circumstances where a Local Lettings Plan is used to help
prioritise applicants.
Local Lettings Plans are used across the Home-Link area. For example, to
help create balanced and sustainable communities, or to help mitigate any
housing management issues identified on specific schemes. They may also
be appropriate where local authorities provide rural exception sites to ensure
homes are prioritised to local people in perpetuity.
Some local lettings plans may ask for an applicant to have a local connection
to a specific parish or village. In those cases, the connection criteria will be
stipulated in the legal agreement for that development.
Where a Local Lettings Plan applies, it will be stated in the property details
when advertised. Applicants who apply for one of these properties but do not
meet the local letting criteria will find that their Home-Link bid will be given a
lower priority than an applicant who does meet the criteria for that property.
Details of any Local Lettings Plans will be available from the local authority in
whose area the property is situated.

Page 162
32

Chapter 6
6.1

Reviews of decisions

6.1.1 The Council will carry out reviews of assessment decisions as required.
6.1.2 Examples of the types of decisions that may be reviewed include:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

Multiple need in band
Emergency housing status
Moving people up a band or down a band
Priority assessments, in complex cases.
Housing people in different accommodation to designated need size
Low priority decisions
Direct lets
Being restricted from bidding

The above list is not exhaustive.
6.2

Statutory reviews

6.2.1 An applicant has the right to request a review of certain decisions made
under Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended). These are:
a) Decisions about the facts of the applicant’s case which are likely to
be, or have been, taken into account in considering whether to
accept onto the housing register or to allocate housing
accommodation to the applicant
b) Lack of any reasonable preference based on previous behaviour
s167 (2C) Housing Act 1996 (as amended)
c) Ineligibility for an allocation based on immigration status s160ZA (9)
d) Decisions that an applicant does not qualify for entry on to the
housing register (see sections 3.3 to 3.5)
6.2.2 Decision letters issued in respect of housing applications will advise the
applicant of their right to request a review and provide appropriate guidance
on how to do this. An applicant can obtain further details of the review
procedure from the Council.
6.2.3 A request for a review of a decision can be made in writing or verbally to a
member of staff at the Council. The request should be made within 21 days
following the notification of the decision. Reviews will normally be considered
within 56 days of the request being received but may be completed sooner.
The applicant will receive a written response outlining the result of the review.
6.2.4 An applicant will only be entitled to one internal review. If an applicant is still
unhappy following the review of a decision, they can make a complaint
through the Council’s complaints procedure. If they continue to be
dissatisfied after the Council complaints procedure is concluded, they can
contact the Local Government Ombudsman (see s.6.4) or seek to challenge
the decision through a judicial review.

Page 163
33

6.2.5 Statutory reviews will be undertaken by a designated officer who was not
involved in the original decision, and who is senior to the original decisionmaking officer.
6.3

Homeless reviews

6.3.1 Homeless applicants have the right to request a review of certain decisions
made by the Council in respect of their homeless application. Within the
context of the Council’s lettings policy this includes the decision to bring to an
end the main homelessness duty by making a suitable offer of permanent
accommodation through the housing register through the direct let process or
in the private rented sector (see s.5.11).
6.3.2 If an applicant wishes to ask for the review of the Council’s decision following
a homeless application they must request this within 21 days of the date of the
decision letter.
6.3.3 If an applicant wishes to request a review of the reasonableness of an
offer or the suitability of the property, this must be made within 21 days of
notification of a decision to make the offer. Late review requests can be
considered under exceptional circumstances at the discretion of the
council.
6.3.4 Applicants who request reviews of decisions about suitability of
accommodation will be advised to accept and move into accommodation
pending the outcome of their review request. If the review goes in their favour
alternative accommodation will be provided as quickly as possible. However,
if the reasonableness and suitability of the offer is upheld the applicant will
still have accommodation to live in whilst they consider their further options.
6.3.5 The applicant has the right of appeal to the county court if they are
dissatisfied with the decision on a review.
6.4

The Local Government Ombudsman

6.4.1 The Local Government Ombudsman investigates complaints of injustice
arising from maladministration by local authorities and other bodies. They
can be asked to investigate complaints about most council matters including
housing.
6.4.2 If an applicant is not satisfied with the action the council has taken, and has
exhausted the council’s own complaints procedure, they can send a written
complaint to the ombudsman.
6.4.3 The Local Government Ombudsman can be contacted at:
Local Government Ombudsman
PO Box 4771 53-55 Butts Road
Coventry
CV4 0EH
Tel: 0300 061 01614
Website: www.lgo.org.uk

Page 164
34

If an applicant wishes to make a complaint against a housing
association, they should contact:
The Housing Ombudsman Service
PO Box 152
Liverpool
L33 7WQ
Tel: 0300 111 3000
Website: www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk

Page 165
35

Chapter 7
7.1

Letting of accommodation

7.1.1 Properties will be advertised through the Home-Link scheme. The advertising
will be carried out on a regular basis and for specific periods of time, known
as advertising cycles.
7.2

Labelling property adverts

7.2.1 All adverts will include a description of the property and any other relevant
information, for example rent charge, property size, length and type of
tenancy, local facilities, disabled adaptations or if the property is housing for
older people. The property will be labelled to show who is able to express an
interest in it (known as bidding), for example, where a local connection is
required, or if there is an age restriction on the property.
7.2.2 At least 1% of adverts will offer preference to social housing tenants needing
to move for employment reasons (who would otherwise suffer hardship) under
the Right to Move scheme.
7.2.3 Applicants should check the information contained in the property advert
labelling to see if they qualify to be considered for the property.
7.3

Bedroom requirements

7.3.1 Bedroom requirements will generally be determined in line with the Local
Housing Allowance (LHA) regulations (see s.5.4).
7.3.2 Landlords may choose to allow the under-occupation of certain properties
including those that they advertise. The property advert will explain this on
those properties the landlord is willing to under-occupy. Where a landlord is
willing to allow under-occupation, this will generally be by allowing an
applicant to be considered for one bedroom more than their assessed Local
Housing Allowance (LHA) entitlement (for example allowing applicants with
an assessed two bedroom LHA need to be considered for a 3-bedroom
property). All households bidding for these properties and meeting the
labelling criteria will be considered in line with the shortlisting criteria
contained in 7.4.1 below.
7.3.3 Where a landlord is willing to allow under-occupation an affordability
assessment will be completed to ensure that the applicant being considered
for the property is able to meet rent payments and household utility bills. If the
applicant is assessed as being unable to afford the rent payments and
household utility bills the landlord may bypass them on the shortlist.
7.4

Shortlisting

7.4.1 After the end of an advertising cycle a shortlist of applicants bidding for the
property and meeting the labelling criteria will be produced. Applicants will be
ranked in order of their priority band with Band A above Band B, Band B
above Band C, and Band C above Band D. Where more than one applicant in
Page
the same priority band appears
on 166
the shortlist they will be ranked in date
36

order as determined by their date in band (see 2.3). In circumstances where
there is more than one applicant in the same band with the same date in
band, the applicant with the earliest registration date will appear higher on the
shortlist. If there is more than one applicant with the same band, date in band
and registration date an officer will make an allocation decision based on the
best use of the housing stock and needs of the applicants.
7.4.2 Preference during shortlisting will be given to applicants within a band who
have a proven connection to the local area.
7.4.3 When a shortlist of applicants is completed the landlord of the available
property may offer an accompanied viewing of the property to a group of the
highest priority applicants. This is to ensure that if the applicant who tops the
shortlist decides not to take the tenancy, the property can be quickly offered
to the next person on the shortlist.
7.4.4 After viewing the property the applicant at the top of the shortlist will be given
24 hours to accept or refuse the offer. If an applicant is offered a tenancy
(verbally or in writing) and does not reply to accept that offer within the
deadline given, the landlord will take this as a refusal of the offer. If the offer
is refused the next person on the shortlist will be offered the property. The
landlord will work down the shortlist in order.
7.4.5 In exceptional circumstances an officer may make a decision to bypass an
applicant on a shortlist, for example, if, in doing so, the offer could put a
person at risk of any harm. Any such decisions will be explained fully to the
applicant in writing by the landlord making the decision. This is known as a
‘sensitive let’.
.
7.5
Formal offer of the property
7.5.1 Once the applicant has confirmed their acceptance of the tenancy the landlord
of the property will write to confirm the formal offer of the tenancy. The HomeLink system will then not allow that applicant to be considered for any further
properties and once the tenancy starts their housing register application will be
cancelled.
7.5.2 Once the property is ready to let the landlord of the property will
complete the tenancy sign up.
7.6

Withdrawal of offers

7.6.1 In exceptional circumstances an offer of a property may be withdrawn, for example:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

Where there has been a change in the applicants’ circumstances
Where the successful applicant has rent arrears or other housing
related debts that had previously not come to light
Following verification the applicant is not eligible for the property
Where an error has been made in the advertising criteria
Where an offer of accommodation could put a person at risk of any
harm
Where the property is no longer available to let

Page 167
37

7.7

Refusing an offer of accommodation

7.7.1 Usually, if an applicant refuses an offer of accommodation made through
Home-Link, they will remain in their housing needs band. If an applicant
unreasonably refuses three or more offers of a property made through HomeLink or has made little or no attempt to bid for accommodation, an officer may
contact the applicant to offer support and assistance and verify their
circumstances. The applicant may be moved into a lower priority band or be
unable to bid for a specified period not exceeding 6 months.
7.8

Allocations to staff, council members or their family members

7.8.1 Members of staff, their close family and elected councillors who require
housing with the Council may apply for housing in the same way as other
applicants. Their status should be disclosed on the application form at the
time of applying.
7.8.2 If an applicant who is a member of staff, elected councillor or a member of
their direct family, makes a successful bid for a property the senior officer
will be informed and must approve the letting prior to the formal offer being
made.
7.9

Tenancy management outside the scope of the lettings policy

7.9.1 The following tenancy management areas are not included as part of this
lettings policy as they are not included within part 6 of the Housing Act 1996
(as amended):
a) Mutual exchanges
b) Introductory/starter tenancies converted to secure/assured tenancies
c) Where a secure/assured tenancy of a property is assigned by way of
succession to the same property
d) Where a secure/assured tenancy is assigned to someone who would be
qualified to succeed to that tenancy if the secure/assured tenant died
immediately before the assignment
e) Where court orders are made under one of the following:
i. Section 24 of the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973
ii.
Section 17 (1) of the Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1984
iii.
Paragraph 1 of schedule 1 to the Children Act 1989
f) Managed reciprocals

Page 168
38

Chapter 8
Confidentiality and access to information
8.1

Applicants’ rights to information

8.1.1 Applicants have the right to request such general information as will enable
them to assess:
a) How their application is likely to be treated under the lettings policy
(including whether they are likely to be regarded as a member of a
group of people who are to be given preference by this policy, (see
Chapter 3)
b) Whether housing accommodation appropriate to their needs is
likely to be made available to them.
8.1.2 Applicants have the right to request information held about their application
which is likely to be, or has been, taken into account when considering
whether to allocate them housing.
8.2

Data protection

8.2.1 When an applicant applies to the Home-Link scheme the partner
organisations will only ask for information that they need to assess their
eligibility and housing needs. The partner organisations will collect and keep
data in accordance with the council’s guidelines on handling personal,
sensitive personal or special categories of personal data. You can find out
how the Council hold and use information about you on the Council’s website.
8.2.2 These guidelines are in accordance with the national regulations which
cover both electronic and manual records and the govern everything we do
with the data, including collecting, storing, using and disposing of it.
8.2.3 Personal, sensitive personal or special categories of personal data held
about applicants will not be disclosed to third parties apart from:
a) Where the individual who is the subject of the confidential
information has consented to the disclosure
b) Where disclosure is made in accordance with an information sharing
protocol that complies with the ICO’s current data sharing code of
practice
c) Where the council or a partner organisation is required by law to
make such disclosures
8.3

Requesting information

8.3.1 Applicants are able to request copies of the information held regarding their
application. Please note that we cannot provide you with personal
information about other people if doing so will breach the regulations.

Page 169
39

Appendix 1
Home-Link Partner Organisation List
Local Authority

LSVT Landlord

Cambridge City Council
Mandela House
4 Regent Street
Cambridge
CB2 1BY
Email: cbl@cambridge.gov.uk
Website: www.cambridge.gov.uk
South Cambridgeshire District Council
South Cambridgeshire Hall
Cambourne Business Park
Cambourne
Cambridge
CB23 6EA
Email: cbl@scambs.gov.uk
Website: www.scambs.gov.uk
East Cambridgeshire District Council
The Grange
Nutholt Lane
Ely
Cambs
CB7 4PL
Email:
customerservices@eastcambs.gov.uk
Website: www.eastcambs.gov.uk

Sanctuary Housing
Avro House
49 Lancaster Way Business Park
Ely
Cambs
CB6 3NW
Email:
east-lettings@sanctuary-housing.co.uk
Website: www.sanctuary-housing.co.uk

Huntingdonshire District Council
Pathfinder House
St Mary's Street
Huntingdon
Cambridgeshire
PE29 3TN
Email: housingservices@huntsdc.gov.uk
Website: www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk

Chorus Homes
Brook House
Ouse Walk
Huntingdon
Cambridgeshire
PE29 3QW
Email: info@chorushomesgroup.co.uk
Website: www.chorushomesgroup.co.uk

Fenland District Council
Fenland Hall
County Road
March
Cambridgeshire
PE15 8NQ
Email:
info@fenland.gov.uk
Website: www.fenland.gov.uk

Clarion Housing
Reed House
Peachman Way
Broadland Business Park
Norwich
NR7 0WF
Email:
March-Home-Link@myclarionhousing.com
Website: www.myclarionhousing.com

Page 170

40

Local Authority

LSVT Landlord

West Suffolk Council
West Suffolk House
Western Way
Bury St Edmunds
Suffolk
IP33 3YU
Email: customer.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Website: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk

Flagship Housing Group
31 King Street
Norwich
Norfolk
NR1 1PD
Email: info@flagship-housing.co.uk
Website: www.flagship-housing.co.uk

Havebury Housing Partnership
Havebury House
Western Way
Bury St. Edmunds
Suffolk
IP33 3SP
Email: office@havebury.com
Website: www.havebury.com

Page 171
41

Appendix 2
Glossary of Terms
Adapted properties – a property that has been adapted for an applicant with
disabilities.
Advertising cycle – how often properties are advertised and available to make a bid
on.
Advertised – properties that are advertised and are available for applicants to bid for
through Home-Link.
Age restrictions – where a property is labelled, as only being available to
applicants of a certain age.
Application number – a unique housing register number generated by the
computer system.
Bedroom eligibility – how many bedrooms a household is assessed as needing.
Bid – the process used by applicants in registering an interest in an available
property.
Choice based lettings (CBL) – a method of allocating social and affordable homes
which have become available for letting by openly advertising them, and allowing
applicants to bid for these.
Customer/applicant – is either a tenant of a partner organisation (including those
in temporary accommodation) or a housing applicant on the Home-Link housing
register.
Date of registration – the date an application form is registered with a partner
organisation.
Date in band – the date an application is placed in a housing needs band and used
as the applicable date when shortlisting.
Decision making organisation – the organisation that made a decision about a
housing or homeless application.
Direct let – a property that is offered directly to an applicant, without them
having to bid.
Domestic abuse – is threatening behaviour, violence or abuse (physical,
psychological, sexual, financial or emotional) by a partner, former partner or a
family member.
Housing options – looking at the number of ways in which an applicant or
customer might be assisted and supported to find a solution to their housing

Page 172
42

needs. Housing options may include private rented accommodation, mutual
exchange, or even a help to buy product.
Housing register – a list of those requesting, eligible and qualifying for housing.
Housing related debts – are defined as recoverable current rent arrears, former
tenant arrears, outstanding re-chargeable repairs, current and former housing
related service charge arrears and court costs. They may also include Council
Tax debts or Housing Benefit overpayments.
Joint application – where more than one applicant applies to join the housing
register on one application form.
Labelling properties – describing who is eligible to bid for a property and if there
will be a preference applied.
Local Connection – The connection an applicant has to a specific area.
Local elected Councillors– each local authority is governed by a group of elected
councillors also known as members.
LSVT landlord – Large Scale Voluntary Transfer, where a local authority has
sold its housing stock to a Registered Provider
Mutual exchange – a scheme which allows two social housing tenants to swap their
homes.
Partner organisations – all the councils that are partners to the Home-Link scheme.
Reasonable Preference – The phrase used in the Housing Act to describe those
types of housing need that should be given a priority in a local allocations policy.
Registered Providers – also known as housing associations. These are social
landlords who also provide social and affordable rented homes for which
applicants/customers can bid for through the Home-Link scheme.
Regular Forces – Means the Royal Navy, the Royal Marines, Her Majesty’s regular
army or the Royal Air Force
Reserve Forces – Means the Royal Fleet Reserve, the Royal Naval Reserve, the
Royal Marines Reserve, the Army Reserve, the Regular Reserves, the Royal Air
Force Reserve or the Royal Auxiliary Air Force
Section 193C (4) – The Main Housing Duty does not apply, but the authority will still
have a duty to ensure that accommodation is available for occupation by the
applicant.
Transferring tenant – an applicant who is currently a tenant of a local authority or
registered provider and who wishes to move.

Page 173
43

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 16

Report to:

Cabinet

Lead Cabinet Member:

Leader of the Council
Lead Member for Finance

Lead Officer:

Peter Campbell, Head of Housing
Jeff Membery, Head of Transformation

22 March 2021

South Cambs Limited trading as Ermine Street Housing:
Review of Business Plan 2020/2021 to 2029/2030

Executive Summary
1. The Ermine Street Housing Business Plan is refreshed annually to include the latest
portfolio details, previous year performance and the amended financial
assumptions.
2. The Business Plan has been scrutinised and agreed by the Company’s Board of
Directors and is shared with Cabinet for information.

Key Decision
3. No
4. This is not a key decision because the Ermine Street Housing Business Plan is
included on the agenda for information only and does not directly result in the
authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are,
significant having regard to the Council’s budgets.

Recommendations
5. Cabinet is requested to consider the report and, if satisfied, to:
(a)

Receive the Ermine Street Business Plan for the period 2020/2021
to 2029/2030 for information.

Page 175

Reasons for Recommendations
6. The Council, as owner of the Company and sole shareholder, has an interest in
reviewing the Business Plan to ensure that (i) the Company is on target to
achieve its objectives, (ii) to consider the past years performance, and (ii)
acknowledge the changes in the financial assumptions and the financial return to
the Council as a result of the business activity.
7. The original objective of the Company was to deliver 500 homes over the 5-year
period 2016/2017 to 2020/2021 and the expectation is that this will be achieved.
8. In February 2020, it was proposed to appoint an independent consultant to
consider the future direction of the Company together with several options. The
report was completed in July 2020 and presented to Cabinet in September 2020.
The report comprehensively presented a range of options available to the
Council.
9. Cabinet opted to continue with the expansion programme until the 500-property
target has been accomplished which is anticipated to be in the calendar year
ending 2021.

Details
Background
10. In November 2012, the Council set up a subsidiary housing company registered
as South Cambs Limited (SCL). SCL has been trading under the name Ermine
Street Housing (ESH) since 2014 and continues to operate as an independent
property company wholly owned by the Council. The principal activities of the
Company are to manage both purchased and leased properties for the purpose of
residential lettings. The Company aims to provide a quality service in this sector.
11. The Council approved a Business Plan for ESH in November 2015 and, in line
with the original objectives, capital allocations of up to £100 million have been
made since 2016/2017 to enable the Company to increase the property portfolio
over a 5 year period, until 500 homes are owned and rented by the Company on
assured short-hold tenancies. The current property portfolio is geographically
located in Cambridgeshire, Suffolk, Northamptonshire, Leicestershire, Leeds and
Nottinghamshire.
12. It was initially assumed that the acquisition profile would be relatively evenly
spread across the 5 years but, in the earlier years of business expansion, the
Company was not able to acquire as many as 100 homes per annum. Cabinet, at
its meeting held on 7 November 2018, considered and endorsed the amendment
to the Company Business Plan and Council, at its meeting 29 November 2018,
approved the re-phasing of the capital programme to ensure that financial
resources were aligned to realistic business expansion timescales for achieving
the target of 500 homes in the timescales envisaged by Cabinet and Council in
November 2015.

Page 176

13. The Company now has approaching 460 properties. There was an expectation

that the original business plan objective would be achieved by the target date of
31 March 2021. However, there have been challenges during the pandemic and
the target date has been put back to December 2021. Following the independent
review and the decision to continue with the expansion until 500 homes are
acquired, the Council will need to approve further borrowing from 1 April 2021.
14. Any additional borrowing to facilitate expansion beyond the 500 target will be
subject to Council approving a business case and a refreshed Business Plan.
Refreshed Business Plan 2020/2021 to 2029/2030
15. The Company’s Board of Directors review and refresh the Business Plan annually
to reflect changes in the composition of the portfolio, the gross rental yields
achieved and the latest market values of the portfolio.
16. The Business Plan also considers the performance of the Company in relation to
the previous year’s trading period, updates the financial assumptions and revises
key risks and key business sensitivities.
17. The Business Plan, attached at Appendix A, is used by the Company’s Board of
Directors to challenge, and scrutinise the Company’s trading activities. It is now
shared to enable the Cabinet to consider the updated version.
18. The Company is on target to achieve the target of 500 homes during 2021 following
the Council decision to accept the findings of the independent options appraisal.
The Company will continue to work closely with council colleagues to explore
further opportunities beyond 2021-2022.

Implications
19. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk,
equality and diversity, climate change, and any other key issues, the following
implications have been considered: -

Financial
20. Ermine Street Housing acquires property on the open market, borrowing at
market interest rates via South Cambridgeshire District Council. Ermine Street
Housing then lets the property at market rents to facilitate a reasonable pay back
of the investment.
21. In February 2018 the Secretary of State issued new guidance on Local
Government Investments (the Guidance), which widened the definition of an
investment to include all the financial assets of a local authority as well as other

Page 177

non-financial assets held primarily or partially to generate a profit. This wider
definition includes investment property portfolios as well as loans made to wholly
owned companies or associates, joint ventures or third parties. The Guidance
applies for financial years commencing on or after 1 April 2018.

Legal
21 There are no significant direct legal implications.
Staffing
22 There are no significant direct staffing implications.
Risks/Opportunities
23 The Ermine Street Housing risk register has been thoroughly reviewed,
updated, and uploaded onto the Council’s risk management system. The two
key risks are the pandemic which is having an impact on rent arrears and
interest rates which are currently relatively stable.
24 The SDLT (stamp duty) holiday has provided the Company the opportunity to
pay marginally less SDLT and looks likely to continue.
Equality and Diversity
25 There are no significant equality and diversity implications.
Climate Change
26 Ermine Street Housing is in partnership with Green Energy Switch to take
advantage of the Green Homes Grants to provide energy efficient measures
across the portfolio, such as additional insulation, reducing energy costs for
the tenants, thereby reducing carbon emissions.

Health & Wellbeing
27 There are no significant implications for health and wellbeing.
Consultation responses
28 Consultation was not required.

Page 178

Alignment with Council Priority Areas
Growing local businesses and economies
29 The Company employs a range of local businesses to undertake repairs and
maintenance, cleaning, and lettings and management.
Housing that is truly affordable for everyone to live in

30 Company offers some sub-market rent accommodation and works with Shire

Homes Ltd to provide temporary accommodation for homeless people and
families.
Being green to our core

31 The Company is working with Green Energy Switch to take advantage of the
government’s Green Homes Grants to provide additional insulation in homes
in its portfolio.
A modern and caring Council

32 The business activities of the Company generate income for the Council to
invest in services for local people.

Background Papers
Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to
Information)
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members
of the
public, they must be available for inspection:
(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council;
(b) on the Council’s website; and
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation

15, on payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person
seeking to inspect the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire
District Council.

Page 179

The following documents are relevant to this report:


Business Case for Ermine Street Housing: Report to Cabinet – 12 November
2015



Business Case for Ermine Street Housing: Report to Council – 26 November
2015



Ermine Street Housing – Re-phasing of Lending: Report to Cabinet – 7
November 2018



Ermine Street Housing – Re-phasing of Lending: Report to Council – 29
November 2018



South Cambs Limited trading as Ermine Street Housing: Review of Business
Direction- 2 September 2020

Appendices
Appendix A: Ermine Street Housing Business Plan Update (exempt – not for
publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972).

Report Author:
Duncan Vessey – Head of Ermine Street Housing
Telephone: (01954) 713139

Page 180

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 181

This page is left blank intentionally.

Agenda Item 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 251

This page is left blank intentionally.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 255

This page is left blank intentionally.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 257

This page is left blank intentionally.

